
In-person participation by the public will be permitted. In addition, remote public 
participation is available in the following ways: 

1. Livestream online at www.atwater.org (Please be advised that there is a
broadcasting delay. If you would like to participate in public comment, please use
the option below).

2. Submit a written public comment prior to the meeting: Public comments submitted
to planning@atwater.org by 4:00 p.m. on the day of the meeting will be distributed
to the Planning Commission and made part of the official minutes but will not be
read out loud during the meeting.

Assistance will be provided to those requiring accommodations for disabilities in 
compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990. Persons requesting 
accommodation should contact the City in advance of the meeting, and as soon as 
possible, at (209) 812-1031. 

CITY OF ATWATER 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

AGENDA 
Council Chambers 
750 Bellevue Road 
Atwater, CA 95301 

August 21, 2024 

CALL TO ORDER:      6:00 PM 

INVOCATION:  

Invocation by Police Chaplain McClellan 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE TO THE FLAG:  

ROLL CALL:   

Kadach____, Mokha____, Sanchez-Garcia ____, Sanders____, Borgwardt____ 

SUBSEQUENT NEED ITEMS: (The Planning Secretary shall announce any requests for items 
requiring immediate action subsequent to the posting of the agenda. Subsequent need items require a two-
thirds vote of the members of the Commission present at the meeting.) 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA AS POSTED OR AS AMENDED: (This is the time for the 
Commission to remove items from the agenda or to change the order of the agenda.) 

http://www.atwater.org/
mailto:planning@atwater.org


Planning Commission Agenda for Meeting of August 21, 2024     Page 2 

Staff’s Recommendation: Motion to approve agenda as posted or as amended. 

MINUTES:  

1. July 17, 2024 – Regular Meeting

Staff’s Recommendation:  Approval of minutes as listed. 

PETITIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS:  

2. Public hearing to consider approving a request from Old Town Atwater
for a Fall Festival and Car Show on September 21, 2024 from 6:00am-
5:00pm with temporary road closures.

Staff’s Recommendation: Approval of request from Old Town Atwater for 
a Fall Festival and Car Show on September 21, 2024 from 6:00am-5:00pm 
with temporary road closures (see attached map). 

PUBLIC HEARINGS: 

3. Public Hearing to recommend that the City Council of the City of
Atwater adopt an Initial Study and Mitigated Negative Declaration in 
accordance with California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) for the 
project; and approve Vesting Tentative Subdivision Map No. 22-23-
0100 for a site located East of Buhach Rd and immediately North and 
adjacent to Meadow View Estates No. 1, Atwater (APN 005-070-052).
(Applicant: Silver Creek Crossing, LLC)

Staff’s Recommendation: Open the public hearing and receive any 
testimony given;  

Close the public hearing; 

Adopt Resolution No. 0216-22 recommending that the City Council of the 
City of Atwater adopt an Initial Study and Mitigated Negative Declaration in 
accordance with California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) for the 
project; and approve Vesting Tentative Subdivision Map No. 22-23-0100 for 
a site located East of Buhach Rd and immediately North and adjacent 
to Meadow View Estates No. 1, Atwater (APN 005-070-052). 

4. Public Hearing to consider adopting a resolution approving
Conditional Use Permit No. 24-17-0100 and Site Plan No. 24-17-0200,
for a mobile food vendor located at 860 Applegate Rd, Atwater (APN
003-170-028).
(Applicant: Carlos Maciel)

Staff’s Recommendation: Open the public hearing and receive any 
testimony given; 



Planning Commission Agenda for Meeting of August 21, 2024             Page 3 

Close the public hearing; 
 
Adopt Resolution No. 0250-24 approving Conditional Use Permit No. 
24-17-0100 and Site Plan No. 24-17-0200, for a mobile food vendor 
located at 860 Applegate Rd, Atwater (APN 003-170-028). 

 
5. Public Hearing to consider adopting a resolution approving 

Conditional Use Permit No. 24-19-0100 and Site Plan No. 24-19-0200, 
for a mobile food vendor located at 1100 Shaffer Rd, Atwater (APN 004-
110-005). 
(Applicant: Vicente Lupian-Manzo) 
 

Staff’s Recommendation: Open the public hearing and receive any 
testimony given;  
  
Close the public hearing; 
 
Adopt Resolution No. 0252-24 approving Conditional Use Permit No. 
24-19-0100 and Site Plan No. 24-19-0200, for a mobile food vendor 
located at 1100 Shaffer Rd, Atwater (APN 004-110-005). 
 

6. Public Hearing to consider adopting a resolution recommending that 
the City Council of the City of Atwater approve Preferred Alternative 
Alignment No. 3 for the Bellevue Rehabilitation/Realignment Project. 
 

Staff’s Recommendation: Open the public hearing and receive any 
testimony given;  
  
Close the public hearing; 
 
Adopt Resolution No. 0253-24 recommending that the City Council 
of the City of Atwater approve Preferred Alternative Alignment No. 3 
for the Bellevue Rehabilitation/Realignment Project. 
 

7. Public Hearing to consider adopting a resolution approving Time Extension 
Request No. 24-21-0100 regarding previously approved Conditional Use 
Permit No. 21-11-0100 and Site Plan No. 21-11-0200 for a mini storage facility 
located at APN: 001-146-013 & 017 West of 1619 Sycamore Avenue. 
(Applicant: Jatinder Randhawa) 
 

Staff’s Recommendation: Open the public hearing and receive any 
testimony given;  
  
Close the public hearing; 
 
Adopt Resolution No. 0254-24 approving Time Extension Request No. 24-
21-0100 regarding previously approved Conditional Use Permit No. 21-11-



Planning Commission Agenda for Meeting of August 21, 2024             Page 4 

0100 and Site Plan No. 21-11-0200 for a mini storage facility located at 
APN: 001-146-013 & 017 West of 1619 Sycamore Avenue. 
 

REPORTS AND PRESENTATION FROM STAFF:  
 

8. Deputy City Manager / Community Development Director Verbal Updates 
 
COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC:  

COMMISSIONER MATTERS: 
 
ADJOURNMENT: 
 
CERTIFICATION: 
 
I, Kayla Rashad, Planning Commission Recording Secretary, do hereby certify that a copy 
of the foregoing Agenda was posted at City Hall a minimum of 72 hours prior to the 
meeting. 
 

Kayla Rashad 
__________________________________ 
Kayla Rashad,  
Planning Commission Recording Secretary  
 
 
SB 343 NOTICE 
In accordance with California Government Code Section 54957.5, any writing or document that is a public 
record, relates to an open session agenda item and is distributed less than 72 hours prior to a regular 
meeting will be made available for public inspection in the Community Development Department at City 
Hall during normal business hours at 750 Bellevue Road. 

  
If, however, the document or writing is not distributed until the regular meeting to which it relates, then the 
document or writing will be made available to the public at the location of the meeting, as listed on this 
agenda at 750 Bellevue Road. 

 
In compliance with the Federal Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, upon request, the 
agenda can be provided in an alternative format to accommodate special needs.  If you 
require special accommodations to participate in a Planning Commission meeting due to 
a disability, please contact the Planning Commission Secretary a minimum of three (3) 
business days in advance of the meeting at planning@atwater.org or  (209) 812-1031. You 
may also send the request by email to  

NOTICE TO THE PUBLIC 
 

At this time any person may comment on any item which is not on the agenda. You may state your name and 
address for the record; however, it is not required. Action will not be taken on an item that is not on the agenda. If 
it requires action, it will be referred to staff and/or placed on a future agenda. Please limit comments to a maximum 
of three (3) minutes. 
 

 

mailto:planning@atwater.org


 
CITY OF ATWATER 

 
 

 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

 
ACTION MINUTES 

 
July 17, 2024 

 
 
REGULAR SESSION: (Council Chambers) 
 
The Planning Commission of the City of Atwater met in Regular Session 
this date at 6:00 PM in the City Council Chambers located at the Atwater 
Civic Center, 750 Bellevue Road, Atwater, California;  
 
INVOCATION:  
 
Invocation by Chaplain McClellan 
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE TO THE FLAG: 
 
The Pledge of Allegiance was led by Vice Chair Sanchez-Garcia 
 
ROLL CALL:   
 
Present:  Planning Commission Members Kadach, Mokha, Sanchez-

Garcia, and Sanders. 
Absent: Chair Borgwardt 
Staff Present: Chief Salvador, City Manager Hoem, Deputy City Manager 

Thompson, Lieutenant Novetzke, Recording Secretary Rashad . 
 
SUBSEQUENT NEED ITEMS:   
 
None 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA AS POSTED OR AS AMENDED: 



MOTION: Planning Commission Member Mokha moved to approve the agenda. The 
motion was seconded by Planning Commission Member Sanders and the vote was: 
Ayes: Planning Commission Members Mokha, Sanders, Kadach and Sanchez-
Garcia; Noes: None; Absent: Chair Borgwardt. The motion passed. 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES:  
 
a) June 20, 2024 – Regular Meeting 
 
MOTION: Planning Commission Member Kadach moved to approve the minutes. 
The motion was seconded by Planning Commission Member Mokha and the vote 
was: Ayes: Planning Commission Members Sanders, Kadach, Mokha, and 
Sanchez-Garcia; Noes: None; Absent: Chair Borgwardt. The motion passed. 
 
PETITIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS:  
 
Public hearing to consider approving a request from Atwater H.S. for a homecoming 
parade and temporary road closure.  
 
Deputy City Manager Thompson provided background on this project. 
 
Vice Chair Sanchez-Garcia opened the public hearing. 
 
Applicant Nathan Braga spoke on the project. 
 
No one else came forward to speak. 
 
Vice Chair Sanchez-Garcia closed the public hearing. 
 
MOTION: Planning Commission Member Kadach moved to approve the request 
from the Atwater High School for a homecoming parade on September 13, 2024, at 
3:30pm with a temporary road closure. The motion was seconded by Planning 
Commission Member Sanders and the vote was: Ayes: Planning Commission 
Members Kadach, Mokha, Sanders, and Sanchez-Garcia; Noes: None; Absent: 
Chair Borgwardt. The motion passed. 

PUBLIC HEARINGS: 
 
Public hearing to recommend that the City Council of the City of Atwater adopt an Initial 
Study and Mitigated Negative Declaration in accordance with California Environmental 
Quality Act (CEQA) for the project; and approve a Tentative Parcel Map, General Plan 
Amendment, Zone Change, Variance and Site Plan located on the northwest corner of 
Sunset Drive and Matthew Drive, Atwater (APN 056-540-004). 
 
(Applicant: Apex Investment Group, LLC) 
 



Deputy City Manager Thompson provided background on this project. 
 
Vice Chair Sanchez-Garcia opened the public hearing. 
 
Adam Reed spoke on behalf of the applicant Moe Jawad regarding the project. 
 
No one else came forward to speak. 
 
Vice Chair Sanchez-Garcia closed the public hearing. 
 
MOTION: Planning Commission Member Sanders moved to approve the request 
from the Atwater High School for a homecoming parade on September 13, 2024, at 
3:30pm with a temporary road closure. The motion was seconded by Planning 
Commission Member Mokha, and the vote was: Ayes: Planning Commission 
Members Kadach, Mokha, Sanders, and Sanchez-Garcia; Noes: None; Absent: 
Chair Borgwardt. The motion passed. 

REPORTS AND PRESENTATIONS FROM STAFF:  
 
Deputy City Manager / Community Development Director Updates. 
 
Deputy City Manager Thompson introduced the new City Manager, Chris Hoem. 
 
COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC: 
 
Vice Chair Sanchez-Garcia opened the Public Comment. 
 
Notice to the public was read. 
 
No one else came forward to speak. 
 
Vice Chair Sanchez-Garcia closed the public comment. 

COMMISSIONER MATTERS: 

Planning Commission Member Mokha expressed his excitement for the project just 
approved under Resolution No. 0238-23. 

Planning Commission Member Sanders inquired about any new upcoming 
planning commission member trainings. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



ADJOURNMENT: 
 
Vice Chair Sanchez-Garcia adjourned the meeting at 6:25 PM. 
 
 
____________________________ 
Don Borgwardt, Chair 
 
By: Kayla Rashad 
Recording Secretary 
 















PLANNING COMMISSION 
AGENDA REPORT  

MEETING DATE: August 21, 2024 

TO:  Chair and Commissioners 

FROM: Greg Thompson, Deputy City Manager/Community 
Development Director 

SUBJECT: Recommending that the City Council of the City of Atwater 
adopt an Initial Study and Mitigated Negative Declaration in 
accordance with California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) 
for the project; and approve a Vesting Tentative Subdivision 
Map; located on the north side of Nebela Drive, approximately 
0.15 miles east of North Buhach Road, Atwater (APN 005-070-
052) 

RECOMMENDED COMMISSION ACTION: 

It is recommended that Planning Commission: 

1. Open the public hearing and receive any testimony given; and

2. Close the public hearing; and

3. Adopt Resolution No. 0216-22 recommending the City Council adopt an Initial 
Study and Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Project in accordance with 
California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) Guideline Section 15073; and 
approve Vesting Tentative Subdivision Map No. 22-23-0100 (APN: 005-070-052).

I. BACKGROUND:

The applicant has proposed a Vesting Tentative Subdivision Map to subdivide the existing 
15.13-acre parcel into 73 single-family residential lots. The project also includes the 
expansion of an existing storm water detention basin currently located within the Meadow 
View Estates Unit One, immediately south of the proposed project site. Physical 
development of the individual lots is not proposed at this time.  

PLANNING COMMISSION 

Donald Borgwardt, Chair 

Harold Kadach  Jagandeep Mokha 

Myra Sanchez-Garcia    Ileisha Sanders 



Agenda Report – Planning Commission Resolution 0216-22 Page 2 

Initial applications for the project were submitted in December of 2022.  The project 
required the preparation of a Mitigated Negative Declaration which was completed by J.B. 
Anderson in January of 2024. 

The City submitted the project for public review to the Office of Planning and Research 
on June 3, 2024.  During this review period, one comment was received from the 
Department of Toxic Substances and Control. Those comments and responses are 
detailed as part of the Environmental Review section of this report.  The comment period 
for the project closed on July 2, 2024. 

II. ANALYSIS:

Site Location and Description: 
The project site is located on the north side of Nebela Drive, approximately 0.15 miles 
east of North Buhach Road. The project site is currently shown as Assessor’s Parcel 
Number (APN) 005-070-052.  

The site consists of one (1) parcel and is currently zoned as Planned Development with 
a General Plan land use designation of Low Density Residential. The entire project site 
is presently undeveloped and does not include any structures. The proposed 
development would be accessed by two points off of Nebela Drive, Rondel Road and 
Nina Drive, along the south side of the development.  



Agenda Report – Planning Commission Resolution 0216-22 Page 3 

Zoning Consistency: 
The project is located within a Planned Development (PD 29) zone district.  The applicant 
has designed the project to be consistent with the existing Zoning.  Under the PD-29 
Zoning Designation, any and all land uses can be considered for development so long as 
they are consistent with the underlying General Plan Designation.  As a residential 
project, the density for this development is allowed 3.1 to 7.0 units per acre with parcel 
sizes ranging from 5,000 square feet to 11,000 square feet. The current design is 
consistent with these parameters at 4.86 units per acre. 

General Plan Consistency: 
The General Plan Land Use designation is Low Density Residential.  The applicant has 
designed the project to be consistent with the existing General Plan Land Use 
Designation.  As such, no plan amendment is required to allow the proposed use.  



Agenda Report – Planning Commission Resolution 0216-22 Page 4 

Housing Element Consistency: 
The project is determined to be in conformance with the City’s Housing Element Update 
which was adopted as part of the City’s General Plan in May 2017; supplemented and 
certified by the State in 2019. This element sets goals and priorities of community housing 
needs based on the Regional Housing Needs Assessment (RHNA). Goal H-1 states to 
provide suitable and adequate sites for residential development. This site is suitable for 
this use and has been previously designated for residential uses. The project is to be 
developed into a single-family residential development. Furthermore, Program H-1. a. 
relates to the vacant and non-vacant underutilized and site inventory program. This 
program did not identify the project site as “Vacant or Underutilized” but the project now 
being proposed could contribute to future RHNA numbers for the City of Atwater.  

Subdivision Map Act: 
Based upon the review of the project and the conditions set forth in the resolution, the 
project complies with all applicable provisions of the Subdivision Map Act (Section 66411 
of the California Government Code), in addition to the Title 16 of the Atwater Municipal 
Code pertaining to subdivisions.  

Surrounding Uses: 
The project site is surrounded by existing commercial development to the north, single 
family dwellings to the south, Veteran’s Park to the west, and Castle AFB Football Field. 
The proposed use of single-family residential would be compatible with the uses 
described within the surrounding areas.  



Agenda Report – Planning Commission Resolution 0216-22 Page 5 

III. FISCAL IMPACTS:

This item would not have any significant negative fiscal impacts. This item has been 
reviewed by the Finance Department.  

IV. LEGAL REVIEW:

This item has been reviewed by the City Attorney’s Office. 

V. EXISTING POLICY:

Under section 17.44.020 of the A.M.C – Planned Development Districts, “Any and all 
types of land uses may be considered for approval…if the uses are consistent with the 
underlying General Plan land use designation and zoning for the property. 

Under Section 17.44.070 of the A.M.C. - The Planning Commission shall recommend, 
and the City Council shall approve or conditionally approve the master plan for the PD 
zone upon making the following findings: 

A. The master plan will provide for a higher standard or quality of development
than typically found in the other zones and will meet the intent of the
purposes of Planned Development zone.

B. Deviations from the requirements in the other zones of the zoning code that
would normally apply are justified by compensating benefits of the master
plan.

C. The master plan is consistent with and furthers the policies of the General
Plan and any applicable community specific plan and adopted design
guidelines.

D. The master plan includes adequate provisions for public facilities and
services including water, sewer, drainage, traffic circulation, and access.

E. Public service demands will not exceed the capacity of existing and planned
systems.

VI. INTERDEPARTMENTAL COORDINATION:

An interdepartmental routing sheet was sent to all required departments and affected 
agencies for review and their comments and conditions have been incorporated. 
Resolution 0216-22 includes all comments and conditions as received from internal and 
external department and agencies. 

VII. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION:

The public hearing was adequately noticed and advertised for the regularly scheduled 
Planning Commission hearing. The public will have the opportunity to provide comments 
on this item prior to Planning Commission action. 



Agenda Report – Planning Commission Resolution 0216-22 Page 6 

VIII. ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW:

Pursuant to the California Environmental Quality Act, an Initial Study and Mitigated 
Negative Declaration (IS/MND) was prepared for this project under Section 15073 and its 
findings were made public and available for a 30-day public comment period beginning 
on June 3, 2024. The public comment period closed on July 2, 2024. The City’s intent to 
adopt a Mitigated Negative Declaration was made known under Section 15070.  

On June 19th, 2024, the City received comments from the Department of Toxic 
Substances Control.  Four items were listed in their response including 1) the presence 
of contaminants due to agricultural practices and the need for further studies 2) potential 
chemicals where farming practices may have occurred including farm houses, irrigation 
ditches, and other out buildings that may require additional sampling 3) the need for a 
potential soils assessment and/or a Phase I Site Assessment and 4) the further testing of 
soils that could contain contamination within potential fill material for the site. 

A response to this letter was provided by the J.B. Anderson stating that no new 
environmental issues have been raised that had not already been adequately identified 
and addressed as part of the Initial Study – Mitigated Negative Declaration (ISMND).  The 
project site is not known to contain hazardous materials as identified under Section 
65862.5 of the California Government Code. 

Furthermore, no new change in the surrounding area has occurred that would contribute 
to findings that would be considered significant or represent a major change to the 
physical environment.  

IX. STEPS FOLLOWING APPROVAL:

Following approval of Resolution No. 0216-22, and a five-day appeal period, the recording 
secretary will supply a signed copy to the applicant.  

Prepared by: Tom Navaro, Contract Planner 

Submitted by: _______________________________________________ 
 Greg Thompson, Deputy City Manager/Community Development Director 

Attachments: 
1. Resolution No. 0216-22
2. Vesting Tentative Subdivision Map No. 22-23-0100
3. Master Plan
4. Initial Study



 
 
 
 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

OF THE CITY OF ATWATER 

    
 
 

                                                                                                                                    
RESOLUTION NO. 0216-22 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING 
COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF ATWATER 
CERTIFYING THE MITGATED NEGATIVE 
DECLARATION UNDER CALFORNIA 
ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY ACT (CEQA) AND 
APPROVING A VESTING TENTATIVE 
SUBDIVISION MAP; LOCATED ON THE NORTH 
SIDE OF NEBELA DRIVE, APROXIMATELY 0.15 
MILES EAST OF NORTH BUHACH ROAD, 
ATWATER (APN: 005-070-052) 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission of the City of Atwater reviewed Vesting Tentative 
Subdivision Map No. 22-23-0100 as submitted by Silver Creek Crossing, LLC 
requesting to subdivide one parcel of approximately ±15.13 acres into 73 parcels 
located north of Nebela Drive and east of Buhach Road; and, 

WHEREAS, said application was reviewed by the Planning Commission of the City of 
Atwater on August 21, 2024; and, 

WHEREAS, the determination has been made under the provisions of the California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) that this project qualifies for a Initial Study and 
Mitigated Negative Declaration (ISMND) with mitigation measures being incorporated 
into the project; and, 

WHEREAS,  __ person(s) spoke in favor of the project, __ person(s) spoke in 
opposition of the project, and __ written comment(s) have been submitted either in 
opposition or in favor of the project; and, 

WHEREAS, the site can accommodate the proposed use and not have a detrimental 
effect on the health, safety, and welfare of the neighborhood nor have any adverse 
effect on the community; and, 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission finds that the following findings can be made for 
Vesting Tentative Subdivision Map No. 22-23-0100: 



Planning Commission Resolution No. 0216-22 Page 2 
 

1. That the site is located in a Planned Development (PD-29) Zone District and 
conforms with the use and intent of said zone.  

2. That this site is designated by the Atwater General Plan as Low Density 
Residential.  

3. That all the mandatory findings set forth in section 16.04.010 of the Atwater Zoning 
Ordinance can be made.  

4. That this project has prepared an Initial Study and Mitigated Negative Declaration 
with mitigation measures being incorporated and is in compliance with the 
provisions of the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA).  

5. That the public hearing for this application has been adequately noticed and 
advertised. 

6. That the project, with the conditions herein, would not have a detrimental effect on 
the healthy, safety, and welfare of the neighborhood or have any adverse effects on 
the community.  

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the Planning Commission of the City of 
Atwater does hereby approve Vesting Tentative Map No. 22-23-0100 subject to the 
following conditions:  
 
BUILDING: 
 

1. All plan submittals and calculations and all other required documentation shall be 
submitted to the Building Division. Documents will be routed to proper 
departments for review and also sent out to third party plan checking services.  

 
2. Apply for a permit application in person or online. 

 
3. Plan Check fee payment (based on valuation of the project) contact Building 

Division 
 

4. Five (5) sets of plans including three (3) wet stamped by a registered California 
Design Professional, unless noted accordingly per the “Professional Engineers 
Act” of 2001. 

 
5. Three (3) sets of Energy/Title 24, California Green Code Documents, Special 

Inspection form (filled out by designer), Ventilation designs, approval of dust 
collection system from San Juaquin Valley Air Pollution Control Board, Waste 
Management Plan, and any other applicable calculations/specifications or 
documents.  

6. Building plans shall reflect the most recent California Building Codes (Title 24) 
which consist of the Building Code volume 1 & 2, Wind Speed: Risk Category I: 
100, Category II: Vult 110, Vasd 85, Category III Vult 115, Vasd 85 

a. Wind Exposure: B Urban and Suburban, C in any quadrant for a distance 
of more than 600 feet 

b. Seismic Design Category: DO 
c. Weathering: Negligible, Winter design temp. 25 degrees F 



Planning Commission Resolution No. 0216-22 Page 3 
 

d. Air Freezing Index: 1500, mean annual temp 60 degrees F 
7. Green Code, Electrical Code, Mechanical Code, Plumbing Code, Fire Code 

including Appendix C, Appendix D, Appendix I, Appendix J, California Energy 
Commission requirements, State and Federal Accessibility requirements, Atwater 
Municipal Codes (AMC), requirements from Atwater Fire  
 

8. Department, Engineering, Planning and Public Works Departments respectively. 
Once plans are approved by the City of Atwater the Building Division will contact 
the applicant with fee totals and approximate time when plans will be ready for 
pick up. 

 
9. Building Permits cards and city approved plans and calculations shall always be 

on site when an inspection is called in.  
 

10. The construction site shall have an address posted that will be easy for 
inspectors and emergency services to see.  

11. No sitework is to start until fees are paid and Building Permit is issued, failure to 
adhere to this will result in a STOP WORK ORDER being issued 

 
CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF FISH AND WILDLIFE: 

Swainson’s Hawk(SWHA) 
 

12. SWHA exhibit high nest-site fidelity year after year in the San Joaquin Valley 
(CDFW2016).The Project as proposed may involve noise, groundwork, and 
movement of workers that could affect nests and has the potential to result in 
nest abandonment, significantly impacting local nesting SWHA.   Without 
appropriate avoidance and minimization measures for SWHA, potential 
significant impacts that may result from Project activities include nest 
abandonment, and reduced nesting success (loss or reduced health or vigor of 
eggs or young)from loss of foraging habitat. CDFW recommends the CEQA 
document prepared for this Project address potential impacts to SWHA by 
including the following avoidance and minimization measures. 
 

13. The Project will convertof15.13acres of open land into 63 residential lots. 
CDFW recommends compensation for the loss of Swainson’s hawk foraging 
habitat as described in the Staff Report Regarding Mitigation for Impacts to 
Swainson's Hawks(Staff Report)(CDFG,1994)to reduce impacts to foraging 
habitat to less than significant. The Staff Report recommends that mitigation for 
habitat loss occur within a minimum distance of 10 miles from known nest 
sites. CDFW has the following recommendations based on the Staff Report: 

a. For projects within 1mile of an active nest tree, a minimum of one acre of 
habitat management (HM) land for each acre of development is advised. 

b. For projects within 5miles of an active nest but greater than 1mile, a 
minimum of0.75 acres of HM land for each acre of development is 
advised. 



Planning Commission Resolution No. 0216-22 Page 4 
 

c. For projects within 10miles of an active nest tree but greater than 5miles 
from an active nest tree, a minimum of 0.5 acres of HM land for each acre 
of development is advised. 

 
14. SWHA are known to travel for miles to forage. Therefore, CDFW recommends 

surveys be conducted as part of the biological technical studies conducted in 
support of the CEQA document by a qualified biologist with knowledge of SWHA 
natural history and behaviors, following the survey methods developed by the 
Swainson’s Hawk Technical Advisory Committee (SWHATAC 2000).Regardless 
of the results of the initial survey, CDFW recommends that the survey be 
conducted by a qualified wildlife biologist again within the survey season 
immediately prior to project implementation. CDFW recommends a minimum 
no-disturbance buffer of 0.5-milebedelineatedaround active nests until the 
breeding season has ended or until a qualified biologist has determined that the 
birds have fledged and are no longer reliant upon the nest or parental care for 
survival. If an active SWHA nest is detected during surveys and  a 0.5-
milebuffer is not Kayla Rashad, Administrative Assistant City of Atwater 
Community Development Department February 8, 2023 Page 4  

 
15. feasible, consultation with CDFW is warranted to discuss how to implement the 

project and avoid take. If take cannot be avoided, take authorization through the 
acquisition of an Incidental Take Permit (ITP), pursuant to Fish and Game 
Codesection2081subdivision(b) is necessary to comply with CESA. 

 
Nesting birds 
 

16. CDFW encourages that Project implementation occur outside of the bird nesting 
season (February 1 through September 15); however, if ground-disturbing or 
vegetation-disturbing activities must occur during the nesting season, the Project 
applicant is responsible for ensuring that implementation of the Project does not 
result in violation of the Migratory Bird Treaty Act or relevant Fish and Game 
Codes as referenced above.  

 
17. To evaluate Project-related impacts on nesting birds, CDFW recommends that a 

habitat assessment for nesting birds be conducted as part of the biological 
technical studies in support of the CEQA document. If nesting birds or suitable 
habitat are identified, CDFW further recommends that focused surveys be 
conducted at biologically appropriate times during the nesting season as part of 
the biological technical studies in support of the CEQA document. CDFW also 
recommends that a qualified wildlife biologist conduct pre-activity surveys for 
active nests within10days prior to the start of ground or vegetation disturbing 
activities to maximize the probability that nests that could potentially be impacted 
are detected. CDFW also recommends that surveys cover a sufficient area 
around the Project site to identify nests and determine their status. A sufficient 
area means any area potentially affected by the Project. In addition to direct 
impacts (i.e. nest destruction), noise, vibration, and movement of workers or 



Planning Commission Resolution No. 0216-22 Page 5 
 

equipment could also affect nests. Prior to initiation of construction activities, 
CDFW recommends that a qualified biologist conduct a survey to establish a 
behavioral baseline of all identified nests. Once construction begins, CDFW 
recommends having a qualified biologist continuously monitor nests to detect 
behavioral changes resulting from the Project. If behavioral changes occur, 
CDFW recommends halting the work causing that change and consulting with 
CDFW for additional avoidance and minimization measures. 

18. If continuous monitoring of identified nests by a qualified wildlife biologist is not 
feasible, CDFW recommends a minimum no-disturbance buffer of 250feet 
around active nests of non-listed bird species and a 500-foot no-disturbance 
buffer around active nests of non-listed raptors. These buffers are advised to 
remain in place until the breeding season has ended or until a qualified biologist 
has determined that the birds have fledged and are no longer reliant upon the 
nest or on-site parental care for survival. Variance from these no-disturbance 
buffers is possible when there is compelling biological or ecological reasons to do 
so, such as when the construction area would be concealed from nest site by 
topography. CDFW recommends that a qualified wildlife biologist advise and 
support any variance from these buffers and notify CDFW in advance of 
implementing a variance. 

 
ENGINEERING: 

19. This approval is dependent upon and limited to the proposals and plans 
contained, supporting documents submitted, presentations made to staff, 
Planning Commission and/or City Council as affirmed to by the applicant. Any 
variation from these plans, proposals, supporting documents or presentations is 
subject to review and approval prior to implementation. 
 

20. The developer shall provide and show on the Master Plan all necessary 
easements for access, streets, alleys, sewer and water facilities, utilities and 
drainage facilities, irrigation facilities and other facilities as requested by the City. 
Utility easements shall be a minimum of a clear fifteen feet (15') for one utility and 
a clear twenty feet (20') for two or more utilities or as specified by basic 
engineering design guidelines. Easements shall not be split between property 
lines unless determined otherwise by the City Engineer. The easement widths 
identified are minimums and in certain circumstances, additional easement 
widths may be required as determined by the City Engineer. 
 

21. The developer shall pay all applicable processing fees, permit fees, City 
development fees, fire fees, school fees, drainage fees and other public entity 
fees in effect at the time of the issuance of the applicable permit. 

 
22. All Conditions of Approval for this project shall be written by the project 

developer on all building permit plan check sets submitted for review and 
approval. These Conditions of Approval shall be on, at all times, all grading and 
construction plans kept on the project site. It is the responsibility of the project 



Planning Commission Resolution No. 0216-22 Page 6 
 

developer to ensure that the project contractor is aware of, and abides by, all 
Conditions of Approval. Prior approval from the Community Development 
Director must be received before any changes are constituted in site design, 
grading, building design, building colors or materials, etc. 

 
23. Final maps and/or site development plans shall be in substantial conformance 

to the approved tentative map/site plan and must be submitted to the City 
Engineering Division for review and approval. Maps shall be prepared, wet 
signed and sealed by a civil engineer, land surveyor, or architect registered in 
the State of California and licensed to prepare final maps and/or site 
development plans. 

 
24. Right of way or easement acquisitions necessary to implement any portion of 

this map, and/or site development plan, including public improvements, shall be 
obtained by the developer at its sole expense prior to the City's consideration of 
the final map which encompasses the particular improvement. The developer 
shall notify the City in writing no more than 120 days and no less than 60 days 
in advance of filing the final map related to the acquisition if City assistance is 
needed to complete the acquisition pursuant to Government Code Section 
66462.5. Funds in an amount of 100% of the estimated acquisition costs shall 
be deposited with the City to cover appraisal, right of way agent, and legal fees 
and costs incurred to secure the necessary property. 
 

25. The developer shall provide and show on the final map and/or site development 
plan all necessary easements for access, streets, alleys, sewer and water 
facilities, utilities and drainage facilities, irrigation facilities and other facilities as 
requested by the City. 

 
26. The final map and/or site development plan and all related documents shall 

comply with all regulations and requirements of the Atwater Municipal Code. 
 

27. All public improvements proposed by the developer or required through these 
Conditions of Approval shall be completed and accepted by the City in 
compliance with the time schedule set forth in the Conditions of Approval; if no 
time schedule is provided, then no later than recordation of the parcel/final map. 
The developer may apply to the City for a Subdivision Improvement Agreement 
or Deferred Improvement Agreement in order to postpone completion of the 
public improvements. In any event, the City shall require the developer to 
guarantee the performance of the improvements and payment of labor and 
materials by furnishing security in a form acceptable to the City. 

 
28. Detailed plans reflecting the design and construction of all public infrastructure 

improvements for street, sewer, water, and storm drain, both on- and off-site, 
shall be in conformance with the adopted Infrastructure Master Plans and as 
directed by the City Engineer. Developer shall have written approval from the 
City Engineer for any variations from the City’s Master Plans prior to any final 



Planning Commission Resolution No. 0216-22 Page 7 
 

map or plan approval.    
 

29. All on- and off-site development and improvements shall be designed and 
constructed at the sole expense of the developer. The developer may apply for 
reimbursement for those improvements deemed eligible by the City Engineer as 
oversized in accordance with the City’s laws and the State Subdivision Map Act 
in effect at the time of the developer’s application for reimbursement to the City 
Council. Any such application must be presented to the City Council on or 
before the City records the first final map. The City’s method of reimbursement 
shall not be limited and may be memorialized through a reimbursement 
agreement with the Developer. 

 
30. All streets and alleys shall be irrevocably offered for dedication and improved to 

City standards. Street names shall be reflected on the final map and shall be 
approved by the Community Development Department. 

 
31. Prior to approval of the final map the developer shall form or annex into a street 

lighting and landscape maintenance district, or some alternative financing 
mechanism acceptable to the City, for maintenance of all streetlights and 
landscaping within or adjacent to the site. 

 
32. The developer shall comply with Government Code Section 66436(a) (3) before 

approval of each final map and shall provide “no objection” letters from the 
public entity or utility to the satisfaction of the City Engineer. 

 
33. If the subdivider desires site addresses for the lots created by the subdivision, 

the sub-divider is to furnish a true scale Final Map to the City. Said map is to 
show driveway locations for all lots and street names for all streets. 

 
34. The Final Map shall show the dedication of all on-site drainage easements, 

including easements for access thereto, and show monumentation for such 
easements, as required by the City Engineer and/or Public Works Director, or 
verify that no easements are required. The Final Map shall include the entire 
area shown on the Tentative Map and shall not be filed as units or groups of 
units. 

 
35. Final Maps may be filed as units or groups of units, provided that there will be a 

minimum six-week interval between approval of each Final Map. Lot design on 
the Final Map shall be in substantial conformance to that shown on the 
Tentative Map. Lot 1 shall be in Unit 1, and the lot number sequencing shall 
correspond with unit sequencing. The highest numbered lot shall be in the last 
unit. 

 
36. Upon notification by the City of Atwater that a final map is approved for 

recordation, the applicant shall pay all costs associated with the transport of the 
map by city personnel to the Merced County Recorder’s Office. 



Planning Commission Resolution No. 0216-22 Page 8 
 

 
37. The subdivider shall accomplish the following prior to approval of the Final Map 

by the City Council: 
 

a. Provide the Department of Public Works with letters or 
forms approved by the Community Development Director 
stating that the applicable agency or agencies have provided 
commitment to the site for such public facilities that are 
required for the subdivision (including, but not necessarily 
limited to, water and sewer services). 

 
b. Provide the City with a certification from each public utility 

and each public entity owning easements within the 
proposed subdivision stating that: (a) they have received 
from the developer a copy of the proposed map; (b) they 
object or do not object to the filing of the map without their 
signature; (c) in case of a street dedication affected by their 
existing easement, they will sign a ‘subordination certificate" 
or "joint- use certificate" on the map when required by the 
governing body. In addition, the subdivider shall furnish proof 
to the satisfaction of the City Engineer that no new 
encumbrances have been created that would subordinate 
the City's interest over areas to be dedicated for public road 
purposes since submittal of the Tentative Map.G 

 
c. Grant to the appropriate agency, by recorded document, all 

required off-site easements and all on-site water main 
easements that serve fire hydrants, or furnish a letter from 
said agency that none are required. 

 
d. Provide the Department of Public Works with evidence that 

any offer of dedication or grant of right-of-way shall be free 
of all encumbrances or subordinated at the time of 
recordation of the Final Map. 

 
e. If the subdivider does not have the real property rights 

necessary for public access or the construction of required 
improvements, he/she shall request the Planning 
Commission to direct City staff to begin eminent domain 
proceedings for acquisition of said property rights in 
accordance with all applicable City policies. The developer 
shall agree to pay City the full costs of eminent domain 
proceedings, including all easement costs. The developer 
shall also agree to construct required improvements within 
said easement. 

 



Planning Commission Resolution No. 0216-22 Page 9 
 

f. Pay off all existing deficit accounts associated with 
processing this application to the satisfaction of the City. 

 
38. The Developer shall submit a building permit application package for each 

individual lot which shall include grading plans, a permit application, and plan 
check and inspection fees and deposits to the Community Development 
Department. Grading plans shall be approved prior to or concurrently with the 
approval of the Improvement Plans. 

 
39. The Developer shall provide joint trenching for telephone, gas, electric, and cable 

TV service for the Development in a combined utility plan submitted with the 
Building Permit. 

 
40. All existing overhead utilities on-site shall be undergrounded. 

 
41. Meters, hydrants, poles, etc. shall be located clear of the sidewalk and driveways 

or as determined by the City Engineer. Final locations and the number of such 
facilities shall be determined at the time the improvement plans are reviewed. 

 
42. All improvements, public and private, shall be designed and constructed in 

accordance with the most recent edition of the City of Atwater Improvement 
Standards and Specifications and the most recent edition of the Caltrans 
Standard Plans and Specifications, all applicable federal, state, and local 
ordinances, standards, and requirements. Should a conflict arise, the governing 
specification shall be determined by the City Engineer. 

 
43. Developer shall construct complete dedicated public improvements throughout 

the development, including, but not limited to, curbs, gutters, sidewalks, roadway 
construction, street lighting, storm drain, water, sewer, and landscaping. The 
design and construction of all future public improvements shall be at the 
developer's sole expense and shall be constructed prior to issuance of any 
certificate of occupancy. 

 
44. In addition to otherwise applicable development fees, if the subject property is 

located within an existing or a proposed Benefit District, the developer shall pay 
the Benefit District fee as set forth in the Engineer’s Report for the applicable 
Benefit District. Fees shall be charged and paid at the time of building permit 
issuance. The fees may be adjusted over time according to an index approved 
by City Council or as allowed by law.  

 

45. Developer shall create assessment district for construction of traffic signal at the 
intersection of Buhach Road and Piro Drive per letter dated 8/7/2006 to the City 
of Atwater. 

 
46. The applicant shall secure and comply with all applicable federal, state and local 



Planning Commission Resolution No. 0216-22 Page 10 
 

licenses, permits, authorizations, conditions, agreements, and orders prior to or 
during construction and operation, as appropriate. 

 
47. The project shall establish or annex into an existing Community Facilities District 

for the on-going Public Services operations including Fire and Police services 
. 

48. The project shall establish or annex into an existing Lighting and Drainage 
District along with a Landscaping Maintenance District for the on-going 
maintenance of project lighting, open space areas and any proposed common 
landscape areas such as parks, landscape medians and parkway strips. 
 

49. An encroachment permit shall be required for any construction to be done in the 
public right of way or in easements. Please note for any public improvement 
required sufficient warranty may be required by the city. The encroachment 
permit shall be obtained prior to the start of said work. The permit fees shall be 
determined per the current adopted Miscellaneous Fee Schedule. 

 
50. Where the finished grade of the property is in excess of twelve inches (12") 

higher or lower than the abutting property or adjacent lots, a retaining wall or 
other suitable solution acceptable to the City Engineer shall be required, and any 
fence or wall shall be measured from the top of grade on the lower side of the 
retaining wall or slope. Retaining walls shall be shown on grading plans, shall be 
structurally engineered if over four (4) feet in height (from base of foundation to 
top of wall), including surcharge, and will require a separate building permit. 

 
51. The developer shall coordinate all grading and improvements with adjacent 

property owners to the satisfaction of the City if required due to an 
encroachment. Any grading or drainage onto adjacent properties shall require 
written approval of those property owners affected, with said approval provided to 
the City Engineer. 

 
52. All broken, cracked or otherwise damaged public improvements, such as curb, 

gutter, and sidewalk, shall be saw cut, removed and replaced in accordance with 
applicable city standards to the satisfaction of the City Engineer. 

 
53. For the proposed on-site improvements and off-site improvements, the developer 

shall cause Improvement Plans to be prepared. The plans shall be prepared by a 
Licensed Civil Engineer or under his/her direction. The plans shall be prepared 
on 24" X 36" plan sheets and to a reasonable scale. The plans shall be in a 
format to be approved by the City Engineer and shall show all of the proposed 
grading and on-site and off-site improvements for the proposed development. 
The title of the plan shall be shown at the top of Sheet No. 1. Sheets shall be 
numbered in consecutive order. An index showing the sheets contained within 
and as a part of the Site Improvement Plan shall be shown on Sheet 1. Separate 
On-Site and Off-site Improvement plan sets shall be submitted for City review.  

 



Planning Commission Resolution No. 0216-22 Page 11 
 

54. Prior to occupancy, the developer shall supply the City with both hardcopy and 
electronic (Adobe PDF and AutoCAD file formats) showing plans that reflect the 
project as it was built (As-Builts or Record Drawings) to the satisfaction of the 
City Engineer. Off-Site Improvement Plans hardcopy shall be on 4-mil minimum 
thickness translucent mylar film. 

 
55. The developer shall install water services to the proposed development. 

Individual water services shall be provided for each individual lot. All services 
shall be metered. 

 
56. Developer shall install a reduced pressure principle (RPP) backflow device for 

potable water. All services shall be metered, a Sensus “Flex-Net” radio read 
meter shall be used. The RPP device shall include unions on both riser pipes for 
easier maintenance. RPP devices shall be shown on the Site Improvement Plan 
including, brand names and types. 

 
57. All utility trenches or excavations shall be excavated, backfilled, and compacted 

in accordance with applicable City Standards and with any conditions for paving 
structural sections included within this resolution. 

 
58. Applicant shall abandon and remove from the site any existing irrigation lines and 

other structures found. Lines shall be plugged at the property line with concrete. 
 

59. Any water wells found during construction shall be destroyed and/or demolished 
in accordance with approved City Standards, requirements, and/or permits. 

 
60. Site design and construction shall include the detention of storm water runoff.  

Storm drainage facilities in the project area discharge into facilities of the Merced 
Irrigation District (MID). If necessary, Owner will enter into “Storm Drainage 
Agreement with the MIDDID No. 1”, paying an annual maintenance fee and any 
connection fees as established by the MIDDID No. 1 Board of Directors and as 
collected by MIDDID No. 1 and on the Merced County Tax Rolls.  Existing flows 
and flows from proposed development are to be part of the storm drainage 
calculations for the development to be submitted to the City Engineer. 

 
61. Any portion of the drainage system that conveys runoff from public streets shall 

be installed within a dedicated drainage easement or public street. 
 

62. Hydrologic and hydraulic calculations for determining the storm system design, 
with water surface profile and adequate field survey cross section data, shall be 
provided satisfactory to the City Engineer, or verification shall be provided that 
such calculations are not needed. Applicant shall be required to detain the full 
runoff volume of a 100 year 24 hour storm event. 

63. Developer shall provide for a drainage system capable of handling and 
disposing of all surface water originating within the Development and all surface 
water that may flow onto the Development from adjacent lands. Said drainage 



Planning Commission Resolution No. 0216-22 Page 12 
 

system shall include any easements and structures required by the City 
Engineer to properly handle the drainage, and shall be designed so as to 
prevent ponding of surface water that would create a public health hazard or 
nuisance. 

 
64. Developer shall comply with Chapter 13.22 of the Atwater Municipal Code 

"Storm Water Management and Discharge Control" and with the City of Atwater 
Post Construction Standards Plan. 

 
65. Developer shall process a Post-Construction Stormwater BMP Operation and 

Maintenance Plan for review and approval to the satisfaction of the City 
Engineer. Applicant shall comply with the provisions of the City of Atwater Post-
Construction Standards Plan. 

 
66. Owner shall execute any agreements identified in the Post-Construction 

Standards Plan that pertain to the transfer of ownership and/or long-term 
maintenance of stormwater treatment or hydrograph modification BMPs to the 
satisfaction of the City Engineer and the Director of the Community Development 
Department. 

 
67. Developer shall ensure finished pad elevations are at a minimum one foot above 

the 100-year (1% chance) base flood elevation as shown on the latest Federal 
Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) floodplain maps for Merced County, 
California. The developer shall be responsible for all necessary activities, 
applications, documentation and costs to amend floodplain maps for their 
development [Letter of Map Amendment Revision (LOMAR)], and for obtaining a 
Floodplain Permit from the Community Development Director for all projects on 
parcels identified in a Zone “A” on the FEMA Flood Insurance Rate Maps for the 
City of Atwater. Application for LOMAR shall be prepared and submitted by the 
developer prior to grading permit issuance or final map approval, whichever 
occurs first. 
 

68. Ensure that the site allows for the maneuverability of fire trucks, refuse vehicles, 
and any emergency service vehicles around the entirety of the site. Permanent 
site furnishings shall be installed to maintain proper clearance for emergency 
vehicular turnaround where designated on plan. 

 
69. The grade of the fire apparatus access road shall be within the limits 

established by the code official based on fire apparatus. (Shall not exceed 10 
percent.) 

 
70. Fire apparatus access roads shall be designed and maintained to support the 

imposed loads of fire apparatus (75,000 pounds) and shall be surfaced so as to 
provide all-weather driving capabilities. 

 
71. Developer to provide sewer loading calculations and report for the development. 



Planning Commission Resolution No. 0216-22 Page 13 
 

Sewer service laterals shall be provided for each individual lot. 
 

72. Any septic systems found during construction shall be destroyed in accordance 
with approved Merced County Environmental Health requirements.  

 
73. Developer shall properly abandon or relocate all utilities as necessary or 

required. 
 

74. Developer shall comply with the requirements of all public utility companies. 
 

75. All underground utilities shall be installed in conformance with existing City 
policy including without limitation the City of Atwater Subdivision and Zoning 
Ordinances. 

 
76. The installation (if required) of all gas, electric, sewer, and water lines and any 

other below-surface utilities is to take place before the construction of any 
concrete curbs, gutters, sidewalks, and the surfacing of streets. 

 
77. Applicant shall comply with all requirements of the San Joaquin Valley Air 

Pollution Control District (SJVAPCD). 
 

78. The project shall be in compliance with the most recent Americans with 
Disabilities Act (ADA) regulations. 

 
79. Sight distance requirements at all street intersections shall conform to City 

Standards. 
 

80. The applicant shall submit a geotechnical report together with improvement 
plans to the City Engineer for review and approval. The report shall include the 
information and be in the form as required by the City Engineer and all 
applicable codes. 

 
81. Developer shall submit three (3) sets of landscaping and irrigation plans to be 

reviewed and approved by the City of Atwater Public Works Division. Said plans 
shall be prepared by a landscape architect licensed in the State of California. All 
landscaped areas shall be equipped with seven-day automatic irrigation systems 
with battery back-up. All landscaping shall always be maintained and said 
maintenance shall be the responsibility of the developer. Specific landscaping for 
screening shall have an appearance of mature growth subject to a field check 
and approval by the Community Development Director prior to Certificate of 
Occupancy. 
 

82. The developer shall plant shade trees along the street frontage areas in 
accordance with the 2017 Urban Forest Master Plan.  

 
83. All slope banks in excess of two (2) feet in vertical height shall be landscaped 



Planning Commission Resolution No. 0216-22 Page 14 
 

and irrigated for erosion control and to soften their appearance as follows: 
 

a. one 15-gallon or larger size tree per each 150 sq. ft. of slope area, one 1- 
gallon or larger size shrub per each 100 sq. ft. of slope area, and 
appropriate ground cover 12-24 inches on-center. In addition, slope banks 
in excess of five (5) feet in vertical height also include one 5-gallon or 
larger size tree per each 250 sq. ft. of slope area. Trees and shrubs shall 
be planted in staggered clusters to soften and vary slope plane. Slope 
planting required by this condition shall include a permanent irrigation 
system to be installed by the developer prior to occupancy. 

b. All planting shall be maintained in good growing condition. Such 
maintenance shall include, where appropriate, pruning, mowing, weeding, 
cleaning of debris and trash, fertilizing and regular watering. Whenever 
necessary, planting shall be replaced with other plant materials to ensure 
continued compliance with applicable landscaping requirements. 
Required irrigation systems shall be fully maintained in sound operating 
condition with heads periodically cleaned and replaced when missing to 
ensure continued regular watering of landscape areas, and health and 
vitality of landscape materials. 
 

84. Developer shall provide Park access utilizing APN 005-481-001 west of the 
property. The access point must have an ADA compliant pedestrian gate and 
ADA path of travel to the southern portion of the park.  
 

85. Final inspection for occupancy permits will not be granted until all construction 
and landscaping is complete in accordance with approved plans. 
 

86. The Developer shall construct, to the satisfaction of the Director of the 
Department of Public Works, a public street lighting system that complies with 
the following conditions: 
 

a. All fixtures shall use an LED light source. 
b. All light standards, heads, and spacing shall be per City Standards. 

Proposed lights of an ornamental nature shall not exceed 16 feet in height 
designed to the satisfaction of the Community Development Director and 
shall be spaced and located to the satisfaction of the City Engineer. 

c. Deposit with the City of Atwater, through the Department of Public Works, 
a cash deposit sufficient to: 

d. Energize, maintain, and operate the street lighting system until tax 
revenues         begin accruing from the Development for those purposes. 

e. Pay the cost to process lighting district administration of this project 
 

87. Applicant shall submit a complete area water pressure availability study for the 
Project prior to approval of improvement plans. If the study indicates that the 
present system is inadequate, Applicant must provide water system modelling 
prepared with a software simulation program that identifies any remedial action. 



Planning Commission Resolution No. 0216-22 Page 15 
 

 
88. necessary to abate the deficiency, and shall submit improvement plans for plan 

check and take all necessary actions at the applicant’s expense. 
 

89. Applicant shall submit a study addressing on- and off-site storm water and/or 
sewer system capabilities. If the study indicates that the present systems are 
inadequate, Applicant must provide improvement plans and calculations for 
additional or upgraded storm water and/or sanitary sewer facilities, including off-
site improvements, to correct storm water run-off and sanitary sewer demands 
anticipated for upstream build-out in accordance with the Atwater General Plan, 
and take all necessary actions at the applicant’s expense. 

 
90. 6-inch (6”) high Portland Cement Concrete curbing shall be provided between all 

paved areas and landscaped areas. In addition, curbing between the length of 
any parking space and a landscaped area shall include a 12” wide “courtesy 
curb.” Curb cuts shall be allowed for LID drainage designs. 

 
FINANCE  
 

91. When building is ready to connect to City Water and Sewer, owner must submit a 
Start Service Application for Water, Sewer, and Garbage services.  

 
92. Owner must submit a business license application for review and approval and 

pay all applicable taxes and fees. 
 
FIRE:  
 

93. Plans, calculations and supporting documentation shall reflect the latest 
California Building Codes (Title 24) Focusing on the Fire Code, CCR Title 24, 
NFPA, ASTM, California Fire Marshal requirements, and the Atwater Municipal 
Code (AMC).  

 
94. Fire Hydrant location will be in accordance with Appendix C (Hydrant Location 

and distribution) of the 2022 CFC. 
 

PLANNING: 
 

95. All on-site graffiti shall be the responsibility of the property owner. All graffiti shall 
be abated in accordance with City Graffiti Ordinances. 
 

96. Upon any violation of sign ordinance section 17.69 of the Atwater Municipal Code 
(AMC), the applicant will be cited and subject to fine. 

 
97. Project shall comply with the most current California Code of Regulations Title 

24, parts 1 through 12, the most current Health and Safety Codes and the most 



Planning Commission Resolution No. 0216-22 Page 16 
 

current Fire and Life Safety Codes, all along with the California State 
Amendments.  
 

98. The developer shall comply with the Residential Design Guidelines. Minor 
changes to the architectural style or square footage shall be reviewed and 
approved by the Community Development Director. 
 

99. The applicant shall comply with all conditions of the Merced County Division of 
Environmental Health, including the handling of all potentially hazardous 
material. 
 

100. The Planning Commission shall retain the right to reconsider Vesting Tentative 
Subdivision Map No. 22-23-0100 at any time. 

 
101. The Tentative Subdivision Map shall expire within one (1) year from the day of 

approval if the operation has not started. 
 

102. Site Plan shall expire in six (6) months from the day of approval if the operation 
has not started. 

 
103. All Conditions of Approval for this project shall be written by the project 

developer on all building permit plan check sets submitted for review and 
approval. These Conditions of Approval shall be on, at all times, all grading and 
construction plans kept on the project site. It is the responsibility of the project 
developer to ensure that the project contractor is aware of, and abides by, all 
Conditions of Approval. Prior approval from the Community Development 
Director must be received before any changes are constituted in site design, 
grading, building design, building colors or materials, etc. 

 
104. This approval is dependent upon and limited to the proposals and plans 

contained, supporting documents submitted, presentations made to staff, 
Planning Commission as affirmed to by the applicant. Any variation from these 
plans, proposals, supporting documents, or presentations is subject to review 
and approval prior to implementation.\ 

 
105.  The applicant or applicant’s successor in interest shall indemnify and defend 

and hold harmless the City of Atwater, its agents, officers, and employees from 
any and all claims, actions, or proceedings against the City of Atwater, its 
agents, officers, and employees to attack, set aside, void, or annul any approval 
by the City of Atwater and its advisory agency, appeal board, or legislative body 
concerning this application, which action is brought within applicable statutes of 
limitations. The City of Atwater shall promptly notify the applicant or applicant’s 
successor in interest of any claim or proceedings and shall cooperate fully in the 
defense. If the City fails to do so, the applicant or applicant’s successor in 
interest shall not thereafter be responsible to defend, indemnify or hold the City 



Planning Commission Resolution No. 0216-22 Page 17 
 

harmless. This condition may be placed on any plans or other documents 
pertaining to this application.  

 
POLICE DEPARTMENT: 
 
Commercial Properties in the Development: 
 

106. Any external electricity is secured to prevent theft of utilities.  
 

107. Addition of adequate lighting to prevent unwanted access or camping on the   
 property. 
 

108. Any external water is secured to prevent theft of utilities. 
 
Residential properties: 
 

109. Block fencing on the border with the existing park to prevent unauthorized    
   access. 

 
PUBLIC WORKS: 
 

110. Trash enclosure must be large enough to contain (2) three-yard bins.   
 

TRAFFIC: 
 

111. If the Project is entirely consistent with the City’s General Plan, pursuant to the 
MCAG VMT Thresholds and Implementation Guidelines it is estimated to have 
less than significant VMT impacts and thus can be screened out from having to 
prepare a quantitative VMT analysis. 

 
112. The project shall prepare a trip generation, distribution and fair share  

 
113. Analysis for a future traffic signal at the intersection of Buhach and Piro. The     

distribution analysis shall include both AM and PM peak period trips to the 
intersection. The fair share analysis shall utilize the Caltrans equitable fair 
share formula and the cumulative year 2045 traffic forecasting volumes. 

 
MID: 
 

114. MID operates and maintains the Livingston Canal within a 150-foot wide fee 
strip as granted by that certain deed recorded December 29, 1879 in Book P of 
Deeds, Page 440, Merced County Records. This canal is offsite but just south of 
the subject property and will be the recipient of the project’s storm drainage. 

 
115. The proposed development (APN 005-070-052) is subject to the executed 

Drainage Agreement between the Merced Irrigation District for Merced Irrigation 



Planning Commission Resolution No. 0216-22 Page 18 
 

Drainage Improvement District No.1 and Castle Park Mini-Storage. The 
agreement is recorded with the County of Merced, June 17, 2005, as Document 
No. 2005-045688, Merced County Records. 

 
116. Owner/Developer will enter into an “Encroachment Agreement” for any work 

associated with MID Facilities. 
 

117. MID will require an MID signature block be provided on the improvements plans 
for any work associated with MID facilities. 

 
118. The proposed development will be subject to all fees and conditions set forth in 

the Drainage Agreement recorded as Document No. 2005-045688, Merced 
County Records. 

 
PG&E: 
 

119. PG&E operates a high-voltage electric transmission line within an easement on 
this property, recorded in Volume 1569 at Page 949 of Merced County records. 
Said easement prohibits the erection or construction of any building or other 
structure within the easement area. PG&E’s transmission easement shall be 
designated on subdivision/parcel maps as “RESTRICTED USE AREA – NO 
BUILDING.” 
 

120. Cuts, trenches or excavations may not be made within 25-feet of PG&E towers. 
PG&E engineers must review grade changes in the vicinity of our towers. No 
fills will be allowed which would impair ground-to-conductor clearances. The 
Company requests a full grading plan be provided within the easement area. 

 
121. Pipelines may be allowed provided crossings are held to a minimum and to be 

as nearly perpendicular as possible. Pipelines within 25-feet of PG&E 
structures require review by PG&E. There is a proposed 18-inch storm drain 
that appears to be within 25-feet of PG&E’s tower structure. The Company 
requests a complete utility and construction plan be submitted prior to any 
construction commencing. 

 
122. The proposed storm drain retention basin is in conflict and hinders PG&E’s 

ability to safely access and maintain the transmission line. The Company 
requests the referenced basin be relocated outside of the easement area or be 
shortened and reduced within the easement area so that the distance between 
said basin and any tower structure is maximized. Unobstructed, heavy 
equipment access to the transmission facilities must be maintained at all times. 

 
The foregoing resolution is hereby adopted this 21st day of August, 2024. 

 
AYES:  
NOES:  



Planning Commission Resolution No. 0216-22 Page 19 
 

ABSENT:      
       APPROVED: 
 
 
 
       ______________________________                                                               
       DON BORGWARDT, CHAIR  
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
______________________________                                                                           
GREG THOMPSON,  
DEPUTY CITY MANAGER/ 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR 



CL

RWRW

TC

PUE

LOT PAD

PUE

TC
20'20'

30' 10'30'10'

5' 5'

MIN. 6" NATIVE SOIL
COMPACTED TO MIN. 95%
RELATIVE COMPACTION

MIN. 2" "TYPE B"
A.C. PAVEMENT

PROPOSED ROLL
CURB

TYPE III-A SIDEWALK
PER STD. PLAN SCG-2

60'

LOT PAD

5'5'

PROPOSED ROLL
CURB

TYPE III-A SIDEWALK
PER STD. PLAN SCG-2

R
O

N
D

E
L

R
O

A
D

W
H

IS
P

E
R

 W
A

Y

TO
O

LE
 W

A
Y

NEBELA DRIVE

LOT A - STORM DRAIN DETENTION BASIN

A
P

N
: 0

05
-0

70
-0

01

APN: 005-070-022

APN:
005-481-003

APN:
005-481-001

APN:
005-483-001

APN:
005-483-002

APN:
005-483-003

APN:
005-483-004

APN:
005-461-001

APN:
005-483-005

APN:
005-461-002

APN:
005-461-003

APN:
005-461-004

APN:
005-461-005

APN:
005-461-006

APN:
005-461-007

APN:
005-463-001

APN:
005-463-002

APN:
005-463-003

APN:
005-463-004

APN:
005-463-005

APN:
005-463-006

APN:
005-463-007

APN:
005-463-008

APN:
005-463-009 APN:

005-463-010

EXISTING PROPERTY LINE

EXISTING RIGHT-OF-WAY

EXISTING RIGHT-OF-WAY

EXISTING RIGHT-OF-WAY

PHASE 2

PHASE 1

PHASE 2

PHASE 1

12
0'

25'

10
0'

NATHANIEL LANE

B.N.S.F.
RAILROAD

SANTA FE DRIVE

M
AR

G
AR

ET
 C

O
UR

T

LO
ND

O
N 

ST
RE

ET

PRESLEY COURTROMAN COURT

LAUREN COURT

N
IN

A
 D

R
IV

E

85,981 SF

6076 SF

5869 SF

5831 SF

5793 SF

5755 SF

5358 SF

9224 SF

7611 SF
6060 SF

9704 SF

6180 SF

5887 SF 5000 SF 6000 SF 5000 SF 5000 SF 5000 SF 5000 SF 5888 SF

5887 SF5000 SF5892 SF6078 SF

9565 SF

5088 SF

5002 SF 5004 SF 5004 SF 5003 SF 5003 SF 5003 SF

5013 SF5000 SF5000 SF5000 SF5887 SF

5887 SF 5000 SF 5000 SF 5000 SF 5000 SF 5000 SF 5000 SF 5000 SF 8934 SF

5847 SF

6968 SF5320 SF5003 SF5003 SF5003 SF5891 SF5891 SF5003 SF5003 SF6003 SF5003 SF5003 SF5003 SF5003 SF5003 SF5003 SF5003 SF6003 SF5003 SF
5891 SF

6003 SF 8125 SF

6535 SF

7862 SF

7339 SF

5968 SF

5638 SF

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8
9

10

11

12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19

20

26

36

373839404142

43 44 45 46 47 48 49 50 51 52

53

5455565758596061626364656667686970717273

212223

24

25

27
28 29 30 31 32 33 34 35

50
'

50
'

118'

117'

50
'

116'

50
'

115'

50
'

115'

53'

95'

50
'

46
'

140'

13
8'

127'

36'

81
'

36'

41'

84'

43'

66
'

104'

69
'

85
'

21' 45'

10
0'

60'

50'

10
0'

60'

10
0'

50'

10
0'

50'

10
0'

50'

10
0'

50'

10
0'

45' 21
'

85
'

60'
85

'

21'
45'50'61'

88
'

50'

97
'

96'

10
4'

60'

82'

51'49'

86
'

57'

82
'

37' 56'

50'

99
'

10
0'

50'

10
0'

50'

10
0'

50'

10
0'

50'

10
0'

50'

10
0'

60'

10
0'

119'

14
'

107'

33'

18'

38
'

149'

104'
36'

80
'

139'61'

57'

50'

10
0'

10
0'

10
0'

10
0'

45'

21
'

85
'

60'

50'50'

85
'

21' 45'

10
0'

50'

10
0'

50'

10
0'

50'

10
0'

50'

10
0'

50'

10
0'

50'

10
0'

50'

10
0'

50'

12
7'

130'

10
'

159'

34
'

78'

40'

32'

80
'

83'

65'

10
0'

60'

50'

10
0'

50'

10
0'

50'

10
0'

45'

21
'

85
'

60'
10

0'

50'

60'

85
'

21'
45'

10
0'

50'
10

0'
60'

10
0'

50'

10
0'

50'

10
0'

50'

10
0'

50'

10
0'

50'

10
0'

50'

10
0'

50'

10
0'

60'

10
0'

50'

10
0'

45'

21
'

85
'

60'

107'

42
'

43'

60'

4004'

151'

67
' 64'

16
7'

10
0'

12
1'

S 89°45'09" W   300.00'S 89°45'09" W   500.00' S 89°45'09" W   314.49'

S
 0

°1
4'

51
" E

   
26

0.
00

'

S
 0

°1
4'

51
" E

   
19

0.
00

'
S

 0
°1

4'
51

" E
13

0.
00

'

S
 0

°1
4'

51
" E

13
0.

00
'

S 89°45'09" W   284.93'S 89°45'09" W   236.50'

C
1C

1

C2

C1

C
2

C1 C1

C2C1

C1

C
2

C1

10
0'

STOP STOP

STOP

STOP

STOP

STOP
STOP

STOP

STO
P

STO
P

66'

60
'

S 51°58'35" E

839.67' (M)

N 89°45'34" E 654.71' (M)

N
 0

0°
37

'3
5"

 E
45

0.
19

' (
M

)

S 89°45'09" W 1527.80' (M)

N 89°45'09" E 324.57' (M) N
00

°3
6'

01
"E

70
.0

2'
 (M

)

60'

60'

60'

60
'

60
'

60
'

S00°14'51"E
9.10'(M)

S 89°45'09" W
100.00'(M)

S 89°45'09" W
18.61'(M)

S0
0°

14
'5

1"
E

9.
10

'(M
)

(BASIS OF BEARINGS PER 72 M 27)

11
0'

20
'

FRONT YARD SETBACK
(LOT AT MINIMUM WIDTH)

5'

15
'

INTERIOR SIDE YARD SETBACK
(CORNER 10' ABUTTING SIDE YARD,
15' ABUTTING FRONT YARD)

REAR YARD SETBACK

SILVER CREEK CROSSINGS
ATWATER, CALIFORNIA

VESTING  TENTATIVE  SUBDIVISION MAP  22-23-0100

A
P

P
R

O
V

E
D

SHEET
NUMBER

D
A

TE
D

E
S

C
R

IP
TI

O
N

S

R
E

V
IS

IO
N

S

N
O

.

CA
LI

FO
RN

IA

JOB #:
DATE:
SCALE:
DRAWN:
DESIGN:
CHK'D:

PL
OT

TE
D:

 0
1/

05
/2

02
4 

11
:1

1 
   

 P
LO

TT
ED

 B
Y:

 P
hu

rb
an

DW
GN

AM
E:

 F
:\2

2-
31

34
 M

ea
do

w 
Vi

ew
 E

st
at

es
\P

la
nn

in
g\

TM
\T

M
1.

1.
dw

g

TM1.1
COPYRIGHT ©   2024  NORTHSTAR ENGINEERING GROUP, INC

22-3134

JB

PMH

01/05/2024

A
TW

A
TE

R
,SI
LV

ER
 C

R
EE

K
 C

R
O

SS
IN

G
S

PRELIM
INARY:

NOT FOR

CONSTRUCTIO
N

VICINITY MAP
NTS

PROJECT
LOCATION

SANTA FE DR.

AVENUE 2

GREEN SANDS AVE.

HWY 99

JUNIPER AVE.

BU
HA

CH
 R

D.

MERCED-CASTLEAIRPORT

BELLEVUE RD.

SH
AF

FE
R 

RD
.

FO
X 

RD
.

0

1" = 

80 40 80

80'

A. REGULATORY AGENCY:        CITY OF ATWATER     
750 BELLEVUE ROAD   
ATWATER, CA  95301
T: (209) 357-6343
  

B. APPLICANT: SILVER CREEK CROSSINGS, LLC
3811 CROWELL ROAD
TURLOCK, CA  95382
T: (209) 634-5700
CONTACT: RAMSON PIRO

C. ENGINEER: NORTHSTAR ENGINEERING GROUP, INC
620 12th STREET
MODESTO CA, 95354
T: (209) 524-3525
CONTACT: PAMELA HURBAN

D. ASSESSOR'S PARCEL NUMBER: 005-070-052

E. EXISTING LAND USE: COMMERCIAL

F. PROPOSED LAND USE: SINGLE FAMILY HOMES

G. EXISTING ZONING / GP: PD-29 / LDR

H. PROPOSED ZONING/GP: PD-29 / LDR

I. TOTAL PROJECT SIZE: 15.13± ACRES

J. NET ACREAGE: 15.13± ACRES

K. TOTAL NUMBER OF R-1 LOTS: 73

L. NET DENSITY: 4.8 DU/AC

M. TYPICAL LOT SIZE: 50 X 100'

N. MAXIMUM FOOTPRINT COVERAGE:PER LOCAL ORDINANCE

O. PARKING: MINIMUM TWO CAR GARAGE, AND TWO DRIVEWAY 
SPACES PER LOT

P. CONTOURS:  1.0-FOOT INTERVALS

Q. UTILITIES: WATER SYSTEM - CITY OF ATWATER
SANITARY SEWER - CITY OF ATWATER
STORM DRAINAGE - CITY OF ATWATER
GAS - PG&E
ELECTRIC -  PG&E

             TELEPHONE -      AT&T
CABLE TV / BROADBAND-COMCAST

PROJECT INFORMATION

THE LAND DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SITUATED IN THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF MERCED, CITY OF ATWATER  DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:
PARCEL "B" ACCORDING TO THE OFFICIAL PARCEL MAP FOR CASTLE PARK MINI-STORAGE , FILED IN THE OFFICE OF THE RECORDER OF MERCED
COUNTY, CALIFORNIA, ON MAY 10, 2005 IN BOOK 99 AT PAGES 5 AND 6.

LEGAL DESCRIPTION

GENERAL NOTES
1. ALL IMPROVEMENTS SHALL BE CONSTRUCTED AS PER THE CITY OF ATWATER STANDARD PLANS AND SPECIFICATIONS EXCEPT AS

NOTED.

2. STORM DRAINAGE TO BE CONVEYED TO A ON-SITE STORM DRAIN  RETENTION BASIN. ALL IMPROVEMENTS TO BE CONSTRUCTED TO
THE CITY OF ATWATER STANDARDS.

3. ALL STORM DRAINAGE IMPROVEMENTS AS PART OF FUTURE IMPROVEMENTS PLANS AND STUDIES SHALL CONFORM TO THE
REQUIREMENTS SET FORTH IN NATIONAL POLLUTION DISCHARGE ELIMINATION SYSTEM (NPDES) PERMIT 2013-0001-DWQ AND THE
MULTI-AGENCY POST-CONSTRUCTION STORMWATER STANDARDS MANUAL APPROVED OR ADOPTED PRIOR TO THE TIME OF THIS
TENTATIVE MAP APPLICATION BEING DEEMED COMPLETE.

4. ALL TRIBUTARY PARCELS MUST ANNEX TO THE CITY OF ATWATER DRAINAGE DISTRICT.

5. ALL STORM DRAIN TO BE DETAINED ON SITE BY EXPANSION OF EXISTING DETENTION BASIN WITHIN MEADOW VIEW ESTATES UNIT 1.
EXPANSION ALSO TO ACCOMMODATE CASTLE PARK MINI STORAGE VIA TWO 24" STUBS AT PROJECT BOUNDARY AT LOTS 25 AND 26 ,
AND LOT 35.  THESE LOCATIONS ARE PRELIMINARY AND SUBJECT TO CHANGE.  ALL STORM WATER TO EVENTUALLY DISCHARGE INTO
THE LIVINGSTON CANAL THROUGH AN EXISTING FORCE MAIN.  CALCULATIONS FOR BASIN EXPANSION BASED ON A 100 YEAR 24 HOUR
STORM FREQUENCY.

6. ALL TRIBUTARY PARCELS MUST ANNEX TO CITY DRAINAGE DISTRICT.

7. SANITARY SEWER TO BE CONSTRUCTED TO CITY OF ATWATER STANDARDS AND SPECIFICATIONS.

8. WATER SYSTEM TO BE CONSTRUCTED TO CITY OF ATWATER STANDARDS AND SPECIFICATIONS.

9. STREET LIGHTING SHALL BE INSTALLED PER CITY OF ATWATER STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS.

10. PUBLIC UTILITIES ARE TO BE INSTALLED UNDER GROUND IN EASEMENTS.

11. THE SUBDIVIDER HEREBY RESERVES THE RIGHT TO FILE "MULTIPLE SUBDIVISION MAPS" AS SET FORTH BY THE SUBDIVISION MAP ACT,
ARTICLE 4, SECTION 66456.1., AND FILE PARCEL MAPS FOR REASON OF SALE. ALL PARCEL LINES SHALL CONFORM TO THIS TENTATIVE
MAP.

SHEET INDEX
1. TM1.1 TENTATIVE SUBDIVISION MAP DIMENSION PLAN
2. TM2.1 TENTATIVE SUBDIVISION MAP UTILITY PLAN

11.  ALL EXISTING STRUCTURES AND TREES ARE TO BE REMOVED UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED. EXISTING ELECTRIC TRANSMISSION TOWERS TO REMAIN

12.  ALL LOT SETBACK REQUIREMENTS AND LOT SIZES ARE TO BE IN ACCORDANCE WITH CITY OF ATWATER REQUIREMENTS.

13.  STREET NAMES UTILIZED ARE PROVIDED FOR IDENTIFICATION PURPOSES ONLY.  ACTUAL STREET NAMES WILL BE PROVIDED WITH THE FINAL MAP

14.  TREES TO BE PLANTED IN FRONT YARDS AND SIDE YARDS OF CORNER LOTS TO THE CITY OF ATWATER STANDARDS.

16.  PUBLIC UTILITY EASEMENTS TO BE DEDICATED AT THE REQUEST OF THE UTILITIES.

17.  PURSUANT TO SECTION 66452.6 O THE "SUBDIVISION MAP ACT", THE TERM OF THIS MAP MAY EXTEND 10 YEARS.

18.  PURSUANT TO SECTION 66456..1 OF THE "SUBDIVISION MAP ACT", THE DEVELOPER RESERVES THE RIGHT TO FILE MULTIPLE FINAL MAPS

19.  ALL FENCING BORDERING THE STORM DRAIN BASIN TO BE BUILT TO THE CITY OF ATWATER STANDARDS.

20.  ALL BUILDING SETBACKS TO CONFORM TO THE CITY OF ATWATER STANDARDS.

21.  ALL UTILITY SIZES ARE PRELIMINARY AND SUBJECT TO CHANGE WITH THE FINAL DESIGN.

22.  THIS SUBDIVISION WILL BE DEVELOPED IN TWO PHASES.

CURVE DELTA RADIUS LENGTH
C1 42°50'00" 25.00' 18.69'
C2 265°40'00" 50.00' 231.84'

CURVE DATA:

15.  ALL IMPROVEMENTS AND PUBLIC UTILITIES TO BE MADE OR INSTALLED AT THE TIME OF DEVELOPMENT.
       ALL IMPROVEMENTS TO BE CONSTRUCTED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE CITY OF ATWATER STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS.

23.  THE ENTIRE PROJECT SITE IS IN FLOOD ZONE X, AREAS OF MINIMAL FLOOD HAZARD PER F.I.R.M. COMMUNITY PANEL NO. 06047C0405 E, MAP
       EFFECTIVE DATE: AUGUST 2, 1995.  NO OTHER DOCUMENTATION OF INUNDATION BY STORM WATER OVERFLOW ARE KNOWN TO EXIST TO THE
       BEST OF OUR KNOWLEDGE AND BELIEF.

12.  10' PUBLIC UTILITY AND TREE PLANTING EASEMENTS WILL BE PROVIDED ALONG ALL STREET IN-TRACT FRONTAGES. 

VE
ST

IN
G

 T
EN

TA
TI

VE
 S

UB
DI

VI
SI

O
N 

M
AP

DI
M

EN
SI

O
N 

PL
AN

SECTION 5 T. 7 S., R. 13 E., MDM

ELEVATION: 167.79'
DATUM: NGVD29
DESCRIPTION:
USGS BRASS DISK #V745 AT THE TOP OF CURB ON THE
EAST SIDE OF TRAFFIC CIRCLE.  600' NORTHEAST OF
CASTLE A.F.B. MAIN GATE.

BENCHMARK

THE BEARING OF NORTH 15°18'09" WEST CALCULATED
FOR A LINE BETWEEN GPS CONTROL MONUMENT NO.
1055 AND GPS CONTROL MONUMENT NO. 1051 AS
SHOWN ON THE RECORD OF SURVEY FOR "GPS
SURVEY CONTROL NETWORK" FILED FOR RECORD IN
VOLUME 28 OF SURVEYS, AT PAGES 1 - 4, MERCED
COUNTY RECORDS, WAS USED AS THE BASIS OF ALL
BEARINGS SHOWN ON THIS MAP. ALL DISTANCES
SHOWN ON THIS MAP ARE GROUND DISTANCE BY THE
COMBINED FACTOR OF 0.99994419 (AVERAGE
FACTOR).

BASIS OF BEARINGS

TYPICAL SETBACK DETAIL60' LOCAL STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
BK. 99-P.M.-PG. 5,

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL A

AutoCAD SHX Text
M.C.R.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MEADOW VIEW ESTATES

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNIT 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
11

AutoCAD SHX Text
12

AutoCAD SHX Text
21

AutoCAD SHX Text
17

AutoCAD SHX Text
18

AutoCAD SHX Text
19

AutoCAD SHX Text
20

AutoCAD SHX Text
13

AutoCAD SHX Text
14

AutoCAD SHX Text
15

AutoCAD SHX Text
16

AutoCAD SHX Text
64

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING STORM BASIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING STORM BASIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
22

AutoCAD SHX Text
23

AutoCAD SHX Text
31

AutoCAD SHX Text
32

AutoCAD SHX Text
33

AutoCAD SHX Text
34

AutoCAD SHX Text
38

AutoCAD SHX Text
39

AutoCAD SHX Text
40

AutoCAD SHX Text
41

AutoCAD SHX Text
42

AutoCAD SHX Text
43

AutoCAD SHX Text
44

AutoCAD SHX Text
45

AutoCAD SHX Text
46

AutoCAD SHX Text
47

AutoCAD SHX Text
48

AutoCAD SHX Text
49

AutoCAD SHX Text
50

AutoCAD SHX Text
51

AutoCAD SHX Text
52

AutoCAD SHX Text
53

AutoCAD SHX Text
54

AutoCAD SHX Text
55

AutoCAD SHX Text
56

AutoCAD SHX Text
57

AutoCAD SHX Text
58

AutoCAD SHX Text
59

AutoCAD SHX Text
60

AutoCAD SHX Text
61

AutoCAD SHX Text
62

AutoCAD SHX Text
63

AutoCAD SHX Text
64

AutoCAD SHX Text
65

AutoCAD SHX Text
66

AutoCAD SHX Text
67

AutoCAD SHX Text
68

AutoCAD SHX Text
69

AutoCAD SHX Text
128

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT "B"

AutoCAD SHX Text
CASTLE PARK MINI STORAGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
72 M 27

AutoCAD SHX Text
164.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
164.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
164.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
164.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
164.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
164.9

AutoCAD SHX Text
164.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
165.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
165.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
165.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
164.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
165.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
165.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
165.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
165.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
165.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
165.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
165.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
165.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
165.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
164.9

AutoCAD SHX Text
165.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
APN: 005-070-001

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
J.

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
V

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
No. C55377



8"
SS

8"SS

8"SS

8"SS8"SS

8"
SS

8"
SS

8"SS

Ex8"W Ex8"W Ex8"W

Ex
8"

W

Ex
8"

W

Ex8"W

Ex
8"

W

Ex
8"

W

ExSSFM

Ex8"W

Ex18"SD Ex24"SD Ex24"SD

Ex
18

"S
D

Ex24"SD

CONNECT TO EXISTING 8" WATER
PER CITY OF ATWATER STANDARDS

CONNECT TO EXISTING 8" SEWER
PER CITY OF ATWATER STANDARDS

RETENTION BASIN UPLAND AREA TO
PROVIDE ACCESS TO PG&E TOWER

EXISTING OVERHEAD  HIGH
TENSION POWER POLE

CONNECT TO EXISTING 8" WATER
PER CITY OF ATWATER STANDARDS

C
O

N
S

TR
U

C
T 

6'
W

O
O

D
 F

E
N

C
E

EXISTING STORM WATER DETENTION
BASIN WITHIN THE MEADOW VIEW
ESTATES UNIT 1 PROJECT TO BE
EXPANDED FOR SILVER CREEK
ESTATES. REMOVE EXISTING CHAIN
LINK FENCE AND EXPAND BASIN.

Ex12"FM

PRESLEY COURTROMAN COURT

LO
ND

O
N 

ST
RE

ET

NATHANIEL LANE LAUREN COURT

N
IN

A
 D

R
IV

E

R
O

N
D

E
L 

R
O

A
D

NEBELA DRIVE

W
H

IS
P

E
R

 W
A

Y

TO
O

LE
 W

A
Y

PIRO DRIVE

M
AR

G
AR

ET
 C

O
UR

T

B.N.S.F.
RAILROAD

SANTA FE DRIVE

STORM DRAIN STUB
FOR CASTLE PARK
MINI-STORAGE

STORM DRAIN STUB FOR CASTLE PARK
MINI-STORAGE. COMMERCIAL SITE WILL BE

REQUIRED TO DETAIN IT'S OWN STORM
DRAINAGE PRIOR TO RUN OFF ENTERING

THE PROPOSED PROJECT BASIN.

HWL=161.0
BOT.156.0

WATER TABLE 82.5

CONSTRUCT 6'
MASONRY WALL

CONSTRUCT 6'
MASONRY WALL

CONSTRUCT 7'

MASONRY WALL

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8
9

10

11

12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19

20

26

36

373839404142

43 44
45 46 47 48 49 50 51 52

53

5455565758596061626364656667686970717273

212223

24

25

27

28 29 30
31 32

33 34 35

12
0'

25'

10
0'

CONNECT TO
EXISTING STORM MAIN

STORM DRAIN INLET

SD

SD

SD

SD

SD SD

SD

SD

SD

6'

5'

14
'

6'

5'

6'

5'

6' 14
'

5'

14'

8"W

8"
W

8"
W

8"
W

8"
W

8"W8"W

8"W 8"W

8"SS8"SS

8"SS 8"SS 8"SS

8"
SS

8"
SS

8"
SS

8"
SS

STORM WATER
FILTRATION BOX

60' P.G.&E. EASEMENT

1569-OR-949, M.C.R.

PER 99-PM-5

20' INGRESS\EGRESS EASEMENT

2490-OR-816, M.C.R.

TO BE ABANDONED

TEMPORARY DRAINAGE BASIN EASEMENT
2006-046501 M.C.R. PER 99-PM-5

TO BE VACATED

10' PUE

10' PUE

10' PUE

10' PUE10' PUE

10' PUE 10' PUE

10
' P

U
E

10
' P

U
E

10
' P

U
E

10
' P

U
E

10
' P

U
E

15' TEMPORARY DRAINAGE EASEMENT
2006-046501 M.C.R. PER 99-PM-5

TO BE VACATED

10' STORM DRAIN EASEMENT
2005-045608 M.C.R.

TO BE VACATED

10' STORM DRAIN
EASEMENT

2005-045608 M.C.R.
TO REMAIN

10' STORM DRAIN
EASEMENT

2005-045608 M.C.R.
TO BE VACATED

10' STORM DRAIN EASEMENT
2005-045608 M.C.R.

TO BE VACATED

10' STORM DRAIN EASEMENT
2005-045608 M.C.R. TO REMAIN

STORM DRAIN INLETS

STORM DRAIN
OUTLET

VE
ST

IN
G

 T
EN

TA
TI

VE
 S

UB
DI

VI
SI

O
N 

M
AP

UT
IL

IT
Y 

PL
AN

A
P

P
R

O
V

E
D

SHEET
NUMBER

D
A

TE
D

E
S

C
R

IP
TI

O
N

S

R
E

V
IS

IO
N

S

N
O

.

CA
LI

FO
RN

IA

JOB #:
DATE:
SCALE:
DRAWN:
DESIGN:
CHK'D:

PL
OT

TE
D:

 0
1/

05
/2

02
4 

11
:1

7 
   

 P
LO

TT
ED

 B
Y:

 P
hu

rb
an

DW
GN

AM
E:

 F
:\2

2-
31

34
 M

ea
do

w 
Vi

ew
 E

st
at

es
\P

la
nn

in
g\

TM
\T

M
1.

2.
dw

g

TM1.2
COPYRIGHT ©   2024  NORTHSTAR ENGINEERING GROUP, INC

22-3134

JB

PMH

01/05/2024

A
TW

A
TE

R
,SI
LV

ER
 C

R
EE

K
 C

R
O

SS
IN

G
S

PRELIM
INARY:

NOT FOR

CONSTRUCTIO
N

0

1" = 

60 30 60

60'

LEGEND

BOUNDARY LINE

CENTERLINE

RIGHT-OF-WAY

PARCEL LINE

CURB, GUTTER, AND SIDEWALK

EDGE OF PAVEMENT

CONTOURS

STORM DRAIN (MAIN)

STORM DRAIN MAINTENANCE HOLE

CURB INLET

STORM DRAIN  INLET OR OUTLET

WATER (MAIN)

WATER VALVE

FIRE HYDRANT

SEWER MAINTENANCE HOLE

SEWER (MAIN)

ELECTROLIER

AutoCAD SHX Text
BK. 99-P.M.-PG. 5,

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL A

AutoCAD SHX Text
M.C.R.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MEADOW VIEW ESTATES

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNIT 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
CASTLE PARK MINI STORAGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
72 M 27

AutoCAD SHX Text
RETENTION BASIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
HIGH WATER=161.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
BOTTOM BASIN=156.00

AutoCAD SHX Text
WATER TABLE=82.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
VOLUME=52130 cf (2.08 ac/ft)

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIDE SLOPES=2:1 (TYP)

AutoCAD SHX Text
164.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
164.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
164.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
164.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
164.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
164.9

AutoCAD SHX Text
164.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
165.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
165.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
165.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
164.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
165.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
165.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
165.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
165.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
165.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
165.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
165.6

AutoCAD SHX Text
165.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
165.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
164.9

AutoCAD SHX Text
165.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
APN: 005-070-001

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
J.

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
V

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
No. C55377

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
32

AutoCAD SHX Text
32

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
Ex12"SD

AutoCAD SHX Text
Ex8"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
Ex12"SS

AutoCAD SHX Text
12"SS

AutoCAD SHX Text
12"SD

AutoCAD SHX Text
8"W

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A



N A T H A N I E L       D R I V E

N
 I 

N
 A

   
   

D
 R

 I 
V

 E

R
 O

 N
 D

 E
 L

NEBELA DRIVE

LOT A - S
TORM D

RAIN

RETENTIO
N BASIN

B.N
.S.F.

RAILROAD

SANTA FE DRIVE

M
 A

 R
 G

 A
 R

 E
 T

   
   

 C
 O

 U
 R

 T

LO
N

D
O

N
 S

TR
E

E
T

P R E S L E Y       C O U R TR O M A N        C O U R T

L A U R E N       C O U R T

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8 9 10

11

12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19

20

26

36

373839404142

43 44 45 46 47 48 49 50

51

52

535455565758596061626364656667686970717273

50
'

118'

50
'

117'

50
'

116'

50
'

115'

50
'

115'

95'

46
'

140'

127'

36'

81
'

36'

11
0'

107'

84'

12
1'

43
'

69
'

104'

85
'

21
'

45'

10
0'

60'

50'

10
0'

60'

10
0'

50'

10
0'

50'

10
0'

60'

10
0'

50'

10
0'

45'

21
'

86
'

60'

85
'

21
'

45'

21222324

25

27 28 29 30 31 32 33 34 35

60'35.5'

50'

43
'

44
'

34'
56'

50'

119'

14
'

107'

33'66'57'

70
'

51'

49'

86
'

82'

10
4'

60'

97
'

96'

88
'

82
'

20'

38
'

152'

109'

37'

82
'

141'67'

55'

99
'

10
0'

10
0'

10
0'

52'50'50'45'

21
'

85
'

60'

85
'

21
'

45' 50' 50' 50' 50' 50' 50' 50' 60' 63.5'

14
'

146'

148'

97'

221'

22'

46
'

39'

50'60'50'45'

21
'

85
'

60' 60' 153'

80
'

10
0'

10
0'

10
0'

10
0'

10
0'

10
0'

10
0'

10
0' 10

0'

10
0'

10
0'

10
0'

12
4'

60'

85
'

21
'

45'

10
0'

50'

10
0'

50'

10
0'

60'

10
0'

50'

10
0'

50'

10
0'

50'

10
0'

50'

10
0'

50'

10
0'

50'

10
0'

50'

10
0'

60'

10
0'

50'

10
0'

45'

21
'

85
'

60'

100'

17
1'

71
'

50' 50' 50' 50' 50' 60''

50' 50' 50' 60''50'50'

10
0'

10
0'

10
0'

10
0'

10
0'

10
0'

10
0'

99
''

43'7'

60'

18.5'

9.5'

10
0'

10
0' 76'

18.5'

27.5

60'

50
'

10
' 9'

18
.5

'

50
'

50
'

50
'

50
'

59
'

18.5'

9'

18
.5'

40
.5

'

50'50'60'50'50'50'50'50'50'50'60'50'

13.5' 18.5'

33.5'

Plan 1600
1-Story

Plan 1996
1-Story

Plan 2065
1-Story

Plan 2116
1-Story

R
 O

 A
 D



Public Review Draft Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration 

Vesting Tentative Subdivision Map No. 216-22: Silver Creek Crossings 

Prepared by 

 City of Atwater 

Planning Department 

750 Bellevue Road 

Atwater, California 95301 

Prepared with the assistance of 

J.B. Anderson Land Use Planning 

139 S. Stockton Avenue 

Ripon, California 95366 

 May, 2024 

tnavarro
Cross-Out



 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

                                        Page 

 

NEGATIVE DECLARATION          1 

 

INITIAL STUDY           4 

 

1. Project Title                     4 
2. Lead Agency Name and Address                   4 
3. Contact Person and Phone Number                  4 
4. Project Location                   4 
5. Project Sponsor’s Name and Address        4 

6. Existing Setting                   4 
7. Existing General Plan Designation        4 
8. Existing Zoning                  5 
9. Surrounding Land Uses and Setting        5 
10. Description of the Project         5 
11. Other Public Agencies Whose Approval is Required      6 

12. California Native American Tribes Consultation      6 
13. Environmental Factors Potentially Affected          11 

14. Lead Agency Determination                                      12 

 

INITIAL STUDY CHECKLIST                    15 

 

1. Aesthetics                      15 
2. Agriculture and Forestry Resources                   17 
3. Air Quality                  19 
4. Biological Resources                  25 
5. Cultural Resources                      28 

6. Energy           30 
7. Geology and Soils                     32 
8. Greenhouse Gas Emissions                     36 
9. Hazards and Hazardous Materials                   40 
10. Hydrology and Water Quality                    44 
11. Land Use and Planning                     48 
12. Mineral Resources                    49 
13. Noise                  50 
14. Population and Housing                52 
15. Public Services                      53 
16. Recreation                     56 
17. Transportation/Traffic                    57 

18. Tribal Cultural Resources         60 
19. Utilities and Service Systems                    63 

20. Wildfire           66 
21. Mandatory Findings of Significance                    68 

 

REFERENCES           71 

 

 

 

 



 

 

TABLES             

 

1. Surrounding Land Uses and Settings        5 

 

FIGURES            8 

 

1. Project Location Map         7 

2. Existing General Plan Map         8 

3. Existing Zoning Designation Map        9 

4. Tentative Subdivision Map         10 

 

APPENDICES           72 

 

A.  Air Quality Modeling Results, dated November 1, 2023    

 

B. Cultural Resources Report, dated September 6, 2023, prepared by Central California    

Information Center            

 

C. Traffic Technical Memorandum, dated October 18, 2023, prepared by GHD     

  



1 | P a g e  

 

NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

Lead Agency: 

City of Atwater 

750 Bellevue Road  

Atwater, California 95301 

 

PROJECT NAME: 
 

Vesting Tentative Subdivision Map No. 216-22 – Silver Creek Crossings Subdivision 

 

PROJECT PROPONENT AND LEAD AGENCY: 
 

Project Proponent: Silver Creek Crossing, LLC. 

   3811 Crowell Road 

   Turlock, CA 95382 

 

Lead Agency:  City of Atwater 

   750 Bellevue Road 

   Atwater, CA 95301 

 

PROJECT LOCATION: 

 

The Proposed Project is located on one (1) parcel equaling approximately 15.13 acres and is bounded by 

Purely Storage, a commercial self-storage facility to the north, the Meadow View Estates single-family 

residential subdivision to the south, Santa Fe Avenue to the east, and North Buhach Road to the west.   

 

The Merced County Assessor’s Office has assigned the Proposed Project parcel as APN No. 005-070-052. 

 

PROJECT DESCRIPTION: 

 

The Proposed Project consists of a Vesting Tentative Subdivision Map to allow for the subdivision of 

approximately 15.13 acres into seventy-three (73) single-family residential lots, and an existing storm 

water detention basin located within the Meadow View Estates Unit One, to be expanded for the 

Proposed Project. Expansion of the existing detention basin will also accommodate Purely Self-Storage via 

two (2) 24” stubs at project boundary at proposed Lots 25, 26, and 35.  

 

 Physical development of the individual lots is not proposed at this time, but it can be assumed that future 

development within the Project site will conform to the City’s Zoning Ordinance, including Section 17.16 

and Section 17.44. Ultimately, the Proposed Project will consist of uses consistent with the City’s Zoning 

Ordinance, and specifically, permitted uses within the Planned Development (P-D 29) Zone.   

 

Typical lot size of new parcels created as part of the Proposed Project are approximately 5,000 square 

feet in size. Primary access to the Project site will be provided via Nebela Drive, Rondel Road, and Nina 



2 | P a g e  

 

Drive. The Proposed Project will be served domestic utilities by the City of Atwater. Connections to existing 

water and sewer lines located on Nina Drive and Rondel Road will be installed. All storm drainage to be 

conveyed to an on-site retention basin and all storm drain to be detained on site by way of expansion of 

existing detention basin.  

 

The proposed VTSM can be found in this Initial Study as Figure 4. 

 

ENVIRONMENTAL DETERMINATION: 
 

The Lead Agency has prepared an Initial Study, the following, which considers the potential environmental 

effects of the Proposed Project.  The Initial Study shows that there is no substantial evidence, in light of 

the whole record before the Lead Agency, that the Proposed Project may have a potentially significant 

effect on the environment, provided that the following mitigation measures are included in the Proposed 

Project. 

 

MITIGATION MEASURES: 

 

Mitigation Measure Air-1: Prior to the commencement of construction activities for each phase of 

construction, the Project Proponent shall prepare and submit a Dust Control Plan that meets all of the 

applicable requirements of APCD Rule 8021, Section 6.3. 

 

Mitigation Measure Air-2: During all construction activities, the project proponent shall implement the 

following dust control practices identified in Tables 6-2 and 6-3 of the GAMAQI (San Joaquin Valley APCD, 

2002): 

1. All disturbed areas, including storage piles, which are not being actively utilized for construction 

purposes, shall be effectively stabilized of dust emissions using water, chemical 

stabilizer/suppressant, or vegetative ground cover. 

2. All on-site unpaved roads and off-site unpaved access roads shall be effectively stabilized of dust 

emissions using water or chemical stabilizer/suppressant. 

3. All land clearing, grubbing, scraping, excavation, land leveling, grading, cut and fill, and demolition 

activities shall control fugitive dust emissions by application of water or by presoaking. 

4. When materials are transported off-site, all material shall be covered, effectively wetted to limit 

visible dust emissions, or at least six inches of freeboard space from the top of the container shall 

be maintained. 

5. All operations shall limit or expeditiously remove the accumulation of mud or dirt from adjacent 

public streets at least once every 24 hours when operations are occurring. The use of dry rotary 

brushes is expressly prohibited except where preceded or accompanied by sufficient wetting to 

limit the visible dust emissions. Use of blower devices is expressly forbidden. 

6. Following the addition of materials to, or the removal of materials from, the surface of outdoor 

storage piles, said piles shall be effectively stabilized of fugitive dust emissions utilizing sufficient 

water or chemical stabilizer/suppressant. 



3 | P a g e

7. Limit traffic speeds on unpaved roads to 5 mph; and Install sandbags or other erosion control

measures to prevent silt runoff to public roadways from sites with a slope greater than one

percent.

Mitigation Measure Bio-1: Within fourteen (14) days of the start of the Proposed Project activities a pre-

activity survey shall be conducted by a qualified biologist knowledgeable in the identification of these 

species.  

Mitigation Measure Noise-1: Construction of only single-story homes along the eastern portion of the 

Project site abutting the Burlington Northern Railroad. 

Mitigation Measure Noise-2: Construction of a seven (7) foot tall wall along the eastern portion of the 

Project site abutting the Burlington Northern Railroad. 

___________________________________________________I
Interim City Manager   

5/31/2024                   .           
Date    



4 | P a g e  

 

INITIAL STUDY 

1. PROJECT TITLE 

 

 Vesting Tentative Subdivision Map No. 216-22 – Silver Creek Crossings Subdivision 

 

2. LEAD AGENCY NAME AND ADDRESS 

 

City of Atwater 

750 Bellevue Road 

Atwater, CA 95301 

 

3. CONTACT PERSON AND PHONE NUMBER 

 

Mr. Mark Niskanen, Contract Planner 

(209) 599-8377 

 

4. PROJECT LOCATION 
 

The Project site is located east of Buhach road and immediately north of and adjacent to Meadow 

View Estates Unit one (1) and includes Assessor Parcel Number 005-070-023. Figure one (1) 

provides an illustration of the Project site’s location. 

 

5. PROJECT SPONSOR’S NAME AND ADDRESS 

 

Silver Creek Crossing, LLC. 

 3811 Crowell Road 

 Turlock, CA 95382 

 

6. EXISTING SETTING 
 

The Silver Creek Crossings Subdivision Project site is presently vacant and undeveloped with no 

structures existing on site. The Project site occupies a single parcel, with an approximate size of 

15.13 acres. The Project site abuts an already developed subdivision, the Meadow View Estates, 

located just south of the Proposed Project site. The Project site is adjacent to Veteran’s Memorial 

Park, Veteran’s Park Atwater BMX which appears to have been abandoned some time ago, and a 

Self-Storage commercial facility.  

 

7. EXISTING GENERAL PLAN DESIGNATION 
 

The Project site is designated for Residential land uses per the City’s General Plan, dated July 24, 

2000. 



5 | P a g e  

 

 

8. EXISTING ZONING 

 The Proposed Project site is located within the Planned Development (P-D 29) zone.  

 

9. SURROUNDING LAND USES AND SETTING 

 

The Project is bounded by existing commercial development to the north, Meadow View Estates 

Unit one (1) to the south, Santa Fe Avenue to the east, and north Buhach Road to the west.  Table 

1, below, provides the Project site’s surrounding uses, General Plan land use designations, and 

zoning districts.  

 

Table 1     Surrounding Land Uses and Setting 

 Existing Use General Plan Land Use 

Designation 

Zoning Classification 

North Purely Self-Storage Business Park PD-10 

South Single-Family Dwellings Low-Density 

Residential 

PD-29 

East Castle AFB Football 

Field 

County County 

West Veteran’s Park Atwater 

BMX  

Park PD-22 

 

10. DESCRIPTION OF THE PROJECT 

 

The Proposed Project consists of the Vesting Tentative Subdivision Map to allow for the 

subdivision of approximately 15.13 acres into seventy-three (73) single-family residential lots, and 

expansion of an existing storm water detention basin located within the Meadow View Estates 

Unit one, to be expanded for the Proposed Project. Expansion of the existing detention basin will 

also accommodate Purely Self-Storage via two (2) 24” stubs at project boundary at Lots 25, 26, 

and 35. 

 

Physical development of the individual lots is not proposed at this time, but it can be assumed 

that future development within the Project site will conform to the City’s Zoning Ordinance, 

including Section 17.16 and Section 17.44. Ultimately, the Proposed Project will consist of uses 

consistent with the City’s Zoning Ordinance, and specifically, permitted uses within the Planned-

Development (P-D 29) Zone.   

 

Typical lot size of new parcels created as part of the Proposed Project are approximately 5,000 

square feet in size. Primary access to the Project site will be provided via Nebela Drive, Rondel 

Road, and Nina Drive 

 



6 | P a g e  

 

The Proposed Project will be served domestic utilities by the City of Atwater. Connections to 

existing water and sewer lines located on Nina Drive and Rondel Road will be installed. All storm 

drainage to be conveyed to an on-site retention basin and all storm drain to be detained on site 

by way of expansion of existing detention basin. 

 

 The proposed VTSM can be found in this Initial Study as Figure 4. 

 

11. OTHER PUBLIC AGENCIES WHOSE APPROVAL IS REQUIRED 

 

There are no other public agencies whose approval is required for the Proposed Project. 

 

12. HAVE CALIFORNIA NATIVE AMERICAN TRIBES TRADITIONALLY AND CULTURALLY AFFILIATED 

WITH THE PROJECT AREA REQUESTED CONSULTATION PURSUANT TO PUBLIC RESOURCES 

CODE SECTION 21080.3.1? 

 

 In accordance with Public Resources Code Section 21080.3.1, notification letters were sent to 

 tribal representatives of California Native American tribes that have requested to be notified of 

 projects within the project area for the City of Atwater. Tribal representatives were advised of the 

 Proposed Project and invited to request formal consultation with the City of Atwater regarding 

 the Proposed Project within thirty (30) days of receiving the notification letters. On January 4, 

 2023, notification letters were sent to representatives of the following tribes –  

 

(1) Southern Sierra Miwuk Nation 

(2) Amah Mutsun Tribal Bank 

(3) North Valley Yokuts Tribe 

 

 As of the preparation of this Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration, more than thirty (30) 

 days following the City’s transmittal of notification letters, no tribal representatives requested 

 consultation. No tribal cultural resources have been identified associated with the Proposed 

 Project site.  

  

 

 



7 | P a g e  

 

Figure 1 – Project Location Map 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

                                

 

                                                                        
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



8 | P a g e  

 

Figure 2 – Existing General Plan 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



9 | P a g e  

 

Figure 3 – Existing Zoning  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



10 | P a g e  

 

Figure 4 – Vesting Tentative Subdivision Map 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



11 | P a g e  

 

13. ENVIRONMENTAL FACTORS POTENTIALLY AFFECTED:  

The environmental factors checked below would be potentially affected by this project, involving at least 

one impact that is a "Potentially Significant Impact" as indicated by the checklist on the following pages. 

 Aesthetics   Agriculture and Forestry 

Resources  

 Air Quality 

 Biological Resources  Cultural Resources   Energy 

 Geology and Soils   Greenhouse Gas 

Emissions Materials 

 Hazards and Hazardous  

 Hydrology and Water 

Quality  

 Land Use and Planning   Mineral Resources  

 Noise   Population and Housing   Public Services  

 Recreation   Transportation/Traffic   Utilities and Service 

Systems  

 Wildfire  Mandatory Findings of 

Significance 

  

 

  



12 | P a g e  

 

14.  LEAD AGENCY DETERMINATION:  

On the basis of this initial evaluation: 

 
I find that the Proposed Project COULD NOT have a significant effect on the environment, and a 

NEGATIVE DECLARATION will be prepared. 

X 

I find that although the Proposed Project could have a significant effect on the environment, there will 

not be a significant effect in this case because revisions in the project have been made by or agreed to 

by the Project Proponent. A MITIGATED NEGATIVE DECLARATION will be prepared. 

 
I find that the Proposed Project MAY have a significant effect on the environment, and an 

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT REPORT is required. 

 

I find that the Proposed Project MAY have a "potentially significant impact" or "potentially significant 

unless mitigated" impact on the environment, but at least one effect 1) has been adequately analyzed in 

an earlier document pursuant to applicable legal standards, and 2) has been addressed by mitigation 

measures based on the earlier analysis as described on attached sheets. An ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT 

REPORT is required, but it must analyze only the effects that remain to be addressed. 

 

I find that although the Proposed Project could have a significant effect on the environment, because all 

potentially significant effects (a) have been analyzed adequately in an earlier EIR or NEGATIVE 

DECLARATION pursuant to applicable standards, and (b) have been avoided or mitigated pursuant to that 

earlier EIR or NEGATIVE DECLARATION, including revisions or mitigation measures that are imposed upon 

the Proposed Project, nothing further is required. 

 

 

________________________________________________________ 

_______________, City Planner  

 

 

  

Date 

 

 

 

 

 

  



13 | P a g e  

 

SECTION 2.0 EVALUATION INSTRUCTIONS: 

1) A brief explanation is required for all answers except "No Impact" answers that are adequately 

supported by the information sources a lead agency cites in the parentheses following each 

question. A "No Impact" answer is adequately supported if the referenced information sources 

show that the impact simply does not apply to projects like the one involved (e.g., the project falls 

outside a fault rupture zone). A "No Impact" answer should be explained where it is based on 

project-specific factors as well as general standards (e.g., the project will not expose sensitive 

receptors to pollutants, based on a project-specific screening analysis). 

 

2) All answers must take account of the whole action involved, including off-site as well as on-site, 

cumulative as well as project-level, indirect as well as direct, and construction as well as 

operational impacts. 

 

3) Once the lead agency has determined that a particular physical impact may occur, then the 

checklist answers must indicate whether the impact is potentially significant, less than significant 

with mitigation, or less than significant. "Potentially Significant Impact" is appropriate if there is 

substantial evidence that an effect may be significant. If there are one or more "Potentially 

Significant Impact" entries when the determination is made, an EIR is required. 

 

4) "Negative Declaration: Less Than Significant With Mitigation Incorporated" applies where the 

incorporation of mitigation measures has reduced an effect from "Potentially Significant Impact" 

to a "Less Than Significant Impact."  The lead agency must describe the mitigation measures, and 

briefly explain how they reduce the effect to a less than significant level (mitigation measures 

from Section XVII, "Earlier Analyses," may be cross-referenced). 

 

5) Earlier analyses may be used where, pursuant to the tiering, program EIR, or other CEQA process, 

an effect has been adequately analyzed in an earlier EIR or negative declaration.  Section 

15063(c)(3)(D). In this case, a brief discussion should identify the following: 

 

a) Earlier Analysis Used. Identify and state where they are available for review. 

 

b) Impacts Adequately Addressed. Identify which effects from the above checklist were 

within the scope of and adequately analyzed in an earlier document pursuant to 

applicable legal standards, and state whether such effects were addressed by mitigation 

measures based on the earlier analysis. 

 

c) Mitigation Measures. For effects that are "Less than Significant with Mitigation Measures 

Incorporated," describe the mitigation measures, which were incorporated or refined 

from the earlier document and the extent to which they address site-specific conditions 

for the project. 



14 | P a g e  

 

6) Lead agencies are encouraged to incorporate into the checklist references to information sources 

for potential impacts (e.g., general plans, zoning ordinances). Reference to a previously prepared 

or outside document should, where appropriate, include a reference to the page or pages where 

the statement is substantiated. 

 

7) Supporting Information Sources: A source list should be attached, and other sources used or 

individuals contacted should be cited in the discussion. 

 

8) This is only a suggested form, and lead agencies are free to use different formats; however, lead 

agencies should normally address the questions from this checklist that are relevant to a project's 

environmental effects in whatever format is selected. 

 

9) The explanation of each issue should identify: 

 

a) The significance criteria or threshold, if any, used to evaluate each question; and 

 

b) The mitigation measure identified, if any, to reduce the impact to less than significance. 

 

 

 

  



15 | P a g e  

 

INITIAL STUDY CHECKLIST 

This section of the Initial Study incorporates the most current Appendix "G" Environmental Checklist Form, 

contained in the CEQA Guidelines.  

1. AESTHETICS -- WOULD THE PROJECT: 

 

Potentially 

Significant 

Impact 

Less Than 

Significant 

with 

Mitigation 

Incorporation 

Less Than 

Significant 

Impact 

No 

Impact 

a)  Have a substantial adverse effect on a scenic 

vista? 
  X  

b) Substantially damage scenic resources, 

including, but not limited to, trees, rock 

outcroppings, and historic buildings within a 

State scenic highway? 

  X  

c) In non-urbanized areas, substantially degrade 

the existing visual character or quality of public 

views of the site and its surroundings? (Public 

views are those that are experienced from 

publicly accessible vantage points.) If the 

project is in an urbanized area, would the 

project conflict with applicable zoning and 

other regulations governing scenic quality? 

  X  

d)  Create a new source of substantial light or 

glare which would adversely affect day or 

nighttime views in the area? 
  X  

IMPACT ANALYSIS 

The following discussion is an analysis for criteria (a) and (b): 

a. Would the project have a substantial adverse effect on a scenic vista? 

b. Would the project substantially damage scenic resources, including, but not limited to, trees, rock 

outcroppings, and historic buildings along a state scenic highway? 

 

The City of Atwater does not have any designated scenic vistas; however, the city has identified the 

following as scenic corridors: 

 

Atwater Boulevard; First Street; Bellevue Road; Shaffer Road; Winton Way; Broadway, from Winton 

Way to First Street; Buhach Road; Third Street; part of Grove Avenue; all entrances to the city.  

 

The Proposed Project is bounded by Bellevue Road, Santa Fe Avenue, Nebela Drive and north Buhach 

Road. The project site is zoned Planned Development (P-D) 29 and is adjacent to a variety of different 



16 | P a g e  

 

land uses, but most importantly, the Proposed Project is consistent with and a continuation of existing 

single-family homes immediately south of the Project site. Therefore, the Proposed Project will have 

a Less Than Significant Impact on scenic vistas or scenic resources.  

  

c. Would the project, in non-urbanized areas, substantially degrade the existing visual character or 

quality of public views of the site and its surroundings? (Public views are those that are experienced 

from publicly accessible vantage points.) If the project is in an urbanized area, would the project 

conflict with applicable zoning and other regulations governing scenic quality? 

 

Although vacant, the project site is located within an urbanized area. The Proposed Project consists 

of seventy-three (73) single-family residential lots and internal circulation. Implementation of the 

Proposed Project would continue the pattern of residential development in accordance with the City’s 

General Plan and Zoning designation of the Project site. Therefore, the Proposed Project will have a 

Less Than Significant Impact.  

 

d. Would the project create a new source of substantial light or glare which would adversely affect day 

or nighttime views in the area? 

 

Exterior street lighting and lights from adjacent commercial and residential areas already exist near 

the Project site. The new source of lighting generated by the Proposed Project would include lights 

from inside and outside homes, entrance lighting, accent lights and streetlights typical of single-family 

residential neighborhoods. The proposed lighting would be directed, oriented, and shielded to 

prevent light from shining onto adjacent properties. Little to no light exists on the project site under 

current conditions as the site is mostly vacant. Once developed, new light sources will be similar to 

those of the surrounding uses and would not adversely affect day or nighttime views in the area. 

Therefore, the Proposed Project will have a Less Than Significant Impact.   

MITIGATION MEASURES: 

Mitigation is not required for this topic.  

  



17 | P a g e  

 

2. AGRICULTURE AND FORESTRY RESOURCES -- WOULD THE PROJECT: 

 

Potentially 

Significant 

Impact 

Less Than 

Significant 

with 

Mitigation 

Incorporation 

Less Than 

Significant 

Impact 

No 

Impact 

In determining whether impacts to agricultural resources are significant environmental effects, lead agencies 

may refer to the California Agricultural Land Evaluation and Site Assessment Model (1997, as updated) 

prepared by the California Department of Conservation as an optional model to use in assessing impacts on 

agriculture and farmland.  In determining whether impacts to forest resources, including timberland, are 

significant environmental effects, lead agencies may refer to information compiled by the California 

Department of Forestry and Fire Protection regarding the State’s inventory of forest land, including the Forest 

and Range Assessment Project and the Forest Legacy Assessment project; and forest carbon measurement 

methodology provided in Forest Protocols adopted by the California Air Resources Board. Would the Project: 

a) Convert Prime Farmland, Unique Farmland, or 

Farmland of Statewide Importance (Farmland), 

as shown on the maps prepared pursuant to the 

Farmland Mapping and Monitoring Program of 

the California Resources Agency, to non-

agricultural use? 

  X  

b) Conflict with existing zoning for agricultural 

use, or a Williamson Act contract? 
   X 

c) Conflict with existing zoning for, or cause 

rezoning of, forest land (as defined in Public 

Resources Code section 12220(g)), timberland 

(as defined by Public Resources Code section 

4526), or timberland zoned Timberland 

Production (as defined by Government Code 

section 51104 (g))? 

   X 

d) Result in the loss of forest land or conversion 

of forest land to non-forest use? 
   X 

e) Involve other changes in the existing 

environment which, due to their location or 

nature, could result in conversion of Farmland, to 

non-agricultural use or conversion of forest land 

to non-forest use? 

   X 

 

IMPACT ANALYSIS 

a. Would the project convert Prime Farmland, Unique Farmland, Farmland of Statewide Importance 

(Farmland), as shown on the maps prepared pursuant to the Farmland Mapping and Monitoring 

Program of the California Resources Agency, to non-agricultural use? 

 



18 | P a g e  

 

According to the California Department of Conservation – 2018 Farmland Mapping and Monitoring 

Program, the Project site is considered Farmland of Local Importance. The site itself is vacant without 

any productive agricultural resources and is not being utilized for active agricultural production. Thus, 

the Proposed Project will have a Less Than Significant Impact.   

 

b. Would the project conflict with existing zoning for agricultural use, or a Williamson Act contract? 

 

The Proposed Project site is zoned Planned Development (P-D 29). The project site has a General 

Plan designation of Low-Density Residential; it is not zoned for agriculture use and is not subject to 

a Williamson Act contract. Therefore, the Proposed Project would have No Impact under this 

threshold. 

 

The following discussion is an analysis for criteria (c) and (d): 

c. Would the project conflict with existing zoning for, or cause rezoning of, forest land (as defined in 

Public Resources Code Section 12220(g)), timberland (as defined by Public Resources Code 4526), or 

timberland zoned Timberland Production (as defined by Government Code Section 51104(g))? 

d. Would the project result in the loss of forest land or conversion of forest land to non-forest use? 

 

The Public Resource Code Section 12220 (g) and Section 4526 defines Forest Land as land that can 

support 10% native tree cover of any species, including hardwoods, under natural conditions, and 

that allows for management of one or more forest resources, including timber, aesthetic, fish and 

wildlife, biodiversity, water quality, recreation, and other public benefits. The project site is not 

identified as forest land. Therefore, implementation of the Proposed Project would not conflict with 

any existing zoning for forest land, timberland, or timberland zoned Timberland Production. No 

Impact would occur under this threshold.  

 

e. Would the project involve other changes in the existing environment, which, due to their location or 

nature, could result in conversion of Farmland to non-agricultural use? 

 

The project site is not designated for agricultural or forest use. There are no known changes to the 

existing environment that would result in the conversion of farmland to non-agricultural use or the 

conversion of forest land to non-forest use. The Proposed Project will have No Impact.  

 

MITIGATION MEASURES: 

Mitigation is not required for this topic. 

 

 

  



19 | P a g e  

 

3. AIR QUALITY -- WOULD THE PROJECT: 

 

Potentially 

Significant 

Impact 

Less Than 

Significant 

with 

Mitigation 

Incorporation 

Less Than 

Significant 

Impact 

No 

Impact 

Where available, the significance criteria established by the applicable air quality management district or air 

pollution control district may be relied on to make the following determinations. Would the project: 

a) Conflict with or obstruct implementation of 

the applicable air quality plan? 
  X  

b) Result in a cumulatively considerable net 

increase of any criteria pollutant for which the 

project region is non-attainment under an 

applicable Federal or State ambient air quality 

standard? 

  X  

c) Expose sensitive receptors to substantial 

pollutant concentrations? 
 X   

d) Result in other emissions (such as those 

leading to odors) adversely affecting a 

substantial number of people? 
  X  

REGULATORY SETTING 

 

The Proposed Project is located within the San Joaquin Valley Air Basin (SJVAB). The San Joaquin Valley 

Air Pollution Control District (SJVAPCD), which includes Merced County, has jurisdiction over most air 

quality matters in the Air Basin.  

 

The Federal and State governments have adopted ambient air quality standards (AAQS) for the primary 

air pollutants of concern, known as “criteria” air pollutants.  Air quality is managed by the SJVAPCD to 

attain these standards.  Primary standards are established to protect the public health; secondary 

standards are established to protect the public welfare.  The attainment statuses of the SJVAB for Merced 

County with respect to the applicable AAQS are shown in the table below. 

 

The SJVAB is considered non-attainment for ozone and particulate matter (PM10 and PM2.5), because 

the AAQS for the pollutants are sometimes exceeded. The SJVAB is Attainment/Unclassified for carbon 

monoxide, but select areas are required to abide by adopted carbon monoxide maintenance plans.  

 

The California Air Resources Board (CARB) through the Air Toxics Program is responsible for the 

identification and control of exposure to air toxics, and notification of people that are subject to significant 

air toxic exposure. A principal air toxic is diesel particulate matter, which is a component of diesel engine 

exhaust.  



20 | P a g e  

 

The SJVAPCD has adopted regulations establishing control over air pollutant emissions associated with 

land development and related activities. These regulations include: 

 

Regulation VIII (Fugitive Dust Rules) 

Rule 4101 (Visible Emissions) 

Rule 9510 (Indirect Source Review) 

 

SAN JOAQUIN VALLEY FEDERAL AND STATE  

AAQS ATTAINMENT STATUS 

 

Pollutant Designation / Classification  

 Federal Standardsa State Standardsb 

Ozone, 1-hour No Federal standardf Nonattainment / Severe 

Ozone, 8-hour Nonattainment / Extremee Nonattainment 

PM10 Attainmentc Nonattainment 

PM2.5 Nonattainmentd Nonattainment 

Carbon Monoxide Attainment / Unclassified Attainment / Unclassified 

Nitrogen Dioxide Attainment / Unclassified Attainment 

Sulfur Dioxide Attainment / Unclassified Attainment 

Lead (particulate) No designation/Classification Attainment 

Hydrogen Sulfide No Federal standard Unclassified 

Sulfates No Federal standard Attainment 

Visibility-Reducing Particles No Federal standard Unclassified 

Vinyl Chloride No Federal standard Attainment 

 
aSee 40 CFR Part 81 
bSee CCR Title 17 Sections 60200-60210 
cOn September 25, 2008, EPA redesignated the San Joaquin Valley to Attainment for the PM10 National AAQS and approved the PM10 

Maintenance Plan 
dThe Valley is designated nonattainment for the 1997 PM2.5 NAAQS. EPA designated the Valley as nonattainment for the 2006 PM2.5 on 

November 13, 2009 (effective December 14, 2009). 
eThough the Valley was initially classified as serious nonattainment for the 1997 8-hour ozone standard, EPA approved reclassification of 

the Valley to extreme nonattainment in the Federal Register on May 2010 (effective June 4, 2010). 
fEffective June 15, 2005, the EPA revoked the Federal 1-hour ozone standard, including associated designations and classifications. EPA 

has previously classified the SJV as extreme nonattainment for this standard. EPA approved the 2004 Extreme Ozone Attainment 

Demonstration Plan on March 8, 2010 (effective April 7, 2010). Many applicable requirements for extreme 1-hour ozone nonattainment 

areas continue to apply to the SJVAB. 

 

The SJVAPCD has adopted a CEQA impact analysis guideline titled Guide for Assessing and Mitigating Air 

Quality Impacts (GAMAQI). The GAMAQI is utilized in the following air quality impact analysis where 

applicable. The GAMAQI establishes impact significance thresholds for the non-attainment pollutant 

PM10 and precursors to the non-attainment pollutant ozone: reactive organic gases (ROG) and oxides of 

nitrogen (NOx).   

 

 



21 | P a g e  

 

 

Pollutant/Precursor 
Construction Emissions 

Operational Emissions 

Permitted Equipment 

and Activities 

Non-Permitted 

Equipment and 

Activities 

Emissions (tpy) Emissions (tpy) Emissions (tpy) 

CO 100 100 100 

NOx 10 10 10 

ROG 10 10 10 

SOx 27 27 27 

PM10 15 15 15 

PM2.5 15 15 15 

 

Projects that do not generate emissions in excess of these thresholds are considered to have less than 

significant air quality impacts. Furthermore, within the GAMAQI, the SJVAPCD has established and 

outlined a three-tiered approach to determining significance related to a project’s quantified ozone 

precursor emissions. Each tier or level requires a different degree of complexity of emissions calculation 

and modeling to determine air quality significance. The three tiers established to date (from least 

significant to most significant) are: Small Project Analysis Level (SPAL), Cursory Analysis Level (CAL), and 

Full Analysis Level (FAL). In each of the tiers, the SJVAPCD has pre-calculated the emissions on a large 

number and types of projects to identify the level at which they have no possibility of exceeding the 

emissions thresholds.  Table 1 of the GAMAQI, dated November 13, 2020, includes the threshold for 

single-family residential projects as resulting in less than 155 dwelling units and less than 800 Average 

Daily One-Way Trips for all fleet types (except Heavy-Heavy Duty Trucks (HHDT)).   

 

In accordance with Table 1 of the GAMAQI, the Proposed Project is considered to a be a SPAL, as it would 

not cross the SJVAPCD adopted threshold of 155 dwelling units and not exceed 800 daily trips, as indicated 

in the Traffic Technical Memorandum, dated October 18, 2023, prepared by GHD (688 daily trips).  

Because the Proposed Project qualifies as SPAL, GAMAQI notes it is reasonable to conclude that the 

Proposed Project would not exceed applicable thresholds of significance for criteria pollutants. 

 

Lastly, the California Emissions Estimator Model (CALEEMOD) was used to estimate both construction and 

operational emissions from the Proposed Project. A detailed report of the complete CALEEMOD results is 

shown in Appendix A of this document. The table below shows the maximum project construction 

emissions in a calendar year, the annual operational emissions, and the SJVAPCD Significance Thresholds.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



22 | P a g e  

 

SJVAPCD Significance Thresholds and Proposed Project Emissions 

 

  

ROG 

 

NOx 

 

CO 

 

SOx 

 

PM10 

 

PM2.5 

SJVAPCD 

Significance 

Threshold 

 

10 

 

10 

 

100 

 

27 

 

15 

 

15 

Construction 

Emissions 

0.52 1.39 1.74 <0.005 0.17 0.10 

Above 

Threshold? 

NO NO NO NO NO NO 

Operational 

Emissions 

1.23 0.87 4.89 0.01 0.84 0.30 

Above 

Threshold? 

NO NO NO NO NO NO 

 

IMPACT ANALYSIS 

a. Would the project conflict with or obstruct implementation of the applicable air quality plan? 

 

SJVAPCD has attainment plans for ozone and particulate matter, while the State has a CO attainment 

plan. As indicated in the table above, construction and operational emissions will not exceed the 

applicable SJVAPCD significance threshold for any criteria pollutant. The Proposed Project will be 

subject to SJVAPCD Rule 9510, which requires NOx and PM10 reductions from construction exhaust and 

operational emissions for projects required to comply with the rule. With the application of Rule 9510, 

project NOx and PM10 construction and operational emissions would be further reduced. Since the 

Proposed Project emissions are estimated to be well below the respective SJVAPCD significance 

thresholds, the Proposed Project will be consistent with the adopted reduction plans for ozone, 

particulate matter, and CO. Thus, the Proposed Project will have a Less Than Significant Impact.  

 

b. Would the project result in a cumulatively considerable net increase of any criteria pollutant for which 

the project region is non-attainment under an applicable Federal or State ambient air quality 

standard? 

 

The Proposed Project would not generate operational emissions above SJVAPCD established 

significance threshold. The application of SJVAPCD Rule 9510 would further reduce NOx and PM10 

operational emissions. The significance thresholds are applied to evaluate regional impacts of project-

specific emissions of air pollutants. Regional impacts of a project can be characterized in terms of total 

annual emissions of criteria pollutants and their impact on SJVAPCD’s ability to reach attainment of 

criteria pollutant standards. As such, the Proposed Project will not result in a considerable 

contribution to a significant cumulative air quality impact in the Air Basin. Consequently, the Proposed 

Project impacts related to cumulative emissions will have a Less Than Significant Impact.  

 

 



23 | P a g e  

 

c. Would the project expose sensitive receptors to substantial pollutant concentrations? 

 

Sensitive Receptors, as defined in the Guide for Assessing and Mitigating Air Quality Impacts, include 

residences, schools, parks and playgrounds, day care centers, nursing homes, and hospitals (SJVAPCD 

March 2015). Potential sensitive receptors near the Proposed Project site include the single-family 

residences to the south, Meadow View Estates Unit 1 (one), as well as visitors of Veteran’s Memorial 

Park. However, as noted, Project construction and operational emissions would be below SJVAPCD 

significance threshold for criteria pollutants. Further, implementation of applicable SJVAPCD rules and 

regulations, especially Regulation VIII and Rule 9510, would further reduce the emissions that could 

potentially reach the residential area.  

 

According to the CALEEMOD analysis for the Proposed Project, construction activities would generate 

approximately 197 pounds of exhaust PM2.5 for the estimated twelve-month construction period, or 

approximately 0.54 pounds per day. This amount is readily dissipated and likely would not be 

concentrated such that nearby sensitive receptors would be affected. Construction impacts would 

cease at the completion of the Proposed Project, and the length of time nearby properties 

experiencing exposure would be relatively short. Additionally, per the CALEEMOD analysis, Project 

operations would generate markedly less emissions. Consequently, neither Project construction nor 

Project operations would generate particulate matter emissions in quantities that would present a 

significant health risk to nearby properties. Further, assumptions utilized in the CALEEMOD analysis 

provided mitigation measures to curb the impact to surrounding receptors by limiting any heavy-duty 

diesel vehicle idling, and ensuring exposed surfaces are watered on a regular basis.  

 

Therefore, implementation of the Proposed Project will not be anticipated to result in an increase in 

exposure of sensitive receptors to localized concentrations of criteria pollutants that would exceed 

the relevant standards or thresholds established by the SJVAPCD. Thus, implementation of the 

Proposed Project will have a Less Than Significant Impact with Mitigation Incorporated. 

 

d. Would the project result in other emissions (such as those leading to odors) adversely affecting a 

substantial number of people? 

 

The Proposed Project consists of a Vesting Tentative Subdivision Map to allow for the subdivision of 

approximately 15.13 acres into seventy-three (73) single-family residential lots. As such, residential 

development typically does not generate substantial odors that would affect nearby land uses or a 

substantial number of people, nor would the Proposed Project generate substantial amounts of any 

other emissions such as TACs. The Proposed Project will have a Less Than Significant Impact related 

to odors or other emissions.    

 

 

 

 



24 | P a g e  

 

MITIGATION MEASURES: 

 

Mitigation Measure Air-1: Prior to the commencement of construction activities for each phase of 

construction, the Project Proponent shall prepare and submit a Dust Control Plan that meets all of the 

applicable requirements of APCD Rule 8021, Section 6.3. 

 

Mitigation Measure Air-2: During all construction activities, the project proponent shall implement the 

following dust control practices identified in Tables 6-2 and 6-3 of the GAMAQI (San Joaquin Valley APCD, 

2002): 

1. All disturbed areas, including storage piles, which are not being actively utilized for construction 

purposes, shall be effectively stabilized of dust emissions using water, chemical 

stabilizer/suppressant, or vegetative ground cover. 

2. All on-site unpaved roads and off-site unpaved access roads shall be effectively stabilized of dust 

emissions using water or chemical stabilizer/suppressant. 

3. All land clearing, grubbing, scraping, excavation, land leveling, grading, cut and fill, and demolition 

activities shall control fugitive dust emissions by application of water or by presoaking. 

4. When materials are transported off-site, all material shall be covered, effectively wetted to limit 

visible dust emissions, or at least six inches of freeboard space from the top of the container shall 

be maintained. 

5. All operations shall limit or expeditiously remove the accumulation of mud or dirt from adjacent 

public streets at least once every 24 hours when operations are occurring. The use of dry rotary 

brushes is expressly prohibited except where preceded or accompanied by sufficient wetting to 

limit the visible dust emissions. Use of blower devices is expressly forbidden. 

6. Following the addition of materials to, or the removal of materials from, the surface of outdoor 

storage piles, said piles shall be effectively stabilized of fugitive dust emissions utilizing sufficient 

water or chemical stabilizer/suppressant. 

7. Limit traffic speeds on unpaved roads to 5 mph; and 

Install sandbags or other erosion control measures to prevent silt runoff to public roadways from 

sites with a slope greater than one percent. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



25 | P a g e  

 

 4. BIOLOGICAL RESOURCES -- WOULD THE PROJECT: 

 

Potentially 

Significant 

Impact 

Less Than 

Significant 

with 

Mitigation 

Incorporation 

Less Than 

Significant 

Impact 

No 

Impact 

a) Have a substantial adverse effect, either 

directly or through habitat modifications, on any 

species identified as a candidate, sensitive, or 

special status species in local or regional plans, 

policies, or regulations, or by the California 

Department of Fish and Game or U.S. Fish and 

Wildlife Service? 

 X   

b) Have a substantial adverse effect on any 

riparian habitat or other sensitive natural 

community identified in local or regional plans, 

policies, regulations or by the California 

Department of Fish and Game or U.S. Fish and 

Wildlife Service? 

  X  

c) Have a substantial adverse effect on federally 

protected wetlands as defined by Section 404 of 

the Clean Water Act (including, but not limited 

to, marsh, vernal pool, coastal, etc.) through 

direct removal, filling, hydrological interruption, 

or other means? 

  X  

d) Interfere substantially with the movement of 

any native resident or migratory fish or wildlife 

species or with established native resident or 

migratory wildlife corridors, or impede the use of 

native wildlife nursery sites? 

  X  

e) Conflict with any local policies or ordinances 

protecting biological resources, such as a tree 

preservation policy or ordinance? 
  X  

f) Conflict with the provisions of an adopted 

Habitat Conservation Plan, Natural Community 

Conservation Plan, or other approved local, 

regional, or state habitat conservation plan? 

  X  

IMPACT ANALYSIS 

a. Would the project have a substantial adverse effect, either directly or through habitat modifications, 

on any species identified as a candidate, sensitive, or special status in local or regional plans, policies, 

or regulations, or by the California Department of Fish and Wildlife or the U.S. Fish and Wildlife 

Service? 

 



26 | P a g e  

 

Figure 4-7, found in the 2000 General Plan, does not identify any special-status Wildlife Species or 

Special-Status Plant Species within the Project site. Although it is unlikely that the project would not 

impact the habitat of species with special status, it cannot be completely ruled out. Therefore, the 

Proposed Project is considered to have a potentially significant impact and mitigation measures must 

be implemented. Thus, the Proposed Project will have a Less Than Significant Impact with Mitigation 

Incorporated.    

 

b. Would the project have a substantial adverse effect on any riparian habitat or other sensitive natural 

community identified in local or regional plans, policies, or regulations, or by the California Department 

of Fish and Wildlife or U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service? 

 

Riparian habitats are defined as vegetative communities that are influenced by a river or stream, 

specifically the land area that encompasses the water channel and its current or potential floodplain. 

No riparian habitat occurs on the project site or within the immediate vicinity. There are no sensitive 

natural communities occurring on or near the project site; therefore, the Proposed Project will have 

a Less Than Significant Impact.  

 

c. Would the project have a substantial adverse effect on federally protected wetlands as defined by 

Section 404 of the Clean Water Act (including, but not limited to, marsh, vernal pool, coastal, etc.) 

through direct removal, filling, hydrological interruption, or other means? 

 

There are no federally protected wetlands including, but not limited to, marsh, vernal pools, coastal 

water, etc., surrounding the project site or in close or near proximity to the Proposed Project. 

Therefore, the Proposed Project will have a Less Than Significant No Impact on federally protected 

wetlands.  

 

d. Would the project interfere substantially with the movement of any native resident or migratory fish 

or wildlife species or with established native residents or migratory wildlife corridors, or impede the 

use of native wildlife nursery sites? 

 

Wildlife movement corridors are routes that provide shelter and sufficient food supplies to support 

regular movement of wildlife species. A movement corridor is a continuous geographic extent of 

habitat that either spatially or functionally links ecosystems across fragmented, or otherwise 

inhospitable, landscapes. Faunal movement may include seasonal or migration movement, life cycle 

links, species dispersal, re-colonization of an area, and movement in response to external pressures. 

Movement corridors typically include riparian habitats, ridgelines, and ravines, as well as other 

contiguous expanses of natural habitats.  

 

The Project site and surrounding area does not occur within a known migration route, significant 

wildlife corridor, or linkage area as identified in the Recovery Plan for Upland Species in the San 

Joaquin Valley or by the Essential Habitat Connectivity Project. Thus, the project will not restrict, 

eliminate, or significantly alter wildlife movement corridor, or impede the use of native wildlife 

nursery sites. Therefore, the Proposed Project will have a Less Than Significant Impact.  



27 | P a g e  

 

 

e. Would the project conflict with any local policies or ordinances protecting biological resources, such 

as a tree preservation policy or ordinance? 

 

The Project site is located within the City of Atwater boundaries and must comply with provisions 

contained in the City of Atwater General Plan. The Proposed Project will not conflict with any local 

policies or ordinances protecting biological resources that the project would conflict with, and 

implementation of the Proposed Project will have a Less Than Significant Impact related to policies 

or ordinances protecting biological resources.  

 

f. Would the project conflict with the provisions of an adopted Habitat Conservation Plan, Natural 

Community Conservation Plan, or other approved local, regional, or state habitat conservation plan? 

 

The Proposed Project will not conflict with any adopted Habitat Conservation Plan, Natural 

Conservation Community Plan, or other approval local, regional, or state Habitat Conservation Plan. 

The Proposed Project will have a Less Than Significant Impact.  

 

MITIGATION MEASURES: 

The following mitigation measure shall be incorporated into the Proposed Project: 

Mitigation Measure Bio-1: Within fourteen (14) days of the start of the Proposed Project activities a pre-

activity survey shall be conducted by a qualified biologist knowledgeable in the identification of these 

species.   



28 | P a g e  

 

5. CULTURAL RESOURCES -- Would the project: 

 

Potentially 

Significant 

Impact 

Less Than 

Significant 

with 

Mitigation 

Incorporation 

Less Than 

Significant 

Impact 

No 

Impact 

a) Cause a substantial adverse change in the 

significance of a historical resource as defined in 

'15064.5? 
  X  

b) Cause a substantial adverse change in the 

significance of an archaeological resource 

pursuant to '15064.5? 
  X  

c) Disturb any human remains, including those 

interred outside of formal cemeteries? 
  X  

 

IMPACT ANALYSIS 

 

The following discussion is an analysis for criteria (a) and (b): 

a. Would the project cause a substantial adverse change in the significance of a historical resource as 

defined in §15064.5? 

b. Would the project cause a substantial adverse change in the significance of an archaeological resource 

as defined in §15064.5? 

 

Implementation Program CO-9.a of the city of Atwater’s 2000 General Plan Goal CO-9 to protect and 

enhance historical and culturally significant resources applies the following standard condition to 

development projects to minimize any impact on historical resources: If a previously unknown 

archaeological site is uncovered during the course of development, all development activity in the 

vicinity of the project site shall cease until a qualified archaeologist completes an investigation. The 

archaeologist shall submit a report to the City that includes a determination of the significance of the 

site and recommendations on its disposition. Additional studies may include avoidance, testing, and 

evaluation or data recovery excavation. Application of the mitigation measures below would ensure 

that the Proposed Project would not cause a substantial adverse change in the significance of a 

historical resource. Therefore, the Proposed Project will have a Less Than Significant Impact. 

 

c. Would the project disturb any human remains, including those interred outside of dedicated 

cemeteries? 

 

Under CEQA, human remains are protected under the definition of archaeological materials as being 

“any evidence of human activity.” Public Resources Code section 5097.98 has specific stop-work and 

notification procedures to follow in the event that human remains are inadvertently discovered during 

project implementation. Additionally, CO-9.a of the 2000 General Plan Environmental Impact Report, 

provides that development projects shall retain the services of a qualified archaeologist to determine 



29 | P a g e  

 

the presence and extent of any historic, archaeological, or paleontological resources. The 

recommendations of said studies shall be incorporated into development plans. Therefore, the 

Proposed Project will have Less Than Significant Impact.  

 

MITIGATION MEASURES: 

Mitigation is not required for this topic. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



30 | P a g e  

 

6. ENERGY -- Would the project: 

 

Potentially 

Significant 

Impact 

Less Than 

Significant 

with 

Mitigation 

Incorporation 

Less Than 

Significant 

Impact 

No 

Impact 

a) Result in potentially significant environmental 

impact due to wasteful, inefficient, or 

unnecessary consumption of energy resources, 

during project construction or operation? 

  X  

b) Conflict with or obstruct a State or local plan 

for renewable energy or energy efficiency? 
  X  

IMPACT ANALYSIS 

The following discussion is an analysis for criteria (a) and (b): 

a. Would the project result in potentially significant environmental impact due to wasteful, inefficient, 

or unnecessary consumption of energy resources, during project construction or operation; and, 

b. Would the project conflict with or obstruct a State or local plan for renewable energy or energy 

efficiency? 

 

While the Proposed Project consists of a Vesting Tentative Subdivision Map to allow for the 

subdivision of approximately 15.13 acres into seventy-three (73) residential lots, it can be assumed 

that future physical development and build out of the residential sites will occur. Thus, the current 

Proposed Project and future development would consume energy primarily in one of two ways: first, 

future construction activities would consume energy via various heavy equipment, machines, trucks, 

and worker traffic; and, secondly, future residential uses would cause long-term energy consumption 

from electricity and gas consumption, energy used for water conveyance, and motor vehicle 

operations to and from the project site, etc.  

 

To combat potentially significant environmental impacts due to inefficient and wasteful use of 

energy resources, California has implemented numerous energy efficiency and conservation 

programs that result in substantial energy savings. The State has adopted comprehensive energy 

efficiency standards as part of its Building Standards Code, California Codes of Regulations, Title 24.  

 

The Proposed Project would be required to comply with the building energy efficiency standards of 

California Code of Regulations Title 24, Part 6, also known as the California Energy Code. Compliance 

with these standards would reduce energy consumption associated with the Project operations, 

although reductions from compliance cannot be readily quantified at this time. Overall, project 

construction and operations would not consume energy resources in a manner considered wasteful, 

inefficient, or unnecessary; the project would also not conflict or obstruct any state or local plans for 

renewable energy efficiency. Thus, the Proposed Project would have a Less Than Significant Impact 

related to energy consumption.  

 



31 | P a g e  

 

MITIGATION MEASURES: 

Mitigation is not required for this topic. 



32 | P a g e  

 

7. GEOLOGY AND SOILS -- WOULD THE PROJECT: 

 

Potentially 

Significant 

Impact 

Less Than 

Significant 

with 

Mitigation 

Less Than 

Significant 

Impact 

No 

Impact 

a) Directly or indirectly cause potential 

substantial adverse effects, including the risk of 

loss, injury, or death involving: 
    

i) Rupture of a known earthquake fault, as 

delineated on the most recent Alquist-Priolo 

Earthquake Fault Zoning Map issued by the 

State Geologist for the area or based on 

other substantial evidence of a known fault? 

Refer to Division of Mines and Geology 

Special Publication 42. 

  X  

ii) Strong seismic ground shaking?   X  

iii) Seismic-related ground failure, including 

liquefaction? 
  X  

iv) Landslides?   X  

b) Result in substantial soil erosion or the loss of 

topsoil? 
  X  

c) Be located on a geologic unit or soil that is 

unstable, or that would become unstable as a 

result of the project, and potentially result in on 

or off-site landslide, lateral spreading, 

subsidence, liquefaction or collapse? 

  X  

d) Be located on expansive soil, as defined in 

Table 18-1-B of the Uniform Building Code 

(1994), creating substantial risks to life or 

property? 

  X  

e) Have soils incapable of adequately supporting 

the use of septic tanks or alternative waste water 

disposal systems where sewers are not available 

for the disposal of waste water? 

   X 

f) Directly or indirectly destroy a unique 

paleontological resource or site or unique 

geologic feature? 
  X  

 

IMPACT ANALYSIS 

The following discussion is an analysis for criteria (a.1, a.2, a.3): 



33 | P a g e  

 

a.1. Would the project directly or indirectly cause potential substantial adverse effects, including the risk 

of loss, injury, or death involving rupture of a known earthquake, as delineated on the most recent 

Alquist-Priolo Earthquake Fault Zoning Map issued by the State Geologist for the area or based on 

other substantial evidence of a known fault? 

a.2. Would the project directly or indirectly cause potential substantial adverse effects, including the risk 

of loss, injury, or death involving strong seismic ground shaking? 

a.3. Would the project directly or indirectly cause potential substantial adverse effects, including the risk 

of loss, injury, or death involving seismic-related ground failure, including liquefaction? 

 

 The Proposed Project is not located within the current Alquist-Priolo Earthquake Fault Zone and there 

are no known active faults located in the immediate area. The nearest Alquist-Priolo Special Studies 

Zone is the Ortigalita Fault Zone located in the southwestern portion of Merced County, 

approximately thirty-eight miles from the city of Atwater. The last known activity from the Ortigalita 

Fault was approximately more than 10,000 years ago.    

 

 Although there are no specific liquefaction hazard areas identified in Merced County, the potential 

for liquefaction is recognized in the Atwater General Plan Environmental Impact Report (EIR). 

However, the site does not have high potential for liquefaction. Liquefaction typically requires a 

significant sudden decrease of shearing resistance in cohesionless oils and a sudden increase in water 

pressure, which is typically associated with an earthquake of high magnitude. The soils in the project 

site, Atwater loamy sand and Atwater sand, are considered to have low potential for liquefaction. 

Based on these conditions, the risk for ground failure during a strong earthquake ground shaking is 

low. Therefore, the Proposed Project will have a Less Than Significant Impact.  

 

a.4. Would the project directly or indirectly cause potential substantial adverse effects, including the risk 

of loss, injury, or death involving landslides? 

 

 The City of Atwater lies within the San Joaquin Valley. The Valley is characterized by predominantly 

flat terrain with few elevated features. Elevations within the City vary little, with the range of elevation 

going from 145-feet and 170-feet above sea level, but the official elevation of the city is 150-feet 

above sea level. Given the flat terrain of the area, the construction, operation, and use of the project 

site would not provoke a landslide to occur. The risk of damage or loss due to landslides is low; thus, 

the Proposed Project will have a Less Than Significant Impact.  

 

b. Would the project result in substantial soil erosion or the loss of topsoil? 

 

Project proponents will be required to submit a notice of Intent and Storm Water Pollution Prevention 

Plan (SWPPP) to the Regional Water Quality Board to obtain a National Pollutant Discharge 

Elimination System (NPDES) General Construction Permit prior to construction. The SWPPP will 

include Best Management Practices (BMPs) to control erosion and siltation on the site in order to 

prevent water quality degradation. Due to the relatively flat nature of the project site, the BMPs 

provided via the SWPPP, and the NPDES, the Proposed Project will result in a Less Than Significant 

Impact.  



34 | P a g e  

 

 

c. Would the project be located on a geologic unit or soil that is unstable as a result of the project, and 

potentially result in on or off-site landslide, lateral spreading, subsidence, liquefaction, or collapse? 

 

Lateral spreading is a form of horizontal displacement of soil toward an open channel which can result 

from either the slump of low cohesion and unconsolidated material. More commonly, lateral 

spreading can result from liquefaction of either the soil layer or a subsurface layer underlying soil 

material on a slope, resulting in gravitationally driven movement.  

 

The Project site and surrounding areas are in a relatively topographically flat area, and it is highly 

unlikely that would result in a landslide of any measure.  Lateral spreading, subsidence, and collapse 

are not common in Merced County.  Since the Proposed Project site is not located on a geological unit 

or soil that is unstable, or that would become unstable as a result of the project, there is little to no 

potential for result in on- or off-site landslide, lateral spreading, subsidence, liquefaction or collapse. 

Therefore, under this threshold, the Proposed Project will have a Less Than Significant Impact.  

 

d. Would the project be located on expansive soil, as defined in Table 1-B of the Uniform Building Code, 

creating substantial risks to life or property? 

 

The Project site is not located in an area known for unstable soils, since the city of Atwater’s 2000 

General Plan does not identify the project area as a high shrink-well potential (i.e., expansive soils). 

Further, volume change is influenced by the quantity of moisture, the kind and amount of clay in the 

soil, and the original porosity of the soil. Per the U.S. Department of Agriculture, Natural Resources 

Conservation Services Web Soil Survey*, soil identified on the project site is Atwater loamy sand; this 

type of soil has a low level of plasticity and expansion potential when subjected to fluctuations in 

moisture and a low potential for liquefaction or ground failure. As a result of the soil conditions found 

on the project site, risk to life or property as a consequence of expansive soils are not substantial and 

the impact of expansive soil on future Proposed Project site development will be a Less Than 

Significant Impact.  

 

e. Would the project have soils incapable of adequately supporting the use of septic tanks or alternative 

wastewater disposal systems where sewers are not available for the disposal of wastewater? 

 

The Proposed Project will not be installing septic tanks or an alternative wastewater disposal system; 

rather, the Proposed Project will be served by sewer infrastructure. Therefore, the Proposed Project 

will have No Impact.  

 

f. Would the project directly or indirectly destroy a unique paleontological resource or site or unique 

geologic feature? 

 

 

* https://websoilsurvey.nrcs.usda.gov/app/WebSoilSurvey.aspx 



35 | P a g e  

 

Although it is unlikely that a paleontological resource or resources would be encountered during the 

buildout of the Proposed Project, some construction activities have the potential to disturb and thus 

directly or indirectly damage these resources. Therefore, the Proposed Project will have a Less Than 

Significant Impact.  

 

MITIGATION MEASURES: 

Mitigation is not required for this topic. 

  

 

 

   

 

 

  



 

36 | P a g e  

 

8. GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS -- WOULD THE PROJECT: 

 

Potentially 

Significant 

Impact 

Less Than 

Significant 

with 

Mitigation 

Less Than 

Significant 

Impact 

No 

Impact 

a) Generate greenhouse gas emissions, either 

directly or indirectly, that may have a significant 

impact on the environment? 
  X  

b) Conflict with an applicable plan, policy or 

regulation adopted for the purpose of reducing 

the emissions of greenhouse gases? 
  X  

REGULATORY SETTING: 

California Air Resources Board (CARB) is responsible for the coordination and oversight of state and local 

air pollution control programs in California.  California has numerous regulations aimed at reducing the 

State’s GHG emissions.  These initiatives are summarized below: 

 

Assembly Bill 1943 

 

Assembly Bill (AB) 1943 (2002), California’s Advanced Clean Cars program (referred to as “Pavley”), 

requires CARB to develop and adopt regulations to achieve “the maximum feasible and cost-effective 

reduction of GHG emissions from motor vehicles.”  On June 30, 2009, U.S. EPA granted the waiver of Clean 

Air Act preemption to California for its greenhouse gas emission standards for motor vehicles beginning 

with the 2009 model year. Pavley I took effect for model years starting in 2009 to 2016 and Pavley II, which 

is now referred to as “LEV (Low Emission Vehicle) III GHG” will cover 2017 to 2025.  Fleet average emission 

standards would reach 22 percent reduction from 2009 levels by 2012 and 30 percent by 2016.  The 

Advanced Clean Cars program coordinates the goals of the Low Emission Vehicles (LEV), Zero Emissions 

Vehicles (ZEV), and Clean Fuels Outlet programs and would provide major reductions in GHG emissions.  

By 2025, when rules will be fully implemented, new automobiles will emit 34 percent fewer GHGs and 75 

percent fewer smog-forming emissions from their model year 2016 levels. 

 

Executive Order S-3-05 

 

In 2005, the governor issued Executive Order (EO) S-3-05, establishing statewide GHG emissions reduction 

targets.  EO S-3-05 provides that by 2010, emissions shall be reduced to 2000 levels; by 2020, emissions 

shall be reduced to 1990 levels; and by 2050, emissions shall be reduced to 80 percent below 1990 levels 

(California Environmental Protection Agency [CalEPA]).  In response to EO S-3-05, CalEPA created the 

Climate Action Team (CAT), which in March 2006 published the Climate Action Team Report (the “2006 

CAT Report”) (CalEPA 2006).  The 2006 CAT Report identified a recommended list of strategies that the 

state could pursue to reduce GHG emissions.  These are strategies that could be implemented by various 

state agencies to ensure that the emission reduction targets in EO S-3-05 are met and can be met with 

existing authority of the state agencies.  The strategies include the reduction of passenger and light duty 



37 | P a g e  

 

truck emissions, the reduction of idling times for diesel trucks, an overhaul of shipping 

technology/infrastructure, increased use of alternative fuels, increased recycling, and landfill methane 

capture, etc.  In April 2015 the governor issued EO B-30-15, calling for a new target of 40 percent below 

1990 levels by 2030. 

 

Assembly Bill 32 

 

California’s major initiative for reducing GHG emissions is outlined in Assembly Bill 32 (AB 32), the 

“California Global Warming Solutions Act of 2006,” signed into law in 2006.  AB 32 codifies the statewide 

goal of reducing GHG emissions to 1990 levels by 2020 (essentially a 15 percent reduction below 2005 

emission levels; the same requirement as under S-3-05), and requires CARB to prepare a Scoping Plan that 

outlines the main State strategies for reducing GHGs to meet the 2020 deadline.  In addition, AB 32 

requires CARB to adopt regulations to require reporting and verification of statewide GHG emissions.  

California is on track to meet or exceed the current target of reducing GHG emission to 1990 levels by 

2020, as established by AB 32. 

 

Senate Bill 97 

 

Senate Bill (SB) 97, signed in August 2007, acknowledges that climate change is an environmental issue 

that requires analysis in California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) documents.  In March 2010, the 

California Resources Agency (Resources Agency) adopted amendments to the State CEQA Guidelines for 

the feasible mitigation of GHG emissions or the effects of GHG emissions.  The adopted guidelines give 

lead agencies the discretion to set quantitative or qualitative thresholds for the assessment and mitigation 

of GHGs and climate change impacts. 

  

CARB Resolution 07-54 

 

CARB Resolution 07-54 establishes 25,000 MT of GHG emissions as the threshold for identifying the largest 

stationary emission sources in California for purposes of requiring the annual reporting of emissions.  This 

threshold is just over 0.005 percent of California’s total inventory of GHG emissions for 2004. 

 

Senate Bill 375 

 

Senate Bill (SB) 375, signed into law in September 2008, builds on AB 32 by requiring CARB to develop 

regional GHG reduction targets to be achieved from the automobile and light truck sectors for 2020 and 

2035; these regional targets will help achieve the goals of AB 32 and the Scoping Plan through changed 

land use patterns and improved transportation systems.  The Metropolitan Transportation Commission 

(MTC) and the Association of Bay Area Governments (ABAG) adopted a Sustainable Community Strategies 

in July 2013 that meets greenhouse gas reduction targets.  The Plan Bay Area is the SCS document for the 

Bay Area, which is an integrated long-range plan that discusses climate protection, housing, healthy and 

safe communities, open space and agricultural preservation, equitable access, economic vitality, and 

transportation system effectiveness within the San Francisco Bay Area.  The document is updated every 

four years and most recently, the update, Plan Bay Area 2040 was adopted on July 26, 2017. 



38 | P a g e  

 

 

Executive Order S-13-08 

 

Executive Order S-13-08 indicates that “climate change in California during the next century is expected 

to shift precipitation patterns, accelerate sea level rise and increase temperatures, thereby posing a 

serious threat to California’s economy, to the health and welfare of tis population and to its natural 

resources.”  Pursuant to the requirements in the order, the 2009 California Climate Adaptation Strategy 

(California Natural Resources Agency 2009) was adopted, which is the “…first statewide, multi-sector, 

region-specific, and information-based climate change adaption strategy in the United States.”  Objectives 

include analyzing risks of climate change in California, identifying and exploring strategies to adapt to 

climate change, and specifying a direction for future research. 

 

Senate Bill 2X 

 

In April 2011, the governor signed SB2X requiring California to generate 33 percent of its electricity from 

renewable energy by 2020. 

 

Senate Bill 32 

 

On September 8, 2016, the governor signed Senate Bill 32 (SB 32) into law, which requires the State to 

further reduce GHGs to 40 percent below 1990 levels by 2030.  SB 32 is an extension of AB 32.  The other 

provisions of AB 32 remain unchanged.  CARB adopted the 2017 Climate Change Scoping Plan Update on 

December 14, 2017 for achieving California’s 2030 greenhouse gas target. 

 

IMPACT ANALYSIS 

The following discussion is an analysis for criteria (a) and (b): 

a. Would the project generate GHG emissions, either directly or indirectly, that may have a significant 

impact on the environment? 

b. Would the project conflict with any applicable plan, policy, or regulation adopted for the purpose of 

reducing the emissions of greenhouse gases? 

 

The Proposed Project consists of a seventy-three (73) lot residential subdivision.  A consequence of 

the project will be the generation of short-term and long-term Greenhouse Gas emissions. In the 

short-term, construction related activities will be the main driver of GHG emissions through site 

preparation, grading, heavy-duty construction vehicles, equipment hauling, and motor vehicles going 

to and from the project site. The level of emissions resulting from construction activities will vary day-

to-day dependent on the level of intensity each day.  

 

The Proposed Project is consistent with the City of Atwater’s General Plan which ensures compliance 

with the Greenhouse Gas emission reduction strategies employed by the City of Atwater, which in 

turn, support City-wide efforts to meet statewide GHG emission reduction goals consistent with 



39 | P a g e  

 

Assembly Bill (AB) 32, the Global Warming Solutions Act. Therefore, the Proposed Project will have a 

Less Than Significant Impact.  

 

MITIGATION MEASURES: 

Mitigation is not required for this topic. 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



40 | P a g e  

 

9. HAZARDS AND HAZARDOUS MATERIALS -- WOULD THE PROJECT: 

 

Potentially 

Significant 

Impact 

Less Than 

Significant 

with 

Mitigation 

Incorporation 

Less Than 

Significant 

Impact 

No 

Impact 

a) Create a significant hazard to the public or the 

environment through the routine transport, use, 

or disposal of hazardous materials? 
  X  

b) Create a significant hazard to the public or the 

environment through reasonably foreseeable 

upset and accident conditions involving the 

release of hazardous materials into the 

environment? 

  X  

c) Emit hazardous emissions or handle hazardous 

or acutely hazardous materials, substances, or 

waste within one-quarter mile of an existing or 

proposed school? 

   X 

d) Be located on a site which is included on a list 

of hazardous materials sites compiled pursuant to 

Government Code Section 65962.5 and, as a 

result, would it create a significant hazard to the 

public or the environment? 

  X  

e) For a project located within an airport land use 

plan or, where such a plan has not been adopted, 

within two miles of a public airport or public use 

airport, would the project result in a safety hazard 

for people residing or working in the project area? 

  X  

f) Impair implementation of or physically interfere 

with an adopted emergency response plan or 

emergency evacuation plan? 
  X  

g) Expose people or structures, either directly or 

indirectly, to a significant risk of loss, injury, or 

death involving wildland fires? 
  X  

IMPACT ANALYSIS 

The following discussion is an analysis for criteria (a) and (b): 

a. Would the project create a significant hazard to the public or the environment through the routine 

transport, use, or disposal of hazardous materials? 

b. Would the project create a significant hazard to the public or the environment through reasonably 

foreseeable upset and accident conditions involving the release of hazardous materials into the 

environment? 



41 | P a g e  

 

 

The Proposed Project consists of a seventy-three (73) lot residential subdivision. The residential 

development in and of itself will not pose a significant hazard to the public or environment through 

the routine transport, use or disposal of hazardous materials. Typical construction materials would be 

utilized during development. Construction may include the use of hazardous materials given that 

construction activities involve the use of heavy equipment, which uses marginal amounts of oils and 

fuels and other potentially flammable substances. The level of risk associated with the accidental 

release of hazardous substances is not considered significant due to the small volume and low 

concentration of hazardous materials used during construction. The project proponent would be 

required to implement standard construction controls and safety procedures that would avoid and 

minimize the potential for accidental release of such substances into the environment.  

 

Should the release of hazardous materials occur, or if hazardous materials need to be used, 

transported, or disposed of, the Project Proponent must comply with all applicable Federal, State, and 

local policies and regulations related to hazardous materials. Therefore, the Proposed Project will 

have a Less Than Significant Impact.    

 

c. Would the project emit hazardous emissions or handle hazardous or acutely hazardous materials, 

substances, or waste within 0.25 mile of an existing or proposed school? 

 

No existing or proposed schools have been identified within one-quarter mile of the project site. The 

nearest school to the project site is Bellevue Elementary School, located at 1020 East Bellevue Road, 

which is approximately one (1) half mile from the project site. Therefore, under this threshold the 

project will have No Impact.  

 

d. Would the project be located on a site included on a list of hazardous materials sites compiled pursuant 

to Government Code Section 65962.5 and, as a result, would it create a significant hazard to the public 

or the environment? 

 

The Project is not located on a site which is included on a list of hazardous materials sites compiled 

pursuant to California Government Code §65962.5. A review of the State hazardous material site 

databases* found one record near the project site: Castle Air Force Base – BLDG #3372; case opened 

1/1/1990 and closed 1/9/1997.  

 

An online search was also conducted on the Department of Toxic Substances Control (DTSC) website. 

It was discovered that there were no hazardous or toxic sites in the vicinity of the project. There are 

only two facilities on the Cortese List within Merced County; one site sits in the city of Dos Palos and 

the other is located in the city of Gustine. As a result, the Proposed Project would not create a hazard 

to the public or the environment; therefore, the Proposed Project will have a Less Than Significant 

Impact.  

 

 

* https://geotracker.waterboards.ca.gov/profile_report.asp?global_id=T0609900380 



42 | P a g e  

 

e. For a project located within an airport land use plan, or where such a plan has not been adopted, 

within two miles of a public airport or public use airport, would the project result in a safety hazard for 

people residing or working in the project area? 

 

In order to determine if the Proposed Project is within an airport land use plan, the Merced County 

Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan (MCALUCP, 2012) was consulted. The Project site is within two 

(2) miles of the Merced County Castle Airport, but the Proposed Project sits just outside of Zone D 

and as such is not located within the boundaries of an airport land use plan. As a result, the Proposed 

Project will have a Less Than Significant Impact.  

 
f. Would the project impair implementation of or physically interfere with an adopted emergency 

response plan or emergency evacuation plan? 

 

Per the City’s 2000 General Plan, response procedures are outlined in the City of Atwater’s Emergency 

Plan. The Emergency Plan outlines the responsibilities for the management of hazards and the 

management of incidents involving hazardous materials. Responsibility for day-to-day emergencies 

response falls to the Atwater Police and Atwater Fire Departments. In the event of larger, more 

extreme emergencies, other city departments may become involved, along with state, county, and 

private agencies as needed.  

 

The public roadway system, owned and maintained by the city, is critical for providing emergency 

access and evacuation to and through the city. The Proposed Project would not prevent or inhibit the 

ability of local roadways to continue to accommodate emergency response and evacuation activities. 

Therefore, the Proposed Project will have a Less Than Significant Impact on emergency response and 

evacuation plans.  

 

g. Would the project expose people or structures to a significant risk of loss, injury, or death involving 

wildland fires, including where wildlands are adjacent to urbanized areas or where residences are 

intermixed with wildlands? 

 

The Project site is currently vacant land with varied uses neighboring the property including single-

family residential properties to the south and commercial uses to the north; while the project site is 

vacant, undeveloped land, the neighboring properties are developed.   

 

Per the city of Atwater’s 2000 General Plan, grass and brush lands are the most likely places for 

wildland fires to occur within Merced County; because the city of Atwater’s relatively distant location 

to these areas, the risk of loss, injury, or death involving wildland fires is low.  

 

Although the Proposed Project would not create a huge risk of wildland fire, the Project will add 

seventy-three (73) new single-family dwellings. The currently undeveloped site would be developed 

and would increase demand for fire protection services. The implementation of the mitigation 



43 | P a g e  

 

measures from the General Plan EIR would reduce the overall impact to a Less Than Significant 

Impact. 

 

MITIGATION MEASURES: 

Mitigation is not required for this topic. 

 

  



44 | P a g e  

 

10. HYDROLOGY AND WATER QUALITY -- Would the project: 

 

Potentially 

Significant 

Impact 

Less Than 

Significant 

with 

Mitigation 

Incorporation 

Less Than 

Significant 

Impact 

No 

Impact 

a) Violate any water quality standards or waste 

discharge requirements or otherwise 

substantially degrade surface or groundwater 

quality? 

  X  

b) Substantially decrease groundwater supplies 

or interfere substantially with groundwater 

recharge such that the project may impede 

sustainable groundwater management of the 

basin? 

  X  

c) Substantially alter the existing drainage 

pattern of the site or area, including through the 

alteration of the course of a stream or river or 

through the addition of impervious surfaces, in a 

manner which would: 

  X  

i) Result in substantial on- or offsite erosion 

or siltation; 
  X  

ii) Substantially increase the rate or amount 

of surface runoff in a manner which would 

result in flooding on- or offsite; 
  X  

iii) Create or contribute runoff water which 

would exceed the capacity of existing or 

planned stormwater drainage systems or 

provide substantial additional sources of 

polluted runoff; or 

  X  

iv) Impede or redirect flood flows?   X  

d) In flood hazard, tsunami, or seiche zones, risk 

release of pollutants due to project inundation? 
  X  

e) Conflict with or obstruct implementation of a 

water quality control plan or sustainable 

groundwater management plan? 
  X  

 



45 | P a g e  

 

 

 

IMPACT ANALYSIS 

a. Would the project violate any water quality standards or waste discharge requirements or otherwise 

substantially degrade surface or groundwater quality? 

 

The Proposed Project would be required to meet all water quality standards and requirements. During 

construction related activities, specific erosion control and surface water protection methods for each 

construction activity would be implemented on the project site. The type and number of measures 

implemented would be based upon location specific characteristics (slope, soil type, weather 

conditions, etc.). Additionally, new development is required to adopt Best Management Practices 

(BMPs) to minimize grading and control runoff, which pollutes storm drains and can eventually lead 

to the pollution of groundwater sources. Thus, the Proposed Project will have a Less Than Significant 

Impact.  

 

b. Would the project substantially decrease groundwater supplies or interfere substantially with 

groundwater recharge such that the project may impede sustainable groundwater management of 

the basin? 

 

 



46 | P a g e  

 

 

 

The City of Atwater extracts its water supply from groundwater aquifers via a series of wells scattered 

throughout the city. The City’s existing system facilities include nine wells (eight are active and one is 

drilled but not equipped) with a total rated pumping capacity of approximately 15,000 Gallons Per 

Minute (GPM). Atwater is located in the San Joaquin River Hydrologic Region (groundwater basin) and 

extracts its groundwater from the Merced Subbasin, Basin Number 5-22.04. The Merced Subbasin is 

a high priority basin and is critically over drafted. Table 4-4 illustrates the projected demand for Single-

Family Residential properties; demand for water is projected to increase for each interval. 

 

The city of Atwater is a member of the Merced-Irrigation-Urban GSA (MIUGSA – one of three GSAs 

within the Merced Subbasin region) and is made up of agencies including Merced Irrigation District, 

City of Merced, City of Atwater, City of Livingston, Le Grand Community Services District, Planada 

Community Services District, and Winton Water and Sanitary District. With the adoption of the 

Merced Subbasin GSP, the participating GSAs adopted a goal of achieving sustainable groundwater 

management on a long-term average basis by increasing recharge and/or reducing groundwater 

pumping, while avoiding undesirable results. This goal will be achieved by allocating a portion of the 

estimated Merced Subbasin sustainable yield to each of the three participating GSAs and coordinating 

the implementation of programs and projects to increase both direct and in-lieu groundwater 

recharge which will in turn increase the groundwater available. Separately, the city of Atwater 

employs a number of Demand Management Measures (DMMs) that promote conservation and 

reduce the water supply demand. 

 

Therefore, any direct impacts of the Proposed Project will be properly mitigated so as to have a Less 

Than Significant Impact.  

 



47 | P a g e  

 

c. Would the project substantially alter the existing drainage pattern of the site or area, including 

through the alteration of the course of a stream or river or through the addition of impervious surfaces, 

in a manner which would: 

 

i. Result in substantial on- or offsite erosion or siltation; 

ii. Substantially increase the rate or amount of surface runoff in a manner which would result in 

flooding on- or offsite; 

iii. Create or contribute runoff water which would exceed the capacity of existing or planned 

stormwater drainage systems or provide substantial additional sources of polluted runoff; or  

iv. Impede or redirect flood flows? 

 

The Proposed Project will not alter the course of a stream or river, as it is not located near a stream 

or river. The Project site is located on a site that is currently vacant and unimproved. Compliance with 

construction and operation-phase storm water requirements would ensure that development of the 

Proposed Project would not result in substantial erosion or siltation on or off site. Therefore, the 

Proposed Project will have a Less Than Significant Impact.   

 

d. Would the project be located in flood hazard, tsunami, or seiche zones, or risk release of pollutants 

due to project inundation? 

 

The Proposed Project is not located adjacent to the ocean or other large body of water; the city of 

Atwater is not at risk from tsunami due to its inland location. The Project site, therefore, is not 

susceptible to flooding or seiches, and as a result, the Proposed Project would not result in a risk of 

pollutant release during a flood hazard, tsunami or seiche event. Therefore, the Proposed Project will 

have a Less Than Significant Impact.  

 

e. Would the project conflict with or obstruct implementation of a water quality control plan or 

sustainable groundwater management plan? 

 

The Project site is provided domestic water from the city of Atwater. The City of Atwater is located 

within the Merced Groundwater Basin, which is governed by three Groundwater Sustainability 

Agencies (GSAs): the Merced Irrigation-Urban GSA (MIUGSA), the Merced Subbasin GSA, and the 

Turner Island Water District GSA. The Merced Subbasin GSP was adopted by the MIUGSA in December 

2019. The Proposed Project will be required to comply with the Groundwater Sustainability Plan. 

Therefore, the Proposed Project will have a Less Than Significant Impact.  

 

MITIGATION MEASURES: 

Mitigation is not required for this topic. 

 

 

 

 



48 | P a g e  

 

11. LAND USE AND PLANNING -- Would the project: 

 

Potentially 

Significant 

Impact 

Less Than 

Significant 

with 

Mitigation 

Incorporation 

Less Than 

Significant 

Impact 

No 

Impact 

a) Physically divide an established community?    X 

b) Cause a significant environmental impact due 

to a conflict with any land use plan, policy, or 

regulation adopted for the purpose of avoiding 

or mitigating an environmental effect? 

  X  

 

IMPACT ANALYSIS 

a. Would the project physically divide an established community? 

 

The Proposed Project would physically connect an established neighborhood, the Meadowview Unit 

Phase number one (1) subdivision, to the Proposed Silver Creek Crossing Subdivision. The Proposed 

Vesting Tentative Subdivision Map would have no impact because the Proposed Project would be a 

continuation of an adjoining neighborhood rather than a division of a community. No Impact. 

 

b. Would the project cause a significant environmental impact due to a conflict with any land use plan, 

policy, or regulation adopted for the purpose of avoiding or mitigating an environmental effect? 

 

The Proposed Project is consistent with the City of Atwater’s Zoning and Municipal Code along with 

its’ General Plan land use designation. The Proposed Project is within a Planned Development (P-D 

29) Zone and has a General Plan land use designation of Low-Density Residential (LDR). Further, any 

impact to the environment which results from the Proposed Project is subject to applicable mitigation, 

and is subject to local, state, and federal regulations. These measures ensure that if a conflict with 

any land use plan, policy, or regulation were to occur, the impact would be marginal. Therefore, the 

Proposed Project will have a Less Than Significant Impact.  

MITIGATION MEASURES: 

Mitigation is not required for this topic. 

 

 

 

 



49 | P a g e  

 

12. MINERAL RESOURCES -- WOULD THE PROJECT RESULT IN: 

 

Potentially 

Significant 

Impact 

Less Than 

Significant 

with 

Mitigation 

Incorporation 

Less Than 

Significant 

Impact 

No 

Impact 

a) Result in the loss of availability of a known 

mineral resource that would be of value to the 

region and the residents of the state? 
   X 

b) Result in the loss of availability of a locally-

important mineral resource recovery site 

delineated on a local general plan, specific plan 

or other land use plan? 

   X 

IMPACT ANALYSIS 

The following discussion is an analysis for criteria (a) and (b): 

a. Would the project result in the loss of availability of a known mineral resource that would be of value 

to the region and the residents of the state? 

b. Would the project result in the loss of availability of a locally important mineral resource recovery site 

delineated on a local general plan, specific plan, or other land use plan? 

 

The Proposed Project site is absent of any mineral extraction activities nor are there any mineral 

extraction activities included in the Proposed Project. Public Resources Code Section 2762(a) requires 

that local governments establish mineral resource management policies within their General Plan if 

any mineral resources of statewide or regional significance are designated within their jurisdiction. 

According to the City of Atwater’s 2000 General Plan, no such areas have been designated or 

established within the City of Atwater. As a result, the Proposed Project will have No Impact.  

 

MITIGATION MEASURES: 

Mitigation is not required for this topic. 

 

 

 

 

 

 



50 | P a g e  

 

13. NOISE -- WOULD THE PROJECT RESULT IN: 

 

Potentially 

Significant 

Impact 

Less Than 

Significant 

with 

Mitigation 

Incorporation 

Less Than 

Significant 

Impact 

No 

Impact 

a) Generation of a substantial temporary or 

permanent increase in ambient noise levels in 

the vicinity of the project in excess of standards 

established in the local general plan or noise 

ordinance, or other applicable standards of other 

agencies? 

 X   

b) Generation of excessive ground borne 

vibration or ground borne noise levels? 
 X   

c) For a project located within the vicinity of a 

private airstrip or an airport land use plan or, 

where such a plan has not been adopted, within 

two miles of a public airport or public use airport, 

would the project expose people residing or 

working in the project area to excessive noise 

levels? 

   X 

IMPACT ANALYSIS 

The following discussion is an analysis for criteria (a) and (b): 

a. Would the project result in the generation of a substantial temporary or permanent increase in 

ambient noise levels in the vicinity of the project in excess of standards established in the local general 

plan or noise ordinance, or applicable standards of other agencies? 

b. Would the project result in generation of excessive ground borne vibration or ground borne noise 

levels? 

 

The Proposed Project is situated between existing residential development, existing commercial 

development, and the Burlington Northern Railroad. The Proposed Project would increase ambient 

noise levels; however, they would be minimal in nature and would have a less than significant impact. 

The construction activities, which are temporary in nature, would involve heavy equipment for 

grading, excavation, paving, and building construction which would increase ambient noise levels, 

ground borne vibrations, and noise when in use.  Noise levels would vary depending on the equipment 

used, how it is operated, and how well it is maintained. However, with the implementation of Chapter 

8.44, Noise Control, of the City of Atwater’s Municipal Code which allows construction activities 

between the hours of 7:00 AM and 7:00 PM, Monday through Friday, and the hours of 9:00 AM and 

5:00 PM on Saturday and Sunday the level of impact resulting from the Proposed Project would be 

curtailed. Additionally, in conjunction with the constraints placed on the construction activities 

allowed the Project Proponent in working with City Staff, has agreed to only construct single-story 

homes along the eastern portion of the project site abutting the railroad and erecting a wall seven (7) 

feet in height in order to mitigate the noise originating and emanating out from the Burlington 



51 | P a g e  

 

Northern Railroad.  Therefore, the Proposed Project will have a Less Than Significant Impact with 

Mitigation Incorporated.  

 

c. For a project located within the vicinity of a private airstrip or an airport land use plan or, where such 

a plan has not been adopted, within two miles of a public airport or public use airport, would the 

project expose people residing or working in the project area to excessive noise levels? 

 

The Project site is within two (2) miles of the Merced County Castle Airport, but the Proposed Project 

sits just outside of Zone D and as such is not located within the boundaries of an airport land use plan. 

Therefore, the Proposed Project will have a Less Than Significant Impact.  

 

 

MITIGATION MEASURES: 

The following mitigation measures shall be incorporated into the Proposed Project: 

Mitigation Measure Noise-1: Construction of only single-story homes along the eastern portion of the 

Project site abutting the Burlington Northern Railroad. 

 

Mitigation Measure Noise-2: Construction of a seven (7) foot tall wall along the eastern portion of the 

Project site abutting the Burlington Northern Railroad. 

 

 

 

 

 



 

52 | P a g e  

 

14. POPULATION AND HOUSING -- Would the project: 

 

Potentially 

Significant 

Impact 

Less Than 

Significant 

with 

Mitigation 

Incorporation 

Less Than 

Significant 

Impact 

No 

Impact 

a) Induce substantial population growth in an 

area, either directly (for example, by proposing 

new homes and businesses) or indirectly (for 

example, through extension of roads or other 

infrastructure)? 

  X  

b) Displace substantial numbers of existing 

people or housing, necessitating the 

construction of replacement housing elsewhere? 
   X 

 

IMPACT ANALYSIS 

c. Would the project induce substantial population growth in one area, either directly (for example, 

by proposing new homes and businesses) or indirectly (for example, through extension of roads or 

other infrastructure)? 

   

 The Proposed Project would allow for the development of seventy-three (73) single-family dwellings. 

Per the United States Census Bureau, persons per household (2017 – 2021) in the city of Atwater 

equaled 3.03; based on this statistic, the Proposed Project would increase the City’s population by 

approximately 191 persons. With the addition of 191 new residents, the Proposed Project would 

increase the City’s population by a marginal amount. The Proposed Project is consistent with the Low-

Density Residential land use designation established under the General Plan, and implementation of 

the Proposed Project would not directly contribute to a substantial unplanned increase in population 

within the City of Atwater. Therefore, the Proposed Project will have a Less Than Significant Impact.  

   

b. Would the project displace substantial numbers of existing people or housing, necessitating the 

construction of replacement housing elsewhere? 

 

The project site is presently a vacant, undeveloped piece of land with no structures currently existing 

on site, residential or otherwise. Thus, the Proposed Project would not displace existing individuals or 

housing as none currently exist. Therefore, the Proposed Project will have No Impact.  

 

MITIGATION MEASURES: 

Mitigation is not required for this topic. 

 

 

  



 

53 | P a g e  

 

15. PUBLIC SERVICES 

 

Potentially 

Significant 

Impact 

Less Than 

Significant 

with 

Mitigation 

Incorporation 

Less Than 

Significant 

Impact 

No 

Impact 

a) Would the project result in substantial adverse 

physical impacts associated with the provision of 

new or physically altered governmental facilities, 

or the need for new or physically altered 

governmental facilities, the construction of 

which could cause significant environmental 

impacts, in order to maintain acceptable service 

ratios, response times, or other performance 

objectives for any of the public services: 

    

a) Fire protection?   X  

b) Police protection?   X  

c) Schools?   X  

d) Parks?   X  

e) Other public facilities?   X  

 

IMPACT ANALYSIS 

a. Would the project result in substantial adverse physical impacts associated with the provision of new 

or physically altered governmental facilities, or the need for new or physically altered governmental 

facilities, the construction of which could cause significant environmental impacts, in order to maintain 

acceptable service ratios, response times, or other performance objectives for fire protection? 

 

 The City of Atwater transitioned fire protection services by executing a service contract with the State 

of California, Cal Fire. The contract began in October 2008. There are two (2) fire stations within two 

(2) miles of the Proposed Project site: 1) Atwater station 42 sits approximately 1.2 miles from the 

project site; and 2) Cal-Fire Castle Crew sits approximately 1.8 miles away from the project site. The 

Proposed Project would not substantially impact the City’s response time in addressing calls for 

assistance.  

 

 The City of Atwater’s 2000 General Plan outlines goals, policies and implementation programs in order 

to facilitate planned, orderly and strategic growth while minimizing the impact on response times and 

quality of service delivered to the residents of Atwater. Policy LU-17.1 makes clear the city will not 

sacrifice response times for more development. Finally, Policy LU-17.2 requires all new development 

to contribute funding toward necessary fire facilities and fire equipment. Therefore, the Proposed 

Project will have a Less Than Significant Impact.  



54 | P a g e  

 

 

c. Would the project result in substantial adverse physical impacts associated with the provision of 

new or physically altered governmental facilities, or the need for new or physically altered 

governmental facilities, the construction of which could cause significant environmental impacts, 

in order to maintain acceptable service ratios, response times, or other performance objectives for 

police protection? 

 

Police protection services in Atwater are provided by the Atwater Police Department. The Police 

Department is located at 750 Bellevue Road approximately one and a half miles away from the 

Proposed Project site. Police staffing levels are generally based on the population and police officer 

ratio, and an increase in population is typically the result of an increase in housing. Since the Proposed 

Project includes residential uses, it can be assumed that the marginal increase in population that 

results from this Project would be expected to generate a slight increase in the demand for law 

enforcement services. In this instance, General Plan Policy LU-18.2 requires all new development to 

contribute funding toward necessary law enforcement facilities and equipment. However, as 

previously stated, the Proposed Project is not expected to generate substantial population growth in 

the area that would result in the need for additional police services. Therefore, the Proposed Project 

will have a Less Than Significant Impact.  

 

c. Would the project result in substantial adverse physical impacts associated with the provision of 

new or physically altered governmental facilities, or the need for new or physically altered 

governmental facilities, the construction of which could cause significant environmental impacts, 

in order to maintain acceptable service ratios, response times or other performance objectives for 

schools? 

 

The Proposed Project and the residential neighborhood that will result from the Proposed Project will 

not be served by the Atwater Elementary School District. The Proposed Project site will be served by 

the Merced City School District for grades elementary through eight (8) and the Merced Union High 

School District for grades nine (9) – twelve (12). The closest schools in proximity to the Proposed 

Project are: 

 

Merced City School District 

• Franklin Elementary School located at 2736 Franklin Road, Merced, 95340 

• Stefani Elementary School located at 2768 Ranchero Lane, Merced, 95340 

 

Merced Union High School District 

• Buhach High School located at 1800 Buhach Road, Atwater, 95301  

• Atwater High School located at 2201 Fruitland Avenue, Atwater, 95301  

 

The Merced City School District has nineteen (19) schools, with an enrollment of 10,922 students for 

the 2023 school year with a student to teacher ratio of twenty-six (26) to one (1). Similarly, the Merced 

Union High School District has nine (9) schools serving a student body of 11,177 students for the 2023 



55 | P a g e  

 

school year with a student to teacher ratio of twenty-one (21) to one (1). In order to continue to 

support the collection of school fees consistent with the maximum allowable amount permitted under 

state law, the City of Atwater established the General Plan Policy LU-21.2 to ensure adequate funds 

are collected. The Proposed Project would ultimately result in the construction of seventy-three (73) 

new residences and an incremental increase in population which could impact demand for school 

services within the school districts listed above. In order to mitigate this impact, Government Code 

65996 requires the payment of impact fees to the school districts at the time of construction to offset 

increased student enrollment. As provided in the Government Code, payment of these fees 

constitutes adequate mitigation of impacts to the provision of school facilities. Therefore, the 

Proposed Project will have a Less Than Significant Impact.  

 

d. Would the project result in substantial adverse physical impacts associated with the provision of new 

or physically altered governmental facilities, or the need for new or physically altered governmental 

facilities, the construction of which could cause significant environmental impacts, in order to maintain 

acceptable service ratios, response times or other performance objectives for parks? 

 

Increase in the demand for recreational facilities is typically associated with increases in population. 

As discussed in section 14.A (Population and Housing), the Proposed Project will not generate 

substantial growth in the local population such that it will be in excess, inconsistent, and out of 

conformance with the City’s General Plan. The incremental growth spurred by the Proposed Project 

is unlikely to warrant new park facilities. The design for the Silver Creek Crossings Vesting Tentative 

Subdivision Map is congruent with the City’s General Plan Policy LU-23.2. Finally, approval of the 

Proposed Project and subsequent residential build out would require payment of development fees 

to off-set any increase in demand for park services. Thus, the Proposed Project will have a Less Than 

Significant Impact.  

 

e. Would the project result in substantial adverse physical impacts associated with the provision of new 

or physically altered governmental facilities, or the need for new or physically altered governmental 

facilities, the construction of which could cause significant environmental impacts, in order to maintain 

acceptable service ratios, response times or other performance objectives for other public facilities? 

 

The marginal population increase generated by the Proposed Project would result in an incremental 

increase in use of public facilities; this impact would be negligible. Therefore, the Proposed Project 

will have a Less Than Significant Impact.  

 

MITIGATION MEASURES: 

Mitigation is not required for this topic. 

 

 

 

 



56 | P a g e  

 

16. RECREATION 

 

Potentially 

Significant 

Impact 

Less Than 

Significant 

with 

Mitigation 

Incorporation 

Less Than 

Significant 

Impact 

No 

Impact 

a) Would the project increase the use of existing 

neighborhood and regional parks or other 

recreational facilities such that substantial 

physical deterioration of the facility would occur 

or be accelerated? 

  X  

b) Does the project include recreational facilities 

or require the construction or expansion of 

recreational facilities which might have an 

adverse physical effect on the environment? 

  X  

 

IMPACT ANALYSIS 

The following discussion is an analysis for criteria (a) and (b): 

a. Would the project increase the use of existing neighborhood and regional parks or other recreational 

facilities such that substantial physical deterioration of the facility would occur or be accelerated? 

b. Does the project include recreational facilities or require the construction or expansion of recreational 

facilities which might have an adverse physical effect on the environment? 

 

 Development of the Proposed Project will generate marginal population growth and may increase 

demand for recreational facilities. Due to the Proposed Project’s location being in close proximity it is 

reasonable to assume residents of Silver Creek Crossings Subdivision will increase the use of the 

neighboring 17.9-acre Veterans Park. However, whether this use would result in substantial physical 

deterioration of the park and facility occurring or being accelerated cannot be fully determined 

because the amount of park activity use from the Proposed Project’s residents would be purely 

speculative in nature. Regardless of which park and/or recreation facility is impacted, payment of 

impact fees by Project Proponent would help off-set any increase in demand, use, or physical 

deterioration such that the Proposed Project will have a Less Than Significant Impact.  

 

MITIGATION MEASURES: 

Mitigation is not required for this topic.  



57 | P a g e  

 

17. TRANSPORTATION/TRAFFIC – WOULD THE PROJECT: 

 

Potentially 

Significant 

Impact 

Less Than 

Significant 

with 

Mitigation 

Incorporation 

Less Than 

Significant 

Impact 

No 

Impact 

a) Conflict with a program, plan, ordinance or 

policy addressing the circulation system, 

including transit, roadway, bicycle, and 

pedestrian facilities? 

  X  

b) Conflict or be inconsistent with CEQA 

Guidelines section 15064.3, subdivision (b)? 
  X  

c) Substantially increase hazards due to a 

geometric design feature (e.g., sharp curves or 

dangerous intersections) or incompatible uses 

(e.g., farm equipment)? 

  X  

d) Result in inadequate emergency access?   X  

The following is based on the Technical Memorandum that was completed for the Proposed Project by 

GHD (October 2023). 

 

IMPACT ANALYSIS 

a. Would the project conflict with a program, plan, ordinance or policy addressing the circulation system, 

including transit, roadway, bicycle, and pedestrian facilities? 

 

The Proposed Project is consistent with the City of Atwater’s General Plan land use designation, is 

located within the City of Atwater and is zoned Planned Development, allowing for Low-Density 

Residential uses. Since the quality of traffic flow is often governed by the operation of intersections, 

consistent with the July 2000 City of Atwater General Plan Circulation Element and the most recent 

Merced County Association of Governments (MCAG) guidelines, various traffic scenarios were 

analyzed. The primary intersection analyzed is adjacent to and provides access to the Proposed 

Project site: the North Buhach Road and Piro Road/Garden Drive intersection. The analysis included 

existing 2023 conditions, existing 2023 plus Project conditions, cumulative 2046 conditions, and 

cumulative 2046 plus Project conditions and the Proposed Project peak hour trip assignment was 

based on the existing traffic flows occurring at this intersection. Per the City of Atwater’s General Plan 

Circulation Element, the City of Atwater designates LOS D as their minimum standard. Based on the 

analysis provided, the Proposed Project would generate approximately 688 daily trips with 51 

weekday AM peak hour trips and 69 weekday PM peak hour trips. With the Proposed Project trips 

added to existing volumes at the N Buhach Road and Piro Drive intersection, both AM and PM peak 

hour LOS would be acceptable; this intersection would be operating at LOS C during both weekday 

peak hours. As such, the Proposed Project will not conflict with a program, plan, ordinance or policy 



58 | P a g e  

 

addressing the circulation system, including transit, roadway, bicycle and pedestrian facilities. 

Therefore, the Proposed Project will have a Less Than Significant Impact. 

 

b. Would the project conflict or be inconsistent with CEQA Guidelines section 15064.3, subdivision (b)? 

 

The CEQA Guidelines provided in Section 15064.3, subdivision (b) establish criteria for analyzing 

transportation impacts of a project based on Vehicle Miles Traveled (VMT) instead of the previous, 

now superseded Level of Service (LOS) methodology. Regarding Land Use Projects, the guidelines 

state, “Vehicle miles traveled exceeding an applicable threshold of significance may indicate a 

significant impact” …while “projects that decrease vehicle miles traveled in the project area compared 

to existing conditions should be presumed to have a less than significant impact.”   

 

To date, the City of Atwater has not developed criterion to determine if it can be assumed a project 

will have a less than significant impact. However, the Merced County Association of Governments has 

adopted regional screening criteria for development projects; the criterion concludes that if a project 

generates less than 1,000 daily trips and is consistent with the jurisdiction’s General Plan it can be 

assumed said project will have a less than significant impact. As discussed above and based on the 

analysis provided, the Proposed Project will generate approximately 688 daily trips, well short of the 

1,000 daily trip threshold established by the Merced County Association of Governments. 

Consequently, the Proposed Project will not conflict with or be inconsistent with the CEQA guidelines 

established, and as a result, the Proposed Project will have a Less Than Significant Impact.  

 

c. Would the project substantially increase hazards due to a geometric design feature (e.g., sharp curves 

or dangerous intersections) or incompatible uses (e.g., farm equipment)? 

 

A review of the Proposed Project’s site design clearly illustrates no increase in hazards due to a 

geometric design feature or incompatible uses. The Proposed Project does not introduce new curves 

or hazardous intersections. Access to the Project site will be provided directly from Nebela Road via 

two (2) future north-south road extensions (Rondel Road and Nina Drive). To ensure there will be no 

increase in hazards, all internal roadways and connections to existing roadways would be required to 

meet existing City roadway design standards. Further, the Proposed Project site traffic and vehicles 

visiting the site during the construction phase will be comprised of automobiles and trucks which are 

permitted under the California Vehicle Code. The Proposed Project does not introduce incompatible 

uses or users (i.e., farm equipment) to roadways or transportation facilities not intended for the 

established use. As such, the Proposed Project will have a Less Than Significant Impact.     

 

d. Would the project result in inadequate emergency access?  

 

As discussed above, the Proposed Project-related traffic would not cause a significant increase in 

congestion and would not reduce the existing LOS on area roads, which could indirectly affect 

emergency access. All Project lots to be developed will have direct access to an existing or proposed 

street allowing for adequate emergency access throughout the entirety of the proposed 

development. The Proposed Project site will be accessible off N. Buhach Road, as N. Buhach Road 



59 | P a g e  

 

currently functions as a major arterial street with four travel lanes in the Proposed Project area. As 

stated in the Technical Memorandum provided and based on direction from NorthStar Engineering 

staff (Applicant Representative), the intersection of N. Buhach Road and Piro Drive/Garden Drive is 

planned for signalization. Given the current conditions of the Proposed Project area, the anticipated 

level of project related trips generated, the Proposed Project related planned improvements, and the 

objective design standards by which the Project Proponent must adhere, the Proposed Project will 

not result in inadequate emergency access. Therefore, the Proposed Project will have a Less Than 

Significant Impact.   

 

MITIGATION MEASURES: 

Mitigation is not required for this topic. 

 

 

 

  



60 | P a g e  

 

 

 

18. TRIBAL CULTURAL RESOURCES -- WOULD THE PROJECT: 

 

Potentially 

Significant 

Impact 

Less Than 

Significant 

with 

Mitigation 

Incorporation 

Less Than 

Significant 

Impact 

No 

Impact 

a)  Would the project cause a substantial adverse change in the significance of a tribal cultural 

resource defined in Public Resources Code Section 21074 as either a site, feature, place, cultural 

landscape that is geographically defined in terms of the size and scope of the landscape, sacred place, 

or object with cultural value to a California Native American tribe, and that is: 

i) Listed or eligible for listing in the 

California Register of Historical 

Resources, or in a local register of 

historical resources as defined in Public 

Resources Code section 5020.1 (k)? 

  X  

ii) A resource determined by the lead 

agency, in its discretion and supported 

by substantial evidence, to be 

significant pursuant to criteria set forth 

in subdivision I of Public Resources Code 

Section 5024.1. In applying the criteria 

set forth in subdivision I of Public 

Resource Code Section 5024.1, the lead 

agency shall consider the significance of 

the resource to a California Native 

American tribe? 

  X  

 

Effective July 1, 2015, Assembly Bill 52 (AB 52) amended CEQA to mandate consultation with California 

Native American tribes during the CEQA process to determine whether or not the Proposed Project may 

have a significant impact on a Tribal Cultural Resource. Section 21073 of the Public Resources Code defines 

California Native American tribes as “a Native American tribe located in California that is on the contact 

list maintained by the Native American Heritage Commission for the purposes of Chapter 905 of the 

Statutes of 2004.” This includes both federally and non-federally recognized tribes. Section 21074(a) of 

the Public Resource Code defines Tribal cultural resources for the purpose of CEQA as: 

 

c) Sites, features, places, cultural landscapes (geographically defined in terms of the size and scope), 

sacred places, and objects with cultural value to a California Native American tribe that are either 

of the following: 

a. included or determined to be eligible for inclusion in the California Register of Historical 

Resources; and/or 



61 | P a g e  

 

b. included in a local register of historical resources as defined in subdivision (k) of Section 5020.1; 

and/or 

c. a resource determined by the lead agency, in its discretion and supported by substantial evidence, 

to be significant pursuant to criteria set forth in subdivision I of Section 5024.1. In applying the 

criteria set forth in subdivision I of Section 5024.1 for the purposes of this paragraph, the lead 

agency shall consider the significance of the resource to a California Native American tribe. 

 

Because criteria A and B also meet the definition of a Historical Resource under CEQA (see Section 5 of 

this document), a Tribal Cultural Resource may also require additional (and separate) consideration as a 

Historical Resource. Tribal Cultural Resources may or may not exhibit archaeological, cultural, or physical 

indicators. 

Recognizing that California tribes are experts in their Tribal Cultural Resources and heritage, AB 52 

requires that CEQA lead agencies carry out consultation with tribes at the commencement of the CEQA 

process to identify Tribal Cultural Resources. Furthermore, because a significant effect on a Tribal Cultural 

Resource is considered a significant impact on the environment under CEQA, consultation is required to 

develop appropriate avoidance, impact minimization, and mitigation measures. Consultation is concluded 

when either the lead agency and tribes agree to appropriate mitigation measures to mitigate or avoid a 

significant effect, if a significant effect exists, or when a party, acting in good faith and after reasonable 

effort, concludes that mutual agreement cannot be reached, whereby the lead agency uses its best 

judgement in requiring mitigation measures that avoid or minimize impact to the greatest extent feasible. 

 

IMPACT ANALYSIS 

c. Would the project cause a significant adverse change in the significance of a tribal cultural 

resource, defined in Public Resources Code Section 21074 as either a site, feature, place, cultural 

landscape that is geographically defined in terms of the size and scope of the landscape, sacred 

place, or object with cultural value to a California Native American tribe, and that is: 

 

1. Listed or eligible for listing in the California Register of Historical Resources, or in a local 

register of historical resources as defined in Public Resources Code Section 5020.1(k)? 

2. A resource determined by the lead agency, in its discretion and supported by substantial 

evidence, to be significant pursuant to criteria set forth in subdivision I of Public Resources 

Code Section 5024.1. In applying the criteria set forth in subdivision I of Public Resource 

Code Section 5024.1, the lead agency shall consider the significance of the resource to a 

California Native American tribe? 

 

In accordance with Public Resources Code Section 21080.3.1, notification letters were sent to tribal 

representatives of California Native American tribes that have requested to be notified of projects within 

the project area for the City of Atwater. Tribal representatives were advised of the Proposed Project and 

invited to request formal consultation with the City of Atwater regarding the Proposed Project within 

thirty (30) days of receiving the notification letters. On January 4, 2023, notification letters were sent to 

representatives of the following tribes –  

 



62 | P a g e  

 

(4) Southern Sierra Miwuk Nation 

(5) Amah Mutsun Tribal Bank 

(6) North Valley Yokuts Tribe 

 

As of the preparation of this Initial Study/Mitigated Negative Declaration, more than thirty (30) days 

following the City’s transmittal of notification letters, no tribal representatives requested consultation. 

No tribal cultural resources have been identified associated with the Proposed Project site. Therefore, the 

Proposed Project will have a Less Than Significant Impact.  

 

MITIGATION MEASURES: 

Mitigation is not required for this topic. 

 



 

63 | P a g e  

 

19. UTILITIES AND SERVICE SYSTEMS -- WOULD THE PROJECT: 

 

Potentially 

Significant 

Impact 

Less Than 

Significant 

with 

Mitigation 

Incorporation 

Less Than 

Significant 

Impact 

No 

Impact 

a) Require or result in the relocation or 

construction of new or expanded water, 

wastewater treatment or stormwater 

drainage, electric power, natural gas, or 

telecommunication facilities, the 

construction or relocation of which could 

cause significant environmental effects? 

  X  

b) Have sufficient water supplies available to 

serve the project and reasonably 

foreseeable future development during 

normal, dry and multiple dry years? 

  X  

c) Result in a determination by the 

wastewater treatment provider that serves 

or may serve the project that it has adequate 

capacity to serve the project’s projected 

demand, in addition to the provider’s 

existing commitments? 

  X  

d) Generate solid waste in excess of State or 

local standards, or in excess of the capacity 

of local infrastructure, or otherwise impair 

the attainment of solid waste reduction 

goals? 

  X  

e) Comply with Federal, State, and local 

management and reduction statutes and 

regulations related to solid waste? 

  X  

 

IMPACT ANALYSIS 

a. Would the project require or result in the relocation or construction of new or expanded water, 

wastewater treatment or stormwater drainage, electric power, natural gas, or telecommunication 

facilities, the construction or relocation of which could cause significant environmental effects? 

 

The current site of the Proposed Project is vacant and unimproved. The Project Proponent will be 

required to bring the property up to current City standards, and will be required to connect to the 

existing utilities such as electricity, natural gas, water, wastewater, etc. These services exist in the 

vicinity of the Proposed Project site. Connections can be made for water and sewer on Nina Drive and 



64 | P a g e  

 

connection to an existing water line can be made on Rondel Road. A new storm drain retention basin 

is proposed on the northeast side of the Proposed Project on Lot A, while the two existing storm basins 

are proposed to be expanded further to accommodate the increased demand for these utility services.  

 

Development of the Proposed Project would increase the demand for water in the city due to human 

consumption and irrigation for landscaping. Water distribution lines would be installed and looped 

through the Proposed Project site in order to provide adequate water supply to each of the single-

family residential units.  

 

Finally, during the development period the Proposed Project, Project Proponent will be required to 

submit a Notice of Intent and Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP) to the Regional Water 

Quality Control Board to obtain a National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) General 

Construction Permit. The SWPPP will include Best Management Practices (BMPs) to prevent water 

quality degradation and to control erosion and siltation. Therefore, the Proposed Project will have a 

Less Than Significant Impact.   

 

b. Would the project have sufficient water supplies available to serve the project and reasonably 

foreseeable future development during normal, dry and multiple dry years? 

 

The City of Atwater extracts its water supply from groundwater aquifers via a series of wells 

throughout the city. The City’s existing system facilities include nine active water wells with a total 

pumping capacity of 13,688 gallons per minute, a distribution system that is nearly ninety-seven (97) 

miles in length with line sizes ranging from four (4) to fourteen (14) inches in diameter, two (2) five- 

hundred-thousand (500,000) gallon ground level tanks, and an elevated tank with a capacity of one-

million (1,000,000)  gallons. Based upon the preceding criteria, the Proposed Project will have 

sufficient water supplies available to serve the Proposed Project now and foreseeable future 

development during normal, dry, and multiple dry years. Therefore, the Proposed Project will have a 

Less Than Significant Impact.   

 

c. Would the project result in a determination by the wastewater treatment provider that serves or may 

serve the project that it has adequate capacity to serve the project’s projected demand, in addition to 

the provider’s existing commitments? 

 

The City of Atwater completed construction of a new regional Wastewater Treatment Facility (WWTF) 

in 2012. The WWTF is located just south of the city on Bert Crane Road. The new WWTF has a capacity 

of six million gallons per day (MGD). Wastewater is collected through a gravity flow system with 

approximately twenty (20) lift stations spread throughout the city. The existing sewer system consists 

of pipes which range from six (6) inches to thirty-six (36) inches in diameter. The new facility meets 

the Regional Water Quality Control Board’s (RWQCB) waste discharge requirements by providing 

improved treatment quality. Most notably, the WWTF is expandable in modules up to a capacity of 

twelve million gallons per day to handle the flow from future development. The majority of 

wastewater returning to the WWTF would be from normal residential uses by future residents of the 

subdivision. While the current wastewater treatment methods are adequate to meet the needs of the 



65 | P a g e  

 

Proposed Project, the Project Proponent is subject to the payment of wastewater impact fees. 

Additionally, the Proposed Project was referred to pertinent departments for their input; the city’s 

Public Works department expressed no concern related to adequate capacity or insufficient capacity 

to meet the Proposed Projects projected demand. Therefore, the Proposed Project will have a Less 

Than Significant Impact.  

 

The following discussion Is an analysis for criteria (d) and I: 

d. Would the project generate solid waste in excess of State or local standards, or in excess of the capacity 

of local infrastructure, or otherwise impair the attainment of solid waste reduction goals? 

e. Would the project comply with Federal, State, and local management and reduction statutes and 

regulations related to solid waste? 

 

Per the City of Atwater’s 2000 General Plan, no solid waste disposal sites exist within the city’s 

planning area. Solid waste generated within the city is collected by Allied Waste, a private contractor, 

and transported directly to the Merced County Landfill located off State Highway 59, approximately 

one and one-half miles north of Old Lake Road. The County of Merced is the contracting agency for 

landfill operations and maintenance. Solid waste generated from the Proposed Project will be 

disposed of at the County Landfill. The Proposed Project will not generate solid waste in excess of 

State or local standards, or in excess of the capacity of local infrastructure, or otherwise impair the 

attainment of solid waste reduction goals. Additionally, the Proposed Project will comply with all 

federal, state, local statues, and regulations relating to solid waste. Therefore, the Proposed Project 

will have a Less Than Significant Impact.  

 

MITIGATION MEASURES: 

Mitigation is not required for this topic. 

 

  



66 | P a g e  

 

20. WILDFIRE -- Would the project: 

 

Potentially 

Significant 

Impact 

Less Than 

Significant 

with 

Mitigation 

Incorporation 

Less Than 

Significant 

Impact 

No 

Impact 

If located in or near State responsibility areas or 

lands classified as very high fire hazard severity 

zones, would the project: 

    

a) Substantially impair an adopted emergency 

response plan or emergency evacuation plan? 
  X  

b) Due to slope, prevailing winds, and other 

factors, exacerbate wildfire risks, and thereby 

expose project occupants to pollutant 

concentrations from a wildfire or the 

uncontrolled spread of a wildfire? 

  X  

c) Require the installation of associated 

infrastructure (such as roads, fuel breaks, 

emergency water sources, power lines or other 

utilities) that may exacerbate fire risk or that may 

result in temporary or ongoing impacts to the 

environment? 

  X  

d) Expose people or structures to significant risks, 

including downslope or downstream flooding or 

landslides, as a result of runoff, post-fire slope 

instability, or drainage changes? 

  X  

IMPACT ANALYSIS 

The following discussion is an analysis for criteria (a), (b), (c), and (d): 

a. Would the project substantially impair an adopted emergency response plan or emergency evacuation  

plan? 

b. Would the project due to slope, prevailing winds, and other factors, exacerbate wildfire risks, and 

thereby expose project occupants to pollutant concentrations from a wildfire or the uncontrolled 

spread of a wildfire? 

c. Would the project require the installation of associated infrastructure (such as roads, fuel breaks, 

emergency water sources, power lines or other utilities) that may exacerbate fire risk or that may result 

in temporary or ongoing impacts to the environment? 

d. Would the project expose people or structures to significant risks, including downslope or downstream 

flooding or landslides, as a result of runoff, post-fire slope instability, or drainage changes? 

 

The Proposed Project site is a vacant, undeveloped parcel characterized by its’ flat topography. The 

Proposed Project is located within a Local Responsibility Area (LRA) and there do not appear to be any 

State Responsibility Areas (SRA) in close proximity to the site, per Cal-Fire’s State Responsibility Area 



67 | P a g e  

 

(SRA) Viewer. Similarly, the site is not located within or designated as a Very High Fire Hazard Severity 

Zone (VHFHSZ). As stated by the Fire Marshall via the project referral period, the materials have been 

reviewed and there are no special conditions or considerations that would cause the Proposed Project 

to impair or interfere with an emergency response. Further, the physical development of the 

Proposed Project and all construction related activities shall comply with current California Fire Code, 

California Building Code, and City Standards thereby reducing potential fire hazards. In the event that 

a fire of any intensity occurs, whether during the physical development or after construction activities 

have completed, the Proposed Project site sits nearly equidistant between Atwater Fire Station 42 

and Cal-Fire Castle Crew Station. Therefore, the Proposed Project will have a Less Than Significant 

Impact.  

 

 

MITIGATION MEASURES: 

Mitigation is not required for this topic. 

 



 

68 | P a g e  

 

21. MANDATORY FINDINGS OF SIGNIFICANCE – 

 

Potentially 

Significant 

Impact 

Less Than 

Significant 

with 

Mitigation 

Incorporation 

Less Than 

Significant 

Impact 

No 

Impact 

a) Does the project have the potential to degrade 

the quality of the environment, substantially 

reduce the habitat of a fish or wildlife species, 

cause a fish or wildlife population to drop below 

self-sustaining levels, threaten to eliminate a 

plant or animal community, reduce the number 

or restrict the range of a rare or endangered 

plant or animal or eliminate important examples 

of the major periods of California history or 

prehistory? 

  X  

b) Does the project have impacts that are 

individually limited, but cumulatively 

considerable? (“Cumulatively considerable” 

means that the incremental effects of a project 

are considerable when viewed in connection 

with the effects of past projects, the effects of 

other current projects, and the effects of 

probable future projects)? 

  X  

c) Does the project have environmental effects 

which will cause substantial adverse effects on 

human beings, either directly or indirectly? 
 X   

 

IMPACT ANALYSIS 

a. Does the project have the potential to substantially reduce the habitat of a fish or wildlife species, 

cause a fish or wildlife population to drop below self-sustaining levels, eliminate a plant or animal 

community, reduce the number or restrict the range of a rare or endangered plant or animal or 

eliminate important examples of the major periods of California history or prehistory? 

 

This Initial Study includes analysis of the Proposed Project impacts related to aesthetics, agricultural 

resources, air quality, biological resources, cultural resources, energy, geology and soils, greenhouse 

gas emissions, hazards and hazardous materials, hydrology and water quality, land use and planning, 

mineral resources, noise, population and housing, public services, recreation, transportation and 

traffic, wildfire, and utilities and service systems. The analysis covers a broad spectrum of topics 

relative to the potential for the Proposed Project to have environmental impacts; this includes the 

potential for the Proposed Project to substantially degrade the quality of the environment, 

substantially reduce the habitat of a fish or wildlife species, cause a fish or wildlife population to drop 

below self-sustaining levels, threaten to eliminate a plant or animal community, reduce the number 

or restrict of a rare or endangered plant or animal or eliminate important examples of the major 



69 | P a g e  

 

periods of California history or prehistory. Through this analysis, it was found that the Proposed 

Project would have either no impact, a less than significant impact, or a less than significant impact 

with the implementation of mitigation measures. For the reasons presented throughout this Initial 

Study, the Proposed Project would not substantially degrade the quality of the environment. With the 

implementation of mitigation measures presented in this Initial Study, the Proposed Project will have 

a Less Than Significant Impact.  

 

b. Does the project have impacts that are individually limited, but cumulatively considerable?  

(“Cumulatively considerable” means that the incremental effects of a project are considerable when 

viewed in the connection with the effects of past projects, the effects of other current projects, and the 

effects of probable future projects)? 

 

As described in this Initial Study, the potential environmental effects of the Proposed Project will 

either be less than significant or will have no impact at all when compared to baseline conditions. 

Where the Proposed Project involves potentially significant effects, these effects would be reduced 

to a less than significant level with proposed mitigation measures and compliance with required 

permits and applicable regulations.  

 

The potential environmental effects Identified in this Initial Study have been considered in 

conjunction with each other as to their potential to generate other potentially significant effects. The 

various potential environmental effects of the Proposed Project would not combine to generate any 

potentially significant cumulative effects. There are no other known, similar projects with which the 

Proposed Project might combine to produce adverse cumulative effects. Thus, the Proposed Project 

will have a Less Than Significant Impact.  

 

c. Does the project have environmental effects which will cause substantial adverse effects on human 

beings, either directly or indirectly? 

 

This Initial Study has considered the potential environmental impacts of the Proposed Project in the 

discrete issue areas outlined in the CEQA Environmental Checklist. During the environmental analysis, 

the potential for the Proposed Project to result in substantial impacts on human beings in these issue 

areas, as well as the potential for substantial impacts on human beings to occur outside of these issue 

areas, were considered. Potential adverse effects on human beings were discussed in Section 3, Air 

Quality; Section 4, Biological Resources; and Section 13, Noise. No significant adverse effects were 

identified in these sections that could not be mitigated to a level that would be less than significant.  

 

The construction phase of the Proposed Project could have an effect on surrounding neighbors 

through an increase in traffic and noise; however, the effects experienced through the construction 

phase are temporary, not substantial, and implementation of Chapter 8.44, Noise Control, of the City 

of Atwater’s Municipal Code combined with mitigation measures will curtail the level of impact 

experienced by surrounding neighbors. The operational phase of the Proposed Project could also 

affect surrounding neighbors through increased air emissions, noise, and traffic; however, mitigation 

measures have been incorporated into the Proposed Project that would reduce the impacts to a less 



70 | P a g e  

 

than significant level. Thus, the Proposed Project will not cause substantial adverse effects on human 

beings. Therefore, implementation of the Proposed Project will have a Less Than Significant Impact 

with Mitigation Incorporated.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



71 | P a g e  

 

REFERENCES 

In accordance with Section 15063(a)(3) of the CEQA Guidelines, the following expert opinion, technical 

studies, and substantial evidence has been referenced and/or cited in the discussion included in the Initial 

Study Checklist: 

 

• Bureau of Land Management, USGS. Retrieved from: maps.conservation.ca.gov: 

https://maps.conservation.ca.gov/cgs/EQZApp/app/.  

• California Air Pollution Control Officers Association. California Emissions Estimator Model User’s 

Guide, Version 2013.2.  

• CAL FIRE (2023). Merced County Fire Hazard Severity Zones in State Responsibility Area Map. 

Retrieved from:  https://osfm.fire.ca.gov/fire-hazard-severity-zone-maps-2022/.  

• Central California Information Center, California Historical Resources Information System; 

Records Search File Number: 12639I.  

• City of Atwater – City of Atwater General Plan (July 2000). 

• City of Atwater – City of Atwater General Plan Update Draft Environmental Impact Report.  

• Department of Conservation – California Alquist-Priolo Earthquake Fault Zones. Retrieved from: 

https://www.conservation.ca.gov/cgs/alquist-priolo. 

• City of Atwater – City of Atwater 2020 Urban Water Management Plan (Black Water Consulting 

Engineers, March 2022).  

• Department of Conservation – California Important Farmland Finder. Retrieved from California 

Department of Conservation: https://maps.conservation.ca.gov/dlrp/ciff/. 

• Envirostor (2023). www.envirostor.dtsc.ca.gov. Retrieved from EnviroStor Sites and Facilities: 

https://www.envirostor.dtsc.ca.gov/public/map/?myaddress=Atwater.  

• Merced County Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan (MCALUCP, June 2012).  

• Merced County. Merced County General Plan (2030). Retrieved from: 

https://countyofmerced.com/DocumentCenter/View/6766/2030-Merced-County-General-

Plan?bidId=.  

• Silver Creek Crossing Subdivision – Focused Trip Generation, Vehicle Miles Traveled (VMT) and 

Operations Analysis. GHD, October 18, 2023. 

• United States Department of Agriculture. Web Soil Survey. Retrieved from Natural Resources 

Conservation Services: https://websoilsurvey.nrcs.usda.gov/app/WebSoilSurvey.aspx.  

• University of California, Davis, Agriculture and Natural Resources, Soil Web. Retrieved from: 

https://casoilresource.lawr.ucdavis.edu/gmap/. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



72 | P a g e  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendices



 

73 | P a g e  

 



 

74 | P a g e  

 



 

75 | P a g e  

 

 



SENT VIA ELECTRONIC MAIL 

June 19, 2024 

Greg Thompson 

Interim City Manager 

City of Atwater 

750 Bellvue Road 

Atwater, CA 95301 

gthompson@atwater.org 

RE: MITIGATED NEGATIVE DECLARATION FOR THE SILVER CREEK VESTING 

TENTATIVE SUBDIVISION MAP PROJECT DATED JUNE 3, 2024 STATE 

CLEARINGHOUSE NUMBER 2024060021 

Dear Greg Thompson, 

The Department of Toxic Substances Control (DTSC) received a Mitigated Negative 

Declaration (MND) for the Silver Creek Vesting Tentative Subdivision Map (project). 

Silver Creek Crossing, LLC (Applicant) requests a Vesting Tentative Subdivision Map 

(VTSM 22-23-0100) pertaining to a 15.13-acre parcel that is located on north side of 

Nebela Drive, approximately 0.25 Miles east of Buhach Road Atwater, CA 95301 (APN: 

005-070-052-000). VTSM 22-23-0100 would divide the 15.13-acre parcel into 73 single-

family residential lots. After reviewing the project’s MND, DTSC recommends and

requests consideration of the following comments:

1. When agricultural crops and/or land uses are rezoned for residential use, a

number of contaminants of concern can be present. The Lead Agency shall

mailto:gthompson@atwater.org
https://ceqanet.opr.ca.gov/2024060021


Greg Thompson 
June 19, 2024 
Page 2 
 

identify the amounts of Pesticides and Organochlorine Pesticides (OCPs) 

historically used on the property. If present, OCPs requiring further analysis 

are Dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane (DDT), toxaphene, and dieldrin. 

Additionally, any level of arsenic present would require further analysis and 

sampling and must meet HHRA NOTE NUMBER 3, DTSC-SLs approved 

thresholds. If they are not, remedial action must take place to mitigate them 

below those thresholds. 

2. Additional chemicals of concern may be found in mixing/loading/storage area, 

drainage ditches, farmhouses, or any other outbuildings and should be 

sampled and analyzed. If smudge pots had been routinely utilized, additional 

sampling for Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons (PAHs) and/or Total 

Petroleum Hydrocarbons (TPHs) may be required. 

3. Due to the Zone reclassification change of Agriculture (Farmland of Local Importance) 

to Low Density Residential, a site and/or soil assessment should be completed to 

determine if any Recognized Environmental Conditions (REC’s) are present. This may 

require a Phase I Environmental Site Assessment and oversight from DTSC or a 

certified local agency. For boring and analyses recommendations under 50 acres, refer 

to DTSC Interim Guidance for Sampling Agricultural Properties. 

4. All imported soil and fill material should be tested to ensure any contaminants 

of concern are within DTSC’s and U.S. Environmental Protection Agency 

(USEPA) Regional Screen Levels (RSLs) for the intended land use. To 

minimize the possibility of introducing contaminated soil and fill material there 

should be documentation of the origins of the soil or fill material and, if 

applicable, sampling be conducted to ensure that the imported soil and fill 

material meets screening levels outlined in DTSC’s Preliminary 

Endangerment Assessment (PEA) Guidance Manual for the intended land 

use. The soil sampling should include analysis based on the source of the fill 

and knowledge of the prior land use. Additional information can be found by 

visiting DTSC’s Human and Ecological Risk Office (HERO) webpage. 

DTSC appreciates the opportunity to comment on the MND for the Silver Creek Vesting 

https://dtsc.ca.gov/wp-content/uploads/sites/31/2022/02/HHRA-Note-3-June2020-Revised-May2022A.pdf
https://dtsc.ca.gov/local-agency-resources/
https://dtsc.ca.gov/wp-content/uploads/sites/31/2018/09/Ag-Guidance-Rev-3-August-7-2008-2.pdf
https://dtsc.ca.gov/wp-content/uploads/sites/31/2023/06/PEA_Guidance_Manual.pdf
https://dtsc.ca.gov/wp-content/uploads/sites/31/2023/06/PEA_Guidance_Manual.pdf
https://dtsc.ca.gov/human-health-risk-hero/


Greg Thompson 
June 19, 2024 
Page 3 
 
Tentative Subdivision Map project Thank you for your assistance in protecting California’s 

people and environment from the harmful effects of toxic substances. If you have any 

questions or would like any clarification on DTSC’s comments, please respond to this 

letter or via email for additional guidance. 

Sincerely,  

 
Tamara Purvis 

Associate Environmental Planner 

HWMP-Permitting Division – CEQA Unit 

Department of Toxic Substances Control 

Tamara.Purvis@dtsc.ca.gov 

  

mailto:CEQAReview@dtsc.ca.gov
mailto:Tamara.Purvis@dtsc.ca.gov


Greg Thompson 
June 19, 2024 
Page 4 
 
cc: (via email) 

Governor’s Office of Planning and  

Research State Clearinghouse  

State.Clearinghouse@opr.ca.gov 

Dave Kereazis 

Associate Environmental Planner 

HWMP - Permitting Division – CEQA Unit 

Department of Toxic Substances Control 

Dave.Kereazis@dtsc.ca.gov 

Scott Wiley  

Associate Governmental Program Analyst  

HWMP - Permitting Division – CEQA Unit 

Department of Toxic Substances Control 

Scott.Wiley@dtsc.ca.gov 

mailto:State.Clearinghouse@opr.ca.gov
mailto:Dave.Kereazis@dtsc.ca.gov
mailto:Scott.Wiley@dtsc.ca.gov


139 Stockton Avenue         Ripon        CA        95366          Phone:  209.599.8377            Fax:  209.599.8399 

 

 

     M E M O R A N D U M 
 

 

TO: CITY OF ATWATER 

FROM:  MARK NISKANEN, CITY PLANNER 

SUBJECT: SILVER CREEK CROSSINGS – RESPONSE TO LETTER FROM DEPARTMENT 

OF TOXIC SUBSTANCES CONTROL, DATED JUNE 19, 2024 

DATE:  JULY 10, 2024 

CC: Project File 

 

The comment letter as a whole raises no new environmental issues or concerns that 

were not already adequately addressed in the Initial Study/Mitigated Negative 

Declaration (IS/MND).  The comments provided recommendations and requests to the 

City of Atwater relative to potential contaminants on the Project site.   

As discussed in the IS/MND, the Project site has been designated for residential uses 

since the General Plan was adopted in 2000.  It is also located within the adopted 

Planned Development No. 29.  In addition, the Project site consists of raw land not being 

used for active agricultural purposes.  

The IS/MND correctly stated that the Project site is not known to contain hazardous 

materials and is not identified on a list of hazardous materials site in accordance with 

Section 65862.5 of the California Government Code.   

Our review of the above-mentioned letter concludes there are no revisions needed to 

the IS/MND and the IS/MND adequately analyzed the potential environmental impacts 

caused by the Proposed Project.     

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 
AGENDA REPORT  
 
      

 

  
 
MEETING DATE: August 21, 2024 
 
TO:    Chair and Commissioners 
 
FROM:   Kayla Rashad, Executive Assistant 
 
SUBJECT:  Public hearing to consider adopting a resolution approving 

Conditional Use Permit No. 24-17-0100 and Site Plan No. 24-17-
0200 for a mobile food vendor located at 860 Applegate Road, 
Atwater (APN: 003-170-028). 

 
    

RECOMMENDED COMMISSION ACTION: 
 
It is recommended that Planning Commission: 
 
1. Open the public hearing and receive any testimony from the public; 

 
2. Close the public hearing; 

 
3. Make a finding that the project is categorically exempt under California 

Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) guideline section 15311 (c), “Accessory 
Structures;” and, adopt Resolution No. 0250-24, Conditional Use Permit No. 24-
17-0100 and Site Plan No. 24-17-0200, for a mobile food vendor located at 860 
Applegate Road in Atwater (APN: 003-170-028). 

 
I. BACKGROUND:  
 
The subject property is located at 860 Applegate Road (APN: 003-170-028) (refer to 
Figure 1). The parcel is approximately 7.5 acres and currently has a vacant building which 
is part of the Atwater Iron Scrap and Metal business, including nineteen (19) parking 
spaces (one parking space is designated as an ADA parking space). The existing Atwater 
Iron Scrap and Metal has been operating approximately since 1956, offering services 
such as scrap metal recycling, hauling, buying, and container services.   
 
 
 
 
 



Agenda Report – Resolution No. 0250-24 Page 2 
 
   

 
 
 

  

Figure 1: Site Location 

 

 
ANALYSIS:  
 
The applicant requests a Conditional Use Permit to allow it to operate a mobile food trailer 
at 860 Applegate Road in Atwater (APN: 003-170-028) in the Business Park Zone. The 
food trailer is approximately 16 x 8 (128 sq-ft) and will be located on the Northwest side 
of the property, with the serving area facing South. The food trailer will have two (2) 200-
Liter garbage cans located to the immediate East of the food trailer and will have indoor 
and outdoor lighting. The food trailer will be powered by a Predator 9500 inverter 
generator which has a noise rating of 67 dBA (less noisy than an office) according to the 
Generator Bible Source. The food truck will operate with a total of two employees between 
the hours of 10:00 am – 4:00 pm Tuesday through Friday and 10:00am – 8:00pm 
Saturday and Sunday. The applicant has arranged the use of restrooms located in the 
Atwater Iron Scrap and Metal and has secured a commissary to pick up and house its 
food products during hours of non-operation. The proposed food trailer will only occupy 
four parking spaces during its operation after they disconnect the truck from the trailer. 
However, the parking for the Atwater Iron Scrap and Metal will still comply with its parking 
requirements while the food trailer is operating.   
 
As previously stated, the Atwater Iron Scarp and Metal, where the food trailer will be 
located, has nineteen (19) parking spaces (including one ADA parking space). The food 
trailer will utilize four parking spaces leaving fifteen (15) parking spaces available, which 
provides the minimum requirement per the Atwater Municipal Code. Per the Atwater 



Agenda Report – Resolution No. 0250-24 Page 3 
 
   

 
 
 

  

Municipal Code (AMC). Per AMC section 17.63.040, the following parking requirements 
apply to commercial uses:   
 

A. Retail stores, personal services, professional and business offices, banks, and 
post offices: one space for every 500 square feet of floor area. However, uses 
which do not generate significant traffic, including but not limited to furniture stores, 
may convert part of the required parking into landscaping at the discretion of the 
Planning Commission; this landscaped area is to be converted if the need arises 
or the land use changes.  

 
B. Further, for Mobile Food Vendors, the following specific parking requirements 

apply: 
 

1. If the mobile food vendor shares a site with an established use, any parking  
spaces occupied by patrons of the mobile food vendor shall not be counted 
against the established use’s parking requirements. If the established use 
notifies the City that parking has become an issue for its own patrons as a result 
of the mobile food vendor’s operations, the Planning Commission shall hold a 
hearing to determine whether to revoke or modify the mobile food vendor’s 
conditional use permit. 

 
Description of Surrounding Uses: The properties immediately to the North, South, 
East, and West also have a land use designation of Business Park. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Agenda Report – Resolution No. 0250-24 Page 4 
 
   

 
 
 

  

Figure 2: Land Use Designation 
 

 
 

Business Park (BP) 
 
Land Use Designation: The project site has a land use designation of Business Park 
(BP); this designation is intended to provide a full range of uses in Atwater, including retail 
stores, eating and drinking establishments, commercial recreation, industrial uses, 
entertainment, and cultural facilities. The project intends to operate a food trailer that is 
consistent with the designated use of the Atwater General Plan land use designation. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 



Agenda Report – Resolution No. 0250-24 Page 5 
 
   

 
 
 

  

Figure 3: Zoning Designation 
 

 

Business Park (BP) 
 

Zoning: The Business Park zone is intended to provide a mixture of commercial and 
industrial development, creating a pedestrian-friendly shopping experience and 
environment. The use of a food truck is consistent with the current zoning.  
 
Recommendation: 
 
The applicant’s request for a conditional use permit to operate a food trailer/mobile food 
vendor located at 860 Applegate Road is consistent with the land use designation and 
the AMC 17.39.030. Staff recommends Planning Commission approve the conditional 
use permit. 
 
II. FISCAL IMPACTS:  
 
No negative fiscal impacts are anticipated with the approval of this project. This item 
has been reviewed by the Finance Department. 
 
III. LEGAL REVIEW: 
 



Agenda Report – Resolution No. 0250-24 Page 6 
 
   

 
 
 

  

This item has been reviewed by the City Attorney. 
 
IV. EXISTING POLICY:  
 

N/A 
 

V. INTERDEPARTMENTAL COORDINATION:  
 
An interdepartmental routing sheet was sent to all required departments and affected 
agencies for review, and their comments and conditions have been incorporated. 
 
VI. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION:  
 
The public hearing was adequately noticed and advertised for the regularly scheduled 
Planning Commission hearing. The public will have the opportunity to provide comments 
on this item prior to Planning Commission action. 
 
VII. ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW:  
 
Pursuant to the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA), this project is categorically 
exempt under guideline section 15311(c), “Accessory Structures,” because section 
15311(c) provides for an exemption for the placement of seasonal or temporary use items 
such as lifeguard towers, mobile food units, portable restrooms, or similar items in 
generally the same location from time to time in publicly owned parks, stadiums, or other 
facilities designed for public use (such as a lot containing a publicly available gas station 
and convenience store).   
 
VIII. STEPS FOLLOWING APPROVAL:  

 
Following adoption of Resolution No. PC 0250-24, Conditional Use Permit No.  24-17-
0100 and Site Plan No. 24-17-0200 and a five-day appeal period, the signed resolution 
will be given to the applicant.  
 
Prepared by: Kayla Rashad, Executive Assistant 
 
Submitted by: Greg Thompson, Deputy City Manager / Community Development 
Director 
 
Attachments:  

1. Resolution No. 0250-24 
2. Uniform Development Application  
3. Operational Statement  
4. Site Plan  
5. Food Truck Images 

 



 
 
 
 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

OF THE CITY OF ATWATER 

   
 
 
                                                                                                                                    

RESOLUTION NO. PC 0250-24 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING 
COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF ATWATER 
APPROVING CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT NO. 24-
17-0100 AND SITE PLAN NO. 24-17-0200 FOR A 
MOBILE FOOD TRAILER TO BE LOCATED AT 
860 APPLEGATE ROAD, ATWATER (APN: 003-
170-028) 

WHEREAS, at a duly noticed public hearing held on August 21st, 2024, the Planning 
Commission of the City of Atwater reviewed Conditional Use Permit No. 24-17-0100 and 
Site Plan No. 24-17-0200. 

WHEREAS, this project is statutorily exempt from environmental review under California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) guideline 15311(c), “Accessory Structures;” and, 

WHEREAS,  __ person(s) spoke in favor of the Conditional Use Permit and Site Plan, __ 
person(s) spoke in opposition of the Conditional Use Permit and Site Plan, and __ written 
comment(s) have been submitted either in opposition or in favor of the Conditional Use 
Permit and Site Plan; and, 

WHEREAS, the proposed Conditional Use Permit No. 24-17-0100 and Site Plan No. 24-
17-0200 would not have a detrimental effect on the health, safety, and welfare of the 
neighborhood nor have any adverse effect on the community; and, 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission finds that the following findings can be made for 
Conditional Use Permit No. 24-17-0100 and Site Plan No. 24-17-0200, in accordance 
with Atwater Municipal Code Section 17.71: 

1. The applicant proposes to operate as a Mobile Food Trailer in compliance with all 
applicable City regulations.  

2. The project is consistent with the City’s General Plan and Zoning Ordinance. 
3. The project is exempt from environmental review pursuant CEQA guideline 

15311(c), “Accessory Structures”. 
4. The public hearing for this application has been adequately noticed and advertised. 
5. Adoption of the resolution will not have a detrimental effect on the health, safety, and 

welfare of the neighborhood or any adverse effects on the community. 



Planning Commission Resolution No. 0250-24 Page 2 
 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the recitals above are true and correct and 
hereby incorporated by reference. Planning Commission of the City of Atwater does 
hereby approve Conditional Use Permit No. 24-17-0100 and Site Plan No. 24-17-0200 
for a mobile food vendor located at 860 Applegate Road (APN: 003-170-028) subject to 
the following conditions: 

BUILDING  
 

1. The site shall meet all requirements for mobile food vendors as per the Atwater 

Municipal Code. 

2. State and Federal Accessibility requirements shall be provided for the business. 

 
CODE ENFORCEMENT 
 

3. All outdoor seating, tables, portable shade structures are prohibited. 

4. All signs must comply with the Atwater Municipal Code section 17.69. 

5. Site inspection currently has parking lot chained off from vehicle access. Applicant 

is not to allow any parking associated with the business to encroach onto 

Sycamore Ave or Progress Ave. 

6. Applicant is to disclose all additional lighting fixtures/plans for approval prior to 

installation. The structured lighting at this location is minimal. 

7. Applicant is to mitigate all trash associated with the business. 

FIRE 
 

8. Commercial Class A, B, C extinguisher will be installed and clearly visible for 
Kitchen cooking areas in accordance with NFPA 10 and 2022 CFC 

9. The business will be required to have a Class 3A 40B, C Dry Chemical Extinguisher. 

POLICE   

10. The applicant must ensure that there is sufficient parking and travel space to 
prevent traffic hazards. 

11. The applicant will ensure any external electricity is secured to prevent theft of 
utilities. 



Planning Commission Resolution No. 0250-24 Page 3 
 

12. The business will provide the addition of adequate lighting to prevent unwanted 
access or camping on the property. 

13. Any external water is secured to prevent theft of utilities. 

PLANNING  
 

14. All on-site graffiti shall be the responsibility of the property owner. All graffiti shall 
be abated in accordance with City Graffiti Ordinances. 

 
15. Project shall comply with the most current California Code of Regulations Title 

24, parts 1 through 12, the most current Health and Safety Codes and the most 
current Fire and Life Safety Codes, all along with the California State 
Amendments. All building permit applications received by the City of Atwater 
Building Division on or after January 1, 2020, shall comply with parts 1 through 
10 and part 12 of the 2019 edition of the California Code of Regulations Title 24. 
 

16. The Mobile Food Trailer will operate between the hours of 10:00 am and 4:00 
pm Tuesday through Friday, and between the hours of 10:00 am and 8:00 pm 
Saturday and Sunday.  
 

17. Provide an annual Conditional Use Permit Monitoring fee in accordance with the 
Miscellaneous Fee Schedule.  
 

18. Provide a one-time Conditional Use Permit General Plan Update in accordance 
with the Miscellaneous Fee Schedule upon the issuance of this permit. 

 
19. Applicant shall comply with all the conditions of approval prior to issuance of a 

business license. 
 

20. The Planning Commission shall retain the right to reconsider Conditional Use 
Permit No. 24-17-0100 and Site Plan No. 24-17-0200. 
 

21. Applicant shall comply with all Commercial and Industrial Design Guidelines. Minor 
changes to the architectural style or square footage shall be reviewed and 
approved by the City Planner. 
 

22. Applicant shall submit a sign application prior to installation of all proposed signs 
to be installed on buildings or onsite shall be reviewed and approved by the City 
Planner. 
 

23. This Conditional Use Permit is non-transferrable and a copy of which shall be 
posted with the business during the hours of operation. 
 



Planning Commission Resolution No. 0250-24 Page 4 
 

24. The Mobile Food Trailer’s business equipment shall be appropriately placed as to 
not interfere with sight triangles, on-site circulation, vehicular, bicycle, ADA, or 
pedestrian pathways, emergency access, fire lanes, drive aisles, required 
setbacks, landscaping requirements, parking, drainage, or any other requirements 
that have been imposed as part of the site plan approval for the premises or 
property on which the business is located, and shall be located in a manner that 
will not constitute a safety hazard. 
 

25. The Mobile Food Trailer’s business equipment shall be placed only on a paved, 
concrete, or other impervious surface or approved equivalent. 
 

26. The Mobile food vendors shall vacate the premises upon closing of the posted 
hours of operation. 
 

27. The site of the business shall always be kept clean and free of litter. Trash and 
garbage shall be removed from the site at the end of each day. 
 

28. Wastewater generated by this use shall not be released on-site or into any storm 
drainage or irrigation system. 
 

29. Grease and other waste products shall be disposed of per the requirements of the 
Merced County Division of Environmental Health (MCDEH). 
 

30. Approval of this Conditional Use Permit application does not constitute approval 
for any other entitlement or any necessary permit, license, or approval. 
 

31. The applicant shall comply with all City, County, State and Federal regulations. 
 

32. Prior to commencement of operations, the applicant, if required shall obtain a 
mobile food facility permit from MCDEH and thereafter operate within the 
parameters of the permit and the applicable sections of the California Retail Food 
Code. 
 

33. The mobile food vehicles (to include self-contained trucks, trailers, and carts) shall 
be located within 200 feet travel distance of an MCDEH approved restroom facility 
to include a hand washing station. The mobile food staff shall always have access 
to this restroom during operation of the business. If the restrooms are locked, the 
food vendors staff must have a key in their possession. 
 

34. The mobile food vendors shall not obtain any water from the premises, nor shall 
any wastewater from the food facility be drained to on-site sewer connection or to 
the ground surface. No solid waste (trash, etc.) from the mobile food vendors shall 
be disposed of on the premises. 
 



Planning Commission Resolution No. 0250-24 Page 5 
 

35. Should the water supply or sanitary sewer service to the restrooms of the premises 
become interrupted, then the operation of the mobile food vendors shall cease until 
said time that service returns. 
 

36. The mobile food vendors must report to its approved commissary at least once 
every day for cleaning, discharge of wastewater, restocking of fresh potable water 
supply, food, and other consumable supplies. 
 

37. Any extension cords used to supply power to the mobile food vendors equipment 
shall be rated for outdoor use. The cord must be one continuous cord that will not 
interfere with any paths of travel, including emergency access or accessibility. 
 

38. Vendors shall comply with all requirements of the San Joaquin Valley Air Pollution 
District (SJVAPCD) for all equipment used in association with the mobile food 
vendors, equipment, accessories, and any mobile power generation. 
 

39. This Conditional Use Permit shall expire within six (6) months from the day of 
approval if the operation has not started. 
 

40. The Applicant will not be allowed to have any outdoor seating/dining/shade 
structures. 
 

41. Any violation of these conditions will be subject to a citation from Code 
Enforcement. 
 

42. Changes to the location of the mobile food trailer will is subject to a new Conditional 
Use Permit for new parcels or a site plan amendment at the current location. 

 
43. This approval is dependent upon and limited to the proposals and plans 

contained, supporting documents submitted, presentations made to staff, and 
Planning Commission as affirmed to by the applicant. Any variation from these 
plans, proposals, supporting documents, or presentations is subject to review 
and approval prior to implementation. 

44. The applicant or applicant’s successor in interest shall indemnify and defend and 
hold harmless the City of Atwater, its agents, officers, and employees from any 
and all claims, actions, or proceedings against the City of Atwater, its agents, 
officers, and employees to attack, set aside, void, or annul any approval by the 
City of Atwater and its advisory agency, appeal board, or legislative body 
concerning this application, which action is brought within applicable statutes of 
limitations. The City of Atwater shall promptly notify the applicant or applicant’s 
successor in interest of any claim or proceedings and shall cooperate fully in the 
defense. If the City fails to do so, the applicant or applicant’s successor in interest 
shall not thereafter be responsible to defend, indemnify or hold the City harmless. 



Planning Commission Resolution No. 0250-24 Page 6 
 

This condition may be placed on any plans or other documents pertaining to this 
application. 

 
The foregoing resolution is hereby adopted this 21st day of August, 2024. 
 
AYES:   
NOES:  
ABSENT:      
      
      APPROVED: 
 
 
      __________________________________                                                               
      DON BORGWARDT,  
      CHAIR  
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
______________________________                                                                           
GREG THOMPSON,  
DEPUTY CITY MANAGER /  
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR 



































 

How the trailer will be powered? 
 
INVERTER GENERATOR 9500 W 
 

 
EXTRA GENERATOR IN CASE OF NEED 4500 W 
 

  



 

How many employees you will have at a time and in total. 
 
FAMILY OWN. MY WIFE AND MY SELF (MARISELA FARIAS & 
CARLOS M) 
 
How many parking stalls will you take up including employee vehicles 
 
4 TOTAL.. 
 

 
15 EMPTY  
 
Hours of operation 
 
TUESDAY TO FRIDAY 10 AM TO 4 PM 
SATURDAY AND SUNDAY 10 AM TO 8 PM 
 
Commissary name and location 
 
LOS CERRITOS CARNICERÍA 235 W 12 ST MERCED STE I 

 

FOOD TRAILER AND TRUCK PARKING 



 

 
 



   

Sycamore Ave

ALMOND TREE RESTAURANT

1490 Sycamore Ave, Atwater, CA 95301

APPLEGATE INN
1501 Sycamore Ave, Atwater, CA 95301

PLAN SYMBOLS 

PROPERTY PERIMETER 

PARKING LOT SPACE 

STREETS 

EXHIBITION 
 VEHICLES 
 
   DISTANCE    

DISABLED PARKING 

GARBAGE CAN 

 

 

 

FT 

 

 

Applegate Rd                                                   Applegate Rd 

 

Sycamore Ave 

ALMOND TREE RESTAURANT 

1490 Sycamore Ave, Atwater, CA 95301

APPLEGATE INN 
1501 Sycamore Ave, Atwater, CA 95301 

 

13 

12 

 

10 

 

8 

7 

6 

860 APPLEGATE RD, ATWATER, CA 
37.345921575148886, 
120.6122944613769695301
89WQ+25 ATWATER, CALIFORNIA
P IN 003-170-028 
APPLICATION NUMBER
CUP-24-003 
 PERMIT NO. 24-17-0100
 SITE PLAN NO. 24-17
            

       DRIVEW
AY 

 

PARKING
 

16 

           

      DRIVEW
AY 

P
r
o
g
r
e
s
s
 
A
v
e 

Progress Ave 

Sycamore Ave

8FT

16FT

 

14 

 66 FT 

Carlos Maciel 
701 Cedar Av. Atwater 95301
(209) 205-6750 

4 3 2 1 

860 APPLEGATE RD, ATWATER, CA  
37.345921575148886, -
120.6122944613769695301 
89WQ+25 ATWATER, CALIFORNIA 

APPLICATION NUMBER 

0100 
17-0200 

Vacant BLD
G

 

 PERIM
ETER:  343 FT 

AREA:  7,342 SQ
 FT 

 19 17
  

18 

NO 
PARKING 

 

Sycamore Ave Sycamore Ave Sycamore Ave

Progress Ave 

Bathroom
 

8FT 

16FT 
27 FT 

5 FT 

64 FT  

701 Cedar Av. Atwater 95301 

 

160 FT 

Sycamore Ave 

Sycamore Ave 

Perimeter: 532.15FT 
Area: 9988.91 Square Foot 
Property Line 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 
AGENDA REPORT  
 
      

 

  
 
MEETING DATE: August 21, 2024 
 
TO:    Chair and Commissioners 
 
FROM:   Scott Ruffalo, Planning Technician 
 
SUBJECT:  Public hearing to consider adopting a resolution approving 

Conditional Use Permit No. 24-19-0100 and Site Plan No. 24-19-
0200 for a mobile food truck located at 1100 Shaffer Road (APN: 
004-110-005). 

 
    

RECOMMENDED COMMISSION ACTION: 
 
It is recommended that Planning Commission: 
 
1. Open the public hearing and receive any testimony from the public; 

 
2. Close the public hearing; 

 
3. Make a finding that the project is categorically exempt under California 

Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) guideline section 15311 (c), “Accessory 
Structures;” and, adopt Resolution No. 0252-24, Conditional Use Permit No. 24-
19-0100 and Site Plan No. 24-19-0200, for a mobile food truck located at 1100 
Shaffer Road in Atwater (APN: 004-110-005). 

 
I. BACKGROUND:  
 
The subject property is located at 1100 Shaffer Road in Atwater (APN: 004-110-005) 
(refer to Figure 1). The parcel is approximately 1.4 acres and is a retail gasoline outlet 
and convenience store (3,547 square feet), and future shopping center (5,952 square 
feet), and was approved July 23, 2020, by Resolution No. 0135-20. Parking for the retail 
gasoline outlet and convenience store is a total of nineteen (19) parking spaces (three 
parking spaces are designated as ADA parking spaces). The future shopping center will 
contain an additional eighteen (18) parking spaces. 
 
 
 
 



Agenda Report – Resolution No. 0252-24 Page 2 
 
   

 
 
 

  

 
Figure 1: Site Location 
 

 

 
ANALYSIS:  
 
The applicant requests a Conditional Use Permit to allow it to operate a mobile food truck 
at 1100 Shaffer Road in Atwater (APN: 004-110-005)  in a Business Park Zone. The food 
truck is approximately 16 x 5 (80 sq-ft) and will be located on the east side of the property, 
with the serving area facing west. The food truck will be on the asphalt paved portion of 
the property. The food truck will have a garbage can located to the immediate north of the 
food truck and will have indoor and outdoor lighting. The food truck will operate with a 
total of two employees between the hours of 6:00 am – 10:00 pm, Monday through Friday. 
The applicant has arranged the use of restrooms located 120 ft. within the Sinclair Gas 
Station store and has secured a commissary with Agaves Mexican Grill for garbage 
service, oil management, and to house its food products during hours of non-operation. 
The proposed food truck will only occupy three parking spaces during its operation, which 
will still comply with Sinclair’s parking requirements.  
 
As previously stated, the paved portion of future shopping center adjacent to the Sinclair 
Gas Station is where the food truck will be located, has eighteen (18) parking spaces 



Agenda Report – Resolution No. 0252-24 Page 3 
 
   

 
 
 

  

(including two ADA parking spaces). The food truck will utilize three parking spaces 
leaving thirty-four (34) parking spaces available, which provides the minimum 
requirement per the Atwater Municipal Code. Per AMC section, the following parking 
requirements apply to commercial uses:   
 

A. Retail stores, personal services, professional and business offices, banks, and 
post offices: one space for every 500 square feet of floor area. However, uses 
which do not generate significant traffic, including but not limited to furniture stores, 
may convert part of the required parking into landscaping at the discretion of the 
Planning Commission; this landscaped area is to be converted if the need arises 
or the land use changes.  

 
B. Further, for Mobile Food Vendors, the following specific parking requirements 

apply: 
 

1. If the mobile food vendor shares a site with an established use, any parking  
spaces occupied by patrons of the mobile food vendor shall not be counted 
against the established use’s parking requirements. If the established use 
notifies the City that parking has become an issue for its own patrons as a result 
of the mobile food vendor’s operations, the Planning Commission shall hold a 
hearing to determine whether to revoke or modify the mobile food vendor’s 
conditional use permit. 

 
Description of Surrounding Uses: The properties immediately to the north are General 
Commercial; immediately to the south is Business Park; immediately to west is Low 
Density Residential, and Downtown Business District, and to the east is Low Density 
Residential. 
 
Figure 2: Land Use Designation 
 

 



Agenda Report – Resolution No. 0252-24 Page 4 
 
   

 
 
 

  

Business Park 
 
Land Use Designation: The project site has the land use designation of Business Park; 
this designation provides for large buildings, or a cluster of buildings usually developed 
in a “campus” style. Business uses may include manufacturing operations within 
completely enclosed buildings, associated offices, trade schools, and supporting child 
care and retail activities. Outside storage is limited and must be effectively screened with 
solid fencing and/or landscaping. The operations are quiet and require infrequent use of 
large trucks for pickup or delivery of parts or products. Buildings are visually pleasing with 
extensive landscaping around buildings and parking areas. Projects with multiple 
buildings provide a strong pedestrian orientation between the structures. A typical project 
has vehicular access to a major street with on-site parking and a project identification 
sign. The project intends to operate a food truck that is consistent with the designated 
use of the Atwater General Plan land use designation. 
 
Figure 3: Zoning Designation 
 

 

Business Park 
 

Zoning: The Business Park (B-P) zone is intended to encourage a mixture of commercial 
and industrial development. The zone's objectives are to provide an attractively designed 
business park that allows mixed commercial and industrial uses made compatible through 
promotion of architectural elements and to ensure that the developments are visually 
organized, clear, and coherent to achieve a "sense of place" for this district.  



Agenda Report – Resolution No. 0252-24 Page 5 
 
   

 
 
 

  

Recommendation: 
 
The applicant’s request for a conditional use permit and site plan, to operate a food truck 
located at 1100 Shaffer Road is consistent with the land use designation and the AMC 
17.39.030. Staff recommends Planning Commission approve the conditional use permit 
and site plan. 
 
II. FISCAL IMPACTS:  
 
No negative fiscal impacts are anticipated with the approval of this project. This item 
has been reviewed by the Finance Department. 
 
III. LEGAL REVIEW: 
 
This item has been reviewed by the City Attorney. 
 
IV. EXISTING POLICY:  
 

N/A 
 

V. INTERDEPARTMENTAL COORDINATION:  
 
An interdepartmental routing sheet was sent to all required departments and affected 
agencies for review, and their comments and conditions have been incorporated. 
 
VI. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION:  
 
The public hearing was adequately noticed and advertised for the regularly scheduled 
Planning Commission hearing. The public will have the opportunity to provide comments 
on this item prior to Planning Commission action. 
 
VII. ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW:  
 
Pursuant to the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA), this project is categorically 
exempt under guideline section 15311(c), “Accessory Structures,” because section 
15311(c) provides for an exemption for the placement of seasonal or temporary use items 
such as lifeguard towers, mobile food units, portable restrooms, or similar items in 
generally the same location from time to time in publicly owned parks, stadiums, or other 
facilities designed for public use (such as a lot containing a publicly available retail tire 
shop).   
 
VIII. STEPS FOLLOWING APPROVAL:  

 
Following adoption of Resolution No. PC 0252-24, Conditional Use Permit No. 24-19-
0100 and Site Plan No. 24-19-0200 and a five-day appeal period, the signed resolution 
will be given to the applicant.  



Agenda Report – Resolution No. 0252-24 Page 6 
 
   

 
 
 

  

Prepared by: Scott Ruffalo, Planning Technician 
 
Submitted by: Greg Thompson, Deputy City Manager / Community Development 
Director 
 
Attachments:  

1. RSO 0252-24 Resolution 
2. RSO 0252-24 Operational Statement 
3. RSO 0252-24 Uniform Development Application 
4. Site Plan 
5. Food Truck Images 

 



PLANNING COMMISSION 
OF THE CITY OF ATWATER

RESOLUTION NO.  0252-24 

A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING 
COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF ATWATER 
APPROVING CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT NO. 24-
19-0100 AND SITE PLAN NO. 24-19-0200 FOR A 
MOBILE FOOD TRUCK TO BE LOCATED AT 1100 
SHAFFER ROAD, ATWATER (APN: 004-110-005)

WHEREAS, at a duly noticed public hearing held on August 21, 2024, the Planning 
Commission of the City of Atwater reviewed Conditional Use Permit No. 24-19-0100 and 
Site Plan No. 24-19-0200. 

WHEREAS, this project is statutorily exempt from environmental review under California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) guideline 15311(c), “Accessory Structures;” and, 

WHEREAS,  __ person(s) spoke in favor of the Conditional Use Permit and Site Plan, __ 
person(s) spoke in opposition of the Conditional Use Permit and Site Plan, and __ written 
comment(s) have been submitted either in opposition or in favor of the Conditional Use 
Permit and Site Plan; and, 

WHEREAS, the proposed Conditional Use Permit No. 24-19-0100 and Site Plan No. 24-
19-0200 would not have a detrimental effect on the health, safety, and welfare of the
neighborhood nor have any adverse effect on the community; and,

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission finds that the following findings can be made for 
Conditional Use Permit No. 24-19-0100 and Site Plan No. 24-19-0200, in accordance 
with Atwater Municipal Code Section 17.71: 

1. The applicant proposes to operate as a Mobile Food Truck in compliance with all
applicable City regulations.

2. The project is consistent with the City’s General Plan and Zoning Ordinance.
3. The project is exempt from environmental review pursuant CEQA guideline

15311(c), “Accessory Structures”.
4. The public hearing for this application has been adequately noticed and advertised.
5. Adoption of the resolution will not have a detrimental effect on the health, safety, and

welfare of the neighborhood or any adverse effects on the community.



Planning Commission Resolution No. 0252-24 Page 2 
 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the recitals above are true and correct and 
hereby incorporated by reference. Planning Commission of the City of Atwater does 
hereby approve Conditional Use Permit No. 24-19-0100 and Site Plan No. 24-19-0200 
for a mobile food vendor located at 1100 Shaffer Road (APN: 004-110-005) subject to 
the following conditions: 

BUILDING  
 

1. Stove Hood system shall be certified and in good standing by a California State 
Licensed Fire Protection Company.  
 

2. Passing inspection for hood, fire extinguisher and approved location by both 
Building Division and Fire Department. 
 

3. Once phase two of the property owner’s project to build a new commercial 
building permit is issued the food truck will be forced to move. The truck is to take 
away three parking stalls dedicated to the main building (currently not built yet), 
and it has no direct outside lighting (yet) where said truck is to be parked. 

 
CODE ENFORCEMENT 
 

1. Outdoor dining seats and tables are prohibited. 

2. All signs must comply with the Atwater Municipal Code section 17.69. 

FIRE 
 

3. Check that there is a clearance of at least 10 ft away from buildings, 
structures, vehicles, and any combustible materials or as prescribed by the 
AHJ 

4. Commercial Class A, B, C extinguisher will be installed and clearly visible for 
Kitchen cooking areas in accordance with NFPA 10 and 2022 CFC. 
 

5. If cooking with deep fryers a Class K extinguisher will also need to be installed 
and clearly visible. 

6. The food trailer will need to be at a distance of at least 40 feet from the fuel loading 
zones and fuel pumps. 

POLICE   

7. The applicant will ensure any external electricity is secured to prevent theft of 
utilities. 



Planning Commission Resolution No. 0252-24 Page 3 
 

8. The business will provide the addition of adequate lighting to prevent unwanted 
access or camping on the property. 

9. The business shall ensure that any external water is secured to prevent theft of 
utilities. 
 

10. No obstruction to paths of travel for pedestrians or vehicles. 

PLANNING  
 

11. All on-site graffiti shall be the responsibility of the property owner. All graffiti shall 
be abated in accordance with City Graffiti Ordinances. 

 
12. The project shall comply with the most current California Code of Regulations 

Title 24, parts 1 through 12, the most current Health and Safety Codes and the 
most current Fire and Life Safety Codes, all along with the California State 
Amendments. All building permit applications received by the City of Atwater 
Building Division on or after January 1, 2020, shall comply with parts 1 through 
10 and part 12 of the 2019 edition of the California Code of Regulations Title 24. 
 

13. The Mobile Food Truck will operate Monday through Friday between the hours of 
6:00 am and 10:00 pm. 
 

14. The applicant will provide an annual Conditional Use Permit Monitoring fee in 
accordance with the Miscellaneous Fee Schedule.  
 

15. The applicant will provide a one-time Conditional Use Permit General Plan 
Update fee in accordance with the Miscellaneous Fee Schedule upon the 
issuance of this permit. 

 
16. Applicant shall comply with all the conditions of approval prior to issuance of a 

business license. 
 

17. The Planning Commission shall retain the right to reconsider Conditional Use 
Permit No. 24-19-0100 and Site Plan No. 24-19-0200. 
 

18. The applicant shall comply with all Commercial and Industrial Design Guidelines. 
Minor changes to the architectural style or square footage shall be reviewed and 
approved by the City Planner. 
 

19. This Conditional Use Permit is non-transferrable and a copy of which shall be 
posted with the business during the hours of operation. 
 

20. The Mobile Food Truck’s business equipment shall be appropriately placed as to 
not interfere with sight triangles, on-site circulation, vehicular, bicycle, ADA, or 



Planning Commission Resolution No. 0252-24 Page 4 
 

pedestrian pathways, emergency access, fire lanes, drive aisles, required 
setbacks, landscaping requirements, parking, drainage, or any other requirements 
that have been imposed as part of the site plan approval for the premises or 
property on which the business is located, and shall be located in a manner that 
will not constitute a safety hazard. 
 

21. The Mobile Food Trucks’s business equipment shall be placed only on a paved, 
concrete, or other impervious surface or approved equivalent. 
 

22. The Mobile food vendors shall vacate the premises upon closing of the posted 
hours of operation. 
 

23. The site of the business shall always be kept clean and free of litter. Trash and 
garbage shall be removed from the site at the end of each day. 
 

24. Any wastewater generated by this use shall not be released on-site or into any 
storm drainage or irrigation system. 
 

25. Grease and other waste products shall be disposed of per the requirements of the 
Merced County Division of Environmental Health (MCDEH). 
 

26. Approval of this Conditional Use Permit application does not constitute approval 
for any other entitlement or any necessary permit, license, or approval. 
 

27. The applicant shall comply with all City, County, State and Federal regulations. 
 

28. Prior to commencement of operations, the applicant, if required shall obtain a 
mobile food facility permit from MCDEH and thereafter operate within the 
parameters of the permit and the applicable sections of the California Retail Food 
Code. 
 

29. The mobile food vehicles (to include self-contained trucks, trailers, and carts) shall 
be located within 200 feet travel distance of an MCDEH approved restroom facility 
to include a hand washing station. The mobile food staff shall always have access 
to this restroom during operation of the business. If the restrooms are locked, the 
food vendors staff must have a key in their possession. 
 

30. The mobile food vendors shall not obtain any water from the premises, nor shall 
any wastewater from the food facility be drained to on-site sewer connection or to 
the ground surface. No solid waste (trash, etc.) from the mobile food vendors shall 
be disposed of on the premises. 
 

31. Should the water supply or sanitary sewer service to the restrooms of the 
premises become interrupted, then the operation of the mobile food vendors shall 



Planning Commission Resolution No. 0252-24 Page 5 
 

cease until said time that service returns. 
 

32. The mobile food vendors must report to its approved commissary at least once 
every day for cleaning, discharge of wastewater, restocking of fresh potable water 
supply, food, and other consumable supplies. 
 

33. Any extension cords used to supply power to the mobile food vendors equipment 
shall be rated for outdoor use. The cord must be one continuous cord that will not 
interfere with any paths of travel, including emergency access or accessibility. 
 

34. Vendors shall comply with all requirements of the San Joaquin Valley Air Pollution 
District (SJVAPCD) for all equipment used in association with the mobile food 
vendors, equipment, accessories, and any mobile power generation. 
 

35. This Conditional Use Permit shall expire within six (6) months from the day of 
approval if the operation has not started. 
 

36. Any violation of these conditions will be subject to a citation from Code 
Enforcement. 
 

37. The Applicant will not be allowed to have any outdoor seating/dining/shade 
structures. 
 

38. Changes to the location of the mobile food trailer will is subject to a new Conditional 
Use Permit for new parcels or a site plan amendment at the current location. 

 
39. This approval is dependent upon and limited to the proposals and plans 

contained, supporting documents submitted, presentations made to staff, and 
Planning Commission as affirmed to by the applicant. Any variation from these 
plans, proposals, supporting documents, or presentations is subject to review 
and approval prior to implementation. 

40. The applicant or applicant’s successor in interest shall indemnify and defend and 
hold harmless the City of Atwater, its agents, officers, and employees from any 
and all claims, actions, or proceedings against the City of Atwater, its agents, 
officers, and employees to attack, set aside, void, or annul any approval by the 
City of Atwater and its advisory agency, appeal board, or legislative body 
concerning this application, which action is brought within applicable statutes of 
limitations. The City of Atwater shall promptly notify the applicant or applicant’s 
successor in interest of any claim or proceedings and shall cooperate fully in the 
defense. If the City fails to do so, the applicant or applicant’s successor in interest 
shall not thereafter be responsible to defend, indemnify or hold the City harmless. 
This condition may be placed on any plans or other documents pertaining to this 
application. 

 



Planning Commission Resolution No. 0252-24 Page 6 
 

The foregoing resolution is hereby adopted this 21st day of August, 2024. 
 
AYES:   
NOES:  
ABSENT:      
      
      
 
 
 
 
 
      APPROVED: 
 
 
      __________________________________                                                               
      DON BORGWARDT,  
      CHAIR  
 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
______________________________                                                                           
GREG THOMPSON,  
DEPUTY CITY MANAGER /  
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR 















































 

 

 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 
AGENDA REPORT  
 
      

 

  

 
MEETING DATE: August 21, 2024 
 
TO:    Chair and Commissioners 
 
FROM:   John Seymour, City Engineer  
 
SUBJECT:  Public hearing to consider adopting a resolution recommending 

City Council adopt Alternative #3 as the preferred Alternative for 
the Bellevue Road Rehabilitation and Realignment Project. 

 
    

RECOMMENDED COMMISSION ACTION: 
 
It is recommended that Planning Commission: 
 
1. Open the public hearing and receive any testimony from the public; and, 

 
2. Close the Public Hearing. 
 
3. Motion Adopt Resolution recommending City Council adopt Alternative #3 as the 

preferred Alternative for the Bellevue Road Rehabilitation and Realignment 
Project. 

 
I. BACKGROUND:  
 
Measure V is a county-wide, half-cent Transportation Sales Tax Measure approved by 
Merced County voters in November 2016, under which MCAG is authorized to administer 
the proceeds. The voter-approved Transportation Expenditure Plan programs 44% of 
funds for Regional Projects, 50% of funds for Local Projects (at least 20% of which must 
be set aside for Alternative Modes Projects), 5% of funds for Transit, and 1% of funds for 
administration. Voters authorized the Measure V Transportation Sales Tax for 30 years, 
terminating on March 31, 2047. Funding is provided from the State Board of Equalization 
(BOE) to MCAG, which in turn distributes the allocated funds. 
  
The 44% of funds allocated for Regional Projects is further divided into an Eastside share 
of 27% and a Westside share of 17%, with the dividing line between the two being the 
San Joaquin River. Two committees were established to recommend Regional Projects. 
The Eastside Regional Projects Committee and the Westside Regional Projects 
Committee each consist of one councilmember from each city within the jurisdiction and 

PLANNING COMMISSION 
 

Donald Borgwardt 
   

Jagandeep Mokha  Ileisha Sanders 
 
Harold Kadach   Mayra Sanchez-Garcia 
 



Agenda Report – Planning Commission  Page 2 
 
   

 
 
 

  

each County Supervisor whose district includes area east or west of the river. The 
Regional Projects Committees make recommendations to the MCAG Governing Board, 
which has authority to oversee funds. 
  
After adopting new Regional Projects Policies on April 15, 2021, MCAG issued the 
Measure V Call for Projects for the 2021 Implementation Plan on April 30, 2021 with an 
application deadline of August 31, 2021. The East Side Regional Projects Committee met 
twice in October 2021 to discuss Regional Project Candidate Evaluation Forms, projects 
programming, and projected revenues and cash flows, then approved project funding 
recommendations to be made to the MCAG Governing Board at their regular meeting of 
November 18, 2021. The project was included in the funding recommendations made by 
the East Side Regional Projects Committee and approved unanimously by the MCAG 
Board. 
 
Following approval of the Regional Projects Committees’ recommendations, a Draft 
Measure V 2021 Implementation Plan was presented by staff to the MCAG Board at 
public hearing on December 16, 2021. The MCAG Governing Board unanimously 
adopted the Measure V 2021 Implementation Plan with no changes to the draft plan. 
  
The adopted Measure V 2021 Implementation Plan includes programmed expenditure for 
the Bellevue Road Rehabilitation and Realignment Project, described as follows: 
"$200,000 for a project study report. This is a multi-jurisdiction project of the City of 
Atwater and the County of Merced. It would realign and reconstruct a portion of Bellevue 
Road between Grove Avenue and Parade Street immediately west of the City of Atwater. 
This project was programmed in the 2021 update. 
 
MCAG staff developed a Draft Master Measure V Regional Project Funding Agreement 
and refined it with input from member agencies. The City of Atwater approved the Master 
Measure V Regional project Funding Agreement at its regular meeting of the City Council 
on December 10, 2018. The Measure V Regional Project Funding Agreement (project 
specific) includes an estimated project completion date, requires the initiation of 
consultant contracts and/or start of construction within six (6) months from the execution 
date of the agreement, and requires MCAG to receive and process invoices for member 
agency reimbursement within thirty (30) days. 
 
On January 10, 2022, City Council adopted Resolution No. 3276-22 approving budget 
amendment No. 18 and amending the Fiscal Year 2021-22 Budget to establish a budget 
within the Measure V regional Fund for the preparation of the PSR-E for the Bellevue 
Road project. 
 
On October 9, 2023 City Council adopted Resolution No. 3436-23 approving the final 
project study report prepared by Mark Thomas & Company for the realignment and 
extension of Bellevue Road from Parade Street to Olive Avenue. 
 



Agenda Report – Planning Commission  Page 3 
 
   

 
 
 

  

On June 4th, 2024 MCAG and the City of Atwater entered into a funding agreement for 
$2,150,000.00 to fund the Plans, Specifications, and Estimates (PS&E) Phase of the 
Bellevue Road Rehabilitation and Realignment Project. 
 
II. ANALYSIS:  
 
The City of Atwater (City) in partnership with the County of Merced (County) has initiated 
this project to evaluate improvements to a local road alignment that will help relieve 
congestion and improve traffic flow through the City along Bellevue Road. The City 
proposes to construct an approximately 1.6-mile-long, 4-lane arterial road in Merced 
County. The proposed Bellevue Road realignment will begin between Olive Avenue and 
Grove Avenue, east of State Route 99. Bellevue Road will be realigned south of the 
existing Bellevue Road, then conform near the Parade Street and Bellevue Road 
intersection. New intersection connections will be required at Vine Avenue and Orchard 
Park Avenue. The project will also include Class IV bike lanes. All improvements will be 
designed to the City of Atwater Standards. 
 
The project will provide connectivity between State Route 99 and the Castle Commerce 
Center located near the east side of Atwater. The road realignment will provide a direct 
route and reduce the vehicle miles traveled (VMT). 
 
This Project is currently included in the Regional Transportation Plan, adopted by 
Resolution 3250-21 and prioritized as a Tier 1 Project by the City Council. The proposed 
alignment will provide the following benefits to the City of Atwater: Improve accessibility 
and mobility of goods and persons in Atwater, Provide a direct route from the SR 
99/Westside Boulevard interchange to the Castle Commerce Center, Reduce VMT, 
Reduce travel time, Provide bicycle and pedestrian facilities, Accommodate local 
development and provide consistency with existing and planned local and regional 
development. 
 
III. FISCAL IMPACTS:  
 
Sufficient funding is available via the Measure V regional tax for the Plans, 
Specifications, and Estimate for the project. 
 
IV. LEGAL REVIEW: 
 
This item has been reviewed by the City Attorney. 
 
V. EXISTING POLICY:  
 
None  
 
VI. INTERDEPARTMENTAL COORDINATION:  

 



Agenda Report – Planning Commission  Page 4 
 
   

 
 
 

  

An interdepartmental routing sheet was sent to all required departments and affected 
agencies for review, and their comments and conditions have been incorporated. 
 
VII. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION:  
 
The public hearing was adequately noticed and advertised for the regularly scheduled 
Planning Commission hearing. The public will have an opportunity to provide comments 
on this item prior to Planning Commission action.  
 
VIII. ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW:  
 
City Council will have an opportunity to make an environmental determination when 
presented with the adoption of the preferred alternative. 
 
IX. STEPS FOLLOWING APPROVAL:  

 
Following adoption of Resolution No. 0253-24, a recommendation will be made to City 
Council for Approval of the Preferred Alternative.  
 
Prepared by: John Seymour, City Engineer 
 
Submitted by: _______________________________________________ 
 Greg Thompson, Deputy City Manager  
 
Attachments:  

1. Resolution No 0253-24 
 
 



 
 
 
 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

OF THE  
CITY OF ATWATER 

   
 
 

                                                                                                                                    
RESOLUTION NO. PC 0253-24 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING 
COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF ATWATER 
RECOMMENDING CITY COUNCIL APPROVE 
AND ADOPT PREFERRED ALTERNATIVE #3 
FOR THE BELLEVUE ROAD REHABILITATION 
AND REALIGNMENT PROJECT 

WHEREAS, at a duly noticed public hearing on August 21, 2024, the Planning Commission 
of the City of Atwater reviewed the preferred alternative #3 for the Bellevue Road 
Rehabilitation and Realignment Project; and, 
 
WHEREAS, this project will go before City Council for approval of the Initial Study and 
environmental determination and, 

WHEREAS,  __ person(s) spoke in favor of the preferred alternative, __ person(s) 
spoke in opposition of the preferred alternative, and __ written comment(s) have been 
submitted either in opposition or in favor of the preferred alternative; and, 

WHEREAS,  the initial study for the Bellevue road rehabilitation and realignment project 
has been circulated and responses to comments have been prepared; and, 

WHEREAS, the proposed preferred alternative would not have a detrimental effect on 
the health, safety, and welfare of the neighborhood nor have any adverse effect on the 
community; and, 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission has determined that the following findings can be 
made for Bellevue Road Rehabilitation and Realignment project in support of the Project: 

1.    Proposed alternative #3 is the preferred alternative for the Bellevue Road 
Rehabilitation and Realignment Project. 

2.    The project is consistent with the circulation element of the City’s General Plan. 
3.    The public hearing for this application has been adequately noticed and 

advertised. 
4.    Adoption of the resolution will not have a detrimental effect on the health, safety, 

and welfare of the neighborhood or any adverse effects on the community. 



Planning Commission Resolution No. 0253-24 Page 2 
 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the recitals above are true and correct and 
hereby incorporated by reference. That the Planning Commission of the City of Atwater 
does hereby recommend the City Council of the City of Atwater approve and adopt the 
preferred alternative #3 for the Bellevue Road Rehabilitation and Realignment Project. 

 
The foregoing resolution is hereby adopted this 21st day of August, 2024. 
 
AYES:  
NOES:  
ABSENT:  
          
 
 
       
      APPROVED: 
 
 
 
      __________________________________                                                               
      DON BORGWARDT 
      CHAIR  
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
______________________________                                                                           
GREG THOMPSON, 
DEPUTY CITY MANAGER 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR 



  1 

  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
MEETING DATE:  August 21, 2024 

TO: Chair and Commissioners 

FROM: Greg Thompson, Deputy City Manager / Community Development 
Director 

SUBJECT: Public hearing to consider adopting a resolution approving 
Time Extension Request No. 24-21-0100 regarding 
previously approved Conditional Use Permit No. 22-11-0100 
Site Plan No. 22-11-0200 for a mini-storage facility located at 
APN: 001-146-013 & 017 West of 1619 Sycamore Avenue 

RECOMMENDED COMMISSION ACTION:  

It is recommended that Planning Commission: 

1. Open the public hearing and take any testimony from the public; 

2. Close the public hearing;  

3. Make a finding that the project is categorically exempt under California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) guideline section 15332, Class 32, “Infill 
Development”; and adopt Resolution No. 0254-24 approving Time Extension 
Request No. 24-21-0100 for previously approved Conditional Use Permit No. 
22-11-0100 and Site Plan No. 22-11-0200 for a mini-storage facility located at 
APN: 001-146-013 & 017 West of 1619 Sycamore Avenue. 

I. BACKGROUND: 

On March 15, 2023, the Planning Commission adopted Resolution No. 0204-22 approving 
Conditional Use Permit No. 22-11-0100 and Site Plan No. 22-11-0200 for a mini-storage 
facility located at APN: 001-146-013 & 017 West of 1619 Sycamore Avenue. The 
original project is expected to remain the same. 

  

 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

Donald Borgwardt      Harold Kadach 
Jagandeep Mokha     Ileisha Sanders 

Mayra Sanchez-Garcia 

 
    PLANNING COMMISSION 
    AGENDA REPORT  



  2 

The applicant is seeking a time extension request due to the lengthy process of creating 
building permit plans and getting them submitted to the Building Division. Building plans 
of this size usually take longer than 6 months and inflation is a factor as well. Many 
municipalities have an expiration date of two years on their Conditional Use Permits 
because of this. The applicant has been in contact with the Building Division regarding 
their plans and submittal, however, they are seeking a two year time extension from the 
date of expiration which would be from September 15, 2023 through September 15, 
2025. 

The subject property (APN: 001-146-013 & 017) is located west of 1619 Sycamore Avenue, 
approximately 700 feet from Sycamore Avenue and Applegate Road. The two parcels are 
approximately 2.9 acres and are currently vacant land. 

II. ANALYSIS: 

The subject property has a land use designation of Business Park (B-P) and has a 
Business Park (B-P) District Overlay. The Business Park land use designation provides for 
large buildings or a cluster of buildings usually developed in a “campus” style. Business 
may include manufacturing operations within wholly enclosed buildings, associated offices, 
trade schools, and supporting childcare and retail activities. Outside storage is limited and 
must be effectively screened with solid fencing and/or landscaping. The operations are 
quiet and require the infrequent use of large trucks for pickup or delivery of parts or 
products. Buildings are visually pleasing, with extensive landscaping around buildings and 
parking areas. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



  3 

Figure 1: Land Use Designation – Business Park 

The purpose of Business Park District Overlay is to provide an attractively designed 
business park that allows mixed commercial and industrial use. Per the Atwater Municipal 
Code (AMC) 17.39.030, all conditional uses shall be prescribed under each base zone 
district which consists of Commercial Office (C-O), Thoroughfare Commercial (C-T), 
General Commercial (C-G), Light Industrial (M-1), and Industrial Zones (M-2). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

     Figure 2: Zoning – Business Park  
 
The applicant is requesting to construct a mini-warehouse facility that will operate seven 
days a week between 6:00 am and 10:00 pm. The office portion of the project will 
operate Monday through Friday from 8:00 am to 5:00 pm with two employees per shift 
and a maximum of four employees during shift change. 
 



  4 

The Storage Facility will consist of two buildings totaling approximately 90,124 square 
feet with 577 storage units and an office. Building A is approximately 11,638 square feet 
and is located on the east side of the project site. Building B is located on the west side 
of Building A and is approximately 78,486 square feet, totaling 90,124 square feet 
(please refer to figure 3). The project will have various storage unit sizes being 
conditioned and other units not being conditioned; refer to table 1 for further information. 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



  5 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 3: Site Plan 

Pursuant to AMC section 17.49.030, a conditional use permit is required for any size of 
mini-warehouse development, including in the Business Park District. AMC section 
17.71.040, in turn, provides that a CUP may be approved by the Planning Commission if 
the proposed structure or use conforms to the requirements and intent of the zoning 
code and Atwater General Plan, that any additional conditions stipulated by the Planning 
Director as deemed necessary in the public interest will be met, and that the proposed 
use will not, under the circumstances of the particular case, constitute a nuisance or be 
detrimental to the public welfare of the community.  

In addition, pursuant to AMC section 17.49.080, applicants proposing a mini-warehouse 
development must supply site plans, landscaping and irrigation plans, and grading, 
drainage, and improvement plans to the Planning Director for processing with the CUP.  

Recommendation: 

Staff has reviewed all application materials associated with the proposed Time 
Extension, Conditional Use Permit and Site Plan, and recommend that the Planning 
Commission approves the Time Extension Request. The proposed mini-warehouse 
conforms to the requirements and intent for the Business Park zoning district overlay and 



  6 

the General Plan, the applicant will have to comply with the conditions set by the 
Planning Director as set forth in the attached resolution, and there will not, in this 
particular circumstance, be any nuisance or detrimental public welfare effects to the 
community.  

III. FISCAL IMPACTS:  

No negative fiscal impacts are anticipated with the approval of this project. This item has 
been reviewed by the Finance Department. 

IV. LEGAL REVIEW:  

This item has been reviewed by the City Attorney’s Office 

V. EXISTING POLICY:  

GOAL LU-11: Identify appropriate locations and timing for future Business Park 
development. 

VI. INTERDEPARTMENTAL COORDINATION:  
 
Departments coordinated the correct path of action to ensure the project could move 
forward. In the past, comments from all departments were incorporated into the conditions 
of approval for the Conditional Use Permit and Site Plan.  

VII. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION:  

The public hearing was adequately noticed and advertised for the regularly scheduled 
Planning Commission hearing. The public will have the opportunity to provide comments 
on this item prior to Planning Commission action. 

VIII. ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW:  

Pursuant to the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA), the project is categorically 
exempt under guideline section 15332, Class 32, “Infill Development.” The environmental 
assessment has been attached. 

IX. STEPS FOLLOWING APPROVAL:  

Following the adoption of Resolution No. 0254-24, the Recording Secretary will forward 
the signed Resolution to the applicant. 

Prepared by: Kayla Rashad, Executive Assistant 

Submitted by: Greg Thompson, Deputy City Manager / Community Development 
Director 



  7 

Attachments: 
1. Resolution No. 0254-24 
2. Resolution No. 0204-22 
3. Uniform Development Application regarding the Time Extension              
Request 
4. Site Plan 
5. Elevations 
 



 1  

 

PLANNING COMMISSION 
OF THE CITY OF ATWATER 

 
 

RESOLUTION NO. PC 0204-22 

A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING 
COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF ATWATER 
APPROVING TIME EXTENSION REQUEST NO. 
24-21-0100 REGARDING PREVIOUSLY 
APPROVED CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT NO. 
22-11-0100 AND SITE PLAN NO. 22-11-0200 FOR 
A MINI-STORAGE FACILITY LOCATED AT APN: 
001-146-013 & 017 WEST OF 1619 SYCAMORE 
AVENUE. 

WHEREAS, on August 21, 2024 the Planning Commission of the City of Atwater reviewed 
Time Extension Request No. 24-21-0100 as submitted by Jatinder Randhawa, requesting 
to construct and operate a mini-storage facility; and, 

WHEREAS, this project is categorically exempt under California Environmental Quality 
Act (CEQA) guideline section 15332, Class 32, “Infill Development;” and, 

WHEREAS, __ person(s) spoke  in favor of the project, __ person(s) spoke in opposition 
of the project, and __ written comment(s) have been submitted either in opposition or in 
favor of the project; and, 

WHEREAS, the site can accommodate the proposed use and not have a detrimental 
effect on the health, safety, and welfare of the neighborhood nor have any adverse 
effect on the community; and, 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission has determined that the following findings can 
be made for Time Extension Request No. 24-21-0100: 



 2  

1. That this application proposes to construct a self-storage facility.  
2. That the site is located in a Business Park Zone District and is consistent with 

the purpose and intent of said district.  
3. That this site is designated by the Atwater General Plan as Business Park, and 

the proposed use is consistent with the purpose and intent of the Business Park 
designation. 

4. That the project is categorically exempt under CEQA guideline section 15332 
Class 32, “Infill Development,” pursuant to the Environmental Assessment 
included herewith and made a part of this resolution by this reference.  

5. That the public hearing for this application has been adequately noticed and 
advertised. 

6. That the project would not have a detrimental effect on the health, safety, and 
welfare of the neighborhood or any adverse effects on the community. 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the Planning Commission of the City of 
Atwater does hereby approve Time Extension Request No. 24-21-0100 subject to the 
following conditions: 

 
1. The developer must adhere to all Conditions of approval from Resolution No. 0204-

22. 
 

2. The Planning Commission shall retain the right to reconsider Time Extension 
Request 24-21-0100 and Conditional Use Permit No. 22-11-0100 and Site Plan 
No. 22-11-0200. 
 

3. This approval is dependent upon and limited to the proposals and plans contained, 
supporting documents submitted, presentations made to staff, and Planning 
Commission as affirmed to by the applicant. Any variation from these plans, 
proposals, supporting documents, or presentations is subject to review and approval 
prior to implementation. 
 

4. The applicant or applicant’s successor in interest shall indemnify and defend and 
hold harmless the City of Atwater, its agents, officers, and employees from any and 
all claims, actions, or proceedings against the City of Atwater, its agents, officers, 
and employees to attack, set aside, void, or annul any approval by the City of Atwater 
and its advisory agency, appeal board, or legislative body concerning this 
application, which action is brought within applicable statutes of limitations. The City 
of Atwater shall promptly notify the applicant or applicant’s successor in interest of 
any claim or proceedings and shall cooperate fully in the defense. If the City fails to 
do so, the applicant or applicant’s successor in interest shall not thereafter be 
responsible to defend, indemnify or hold the City harmless. This condition may be 
placed on any plans or other documents pertaining to this application. 



 3  

The foregoing resolution is hereby adopted this 21st day of August, 2024. 

AYES:  
NOES: 
ABSENT:  

APPROVED:     
 
__________________________________ 
DON BORGWARDT, 
CHAIR 

 
ATTEST:      

 
   
____________________________________  
GREG THOMPSON,  
DEPUTY CITY MANAGER /  
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR  













































JOB NUMBER

DATE

DRAWN BY

REVISIONS

Exp. 10/31/23
No. C-23871

Kenneth K. Carrell

S

T

A

T

E

 

O

F

 
CA

L

I

F

O

R

N

I

A

L

I

C

E

N

S

E

D

 A
R

C

H

I

T

E

C

T

SCALEAssociates

v. 949.305.4752
Lake Forest, California
25422 Trabuco Road

ken@AREAssociates.com
92630-2796

Suite 105-A

A r c h i t e c t u r e   P l a n n i n g   D e s i g n ATWATER SELF STORAGE
1619 SYCAMORE AVENUE, ATWATER, CALIFORNIA

22020

22 NOV 21

KKC

23 JAN 30

0' 15' 30' 60'

1"=30'-0" SITE PLAN 1

BUILDING B

TELEPHONE: (703) 501-7136

VICINITY MAP

EMAIL: JATINDER.IITK@GMAIL.COM

LAKE FOREST, CALIFORNIA 92630

EMAIL: KEN@AREASSOCIATES.COM
TELEPHONE: (949) 305-4752

25422 TRABUCO ROAD, SUITE 105-A
KEN CARRELL / ARE ASSOCIATESARCHITECT

BUILDING DATA

TOTAL SQUARE FOOTAGE

B-P (BUSINESS PARK)
TYPE III-B SPRINKLERED

S-1 (STORAGE)
B (OFFICE)
4 MAXIMUM

JATINDER RANDHAWA / SMAT AUTO VENTURES LLC

PERSONAL STORAGE FACILITY

MOUNTAIN HOUSE, CALIFORNIA 95391
1136 SOUTH  JACOBS DRIVE

BUILDING FOOTPRINT

APPLICANT/OWNER

BUILDINGS

BUILDING B
BUILDING A

BUILDING SQUARE FOOTAGES

ASSESSOR'S PARCEL NUMBER
PROJECT TYPE

CONSTRUCTION TYPE

NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES

OCCUPANCY GROUP
ZONING

001-146-013, 001-146-017

(2.89 ACRES) 125,952 SQUARE FEET (100.0%)

51,206 SQUARE FEET (  40.7%)
25,574 SQUARE FEET (  20.3%)

PER PLANNING

5 SPACES
1  SPACE

7 SPACES
1  SPACE

49,172 SQUARE FEET (  39.0%)

PROJECT DATA
SITE SQUARE FOOTAGES

PARKING

PARKING DATA
PARKING - REQUIRED

PARKING - PROVIDED
STANDARD SPACES
HANDICAP SPACES

TOTAL PARKING PROVIDED
CLEAN AIR SPACES

GROSS SITE AREA

BUILDING SITE COVERAGE
LANDSCAPE SITE COVERAGE
HARDSCAPE SITE COVERAGE

11,638 SQUARE FEET

90,124 SQUARE FEET51,206 SQUARE FEETTOTAL

PROJECT DIRECTORY

RETENTION BASIIN

BUILDING A

78,486 SQUARE FEET39,568 SQUARE FEET
11,638 SQUARE FEET

SITE

PL   489.41'   S 23° 58' 30" W

PL
   

24
5.

70
'  

 N
 6

5°
 18

' 3
0"

 W

PL   529.40'   N 23° 58' 30" W

PL
   

40
.0

0'
N 

65
° 1

8'
 3

0"
 W

PL   209.06'   S 76° 20' 10" E

20'-0"
SETBACK

20'-4"389'-0"80'-0"±

14
'-2

"±
30

'-0
"

16
'-6

"
6'

-2
"

16
2'

-8
"

2"

64'-8"360'-0"83'-0"±

20'-2"±37'-10"6'-8"

16
'-0

"

6' 17'-0" 29'-6"±

30
'-0

"
30

'-0
"

13
5'

-4
"

30
'-0

"
20

'-0
"

25'-0" 30'-4" 295'-4" 30'-4" 33'-0"

20'-0"
SETBACK

18
5'

-4
"

30
'-0

"
30

'-0
"

NOTE: ALL EXTERIOR LIGHTING SHALL
BE LOCATED ON THE WALLS.

NOTE: THERE ARE NO EXISTING
TREES ON THE SITE.

NOTE: SITE IS CURRENTLY VACANT LAND

SY
C

AM
O

RE
 A

VE
NU

E

40'

20'-0"

AT
W

AT
ER

 A
VE

NU
E

50'-0"50'-0"50'-0"

SYCAMO
RE AVENUE

60'

9'
1'-10"

9'

9' 9'

9' 9'

NOTE: ALL DRIVE AISLES, PARKING AREAS
AND ENTRANCES ARE ASPHALTIC CONCRETE.

7'-0" HIGH TUBULAR
STEEL FENCE-TYP.

7'-0" HIGH AUTOMATIC
SLIDING GATE

6" HIGH CONCRETE CURB

KEYPAD

7'-0" HIGH SWINGING ACCESS GATE
LANDSC

APE AREA

(MINIMAL  LANDSCAPE)

TRASH

21'-8"

8' 5' 5' 5'5' 5'

22
'-8

"
30

'-0
"

25
'-0

"
30

'-0
"

25
'-0

"
30

'-0
"

275'-4" 10'10'

11
5'

-4
"

10
'

10
'

FRESNO, CALIFORNIA 93710

FACSIMILE (559) 294-7481
TELEPHONE (559) 294-7485

2755 EAST SHAW AVEUE, SUITE 101
MIKE HAMZY / HARBISON INTERNATIONAL INC.CIVIL ENGINEER

E-MAIL: MIKE@HARBISONINT.COM

PATH OF
TRAVEL

WALL LIGHTING PACKS-TYP.

PROVIDE NEW CONCRETE CURB,
GUTTER AND SIDEWALK PER

10'
EASEMENT

2'

15
'-4

"
14

'-8
"

4'-6"

DR
IV

EW
AY

TREE-TYPICAL

NOTE: TREE SPECIES TO BE DETERMINED.
SHRUBS AND GROUND COVERS MAKE UP
THE BALANCE OF THE LANDSCAPE.

CITY STANDARDS

39,568 SF

11,638 SF

LOT LINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO PARKING

AutoCAD SHX Text
VANPOOL/EV

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLEAN AIR/

AutoCAD SHX Text
The drawings and specifications, and all ideas, designs, and

AutoCAD SHX Text
arrangements represented thereby, are and shall remain

AutoCAD SHX Text
the property of ARE Associates. No part of these documents

AutoCAD SHX Text
may be copied, reproduced or used in connection with

AutoCAD SHX Text
any work or project other than the specified project

AutoCAD SHX Text
for which they have been prepared and developed

AutoCAD SHX Text
for, without the written permission of ARE Associates.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Visual contact with these documents shall constitute

AutoCAD SHX Text
prima facie evidence of acceptance of these restrictions.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Copyright  C  2023, ARE Associates, all rights reserved.



10x25

10x25

10x20

5x10

5x5

5x5

5x5

5x5

5x10

5x10

5x5
10x10

5x10 5x10

10x20 10x20 10x20 10x20 10x20 10x20 10x20 10x20 10x20 10x20 10x20 10x20 10x20 10x20 10x20 10x20 10x20 10x20 10x20 10x20 10x20 10x20 10x20 10x20 10x20 10x20 10x20 10x20 10x20 10x20 10x20

5x10

5x5

7.5x10

5x5

5x5

5x5

5x5

5x5 5x5

7.5x10

7.5x10

10x12.5

10x12.5

10x15

10x17.5

10x17.5

10x20

10x22.5

10x22.5

7.5x10 7.5x10

10x20 10x20

7.5x10

10x20

7.5x10

10x20

7.5x10

10x20

7.5x10

10x20

7.5x10

10x20

7.5x10

10x20

7.5x10

10x20

7.5x10

10x20

7.5x10

10x20

7.5x10

10x20 10x17.5

10x10 7.5x10

10x2010x17.5

10x10

10x17.5

10x10

10x17.5

10x10

10x17.5

10x10

10x17.5

10x10
5x5

5x7.5

5x15

7.5x10

10x20

7.5x10

10x20

7.5x10

10x20

7.5x10

10x20

7.5x10

10x20

5x5

5x10

5x10

10x10

10x12.5

10x10

10x10

10x10 10x10 10x10 10x10 10x10 10x10

10x10 10x10 10x10 10x10 10x10 10x10

10x10 10x10 10x10 10x10 10x10 10x10

10x10 10x10 10x10 10x10 10x10 10x10

10x10 10x10 10x10 10x10 10x10 10x10

5x5

5x10

5x10

5x10

5x10

5x10

5x10

5x5

5x10

5x10

5x10

5x10

5x10

5x5

5x7.5

5x15

5x10

5x10

5x10

5x10

5x10

5x10

5x10

5x10

5x10

5x10

10x10 10x10 10x10 10x10 10x10 10x10

10x10 10x10 10x10 10x10 10x10 10x10

10x10 10x10 10x10 10x10 10x10

10x10 10x10 10x10 10x10 10x10

10x10 10x10 10x10 10x10 10x10 10x10

5x10 5x10 5x10 5x10 5x10 5x10 5x10 5x10 5x10 5x10 5x10

5x5

5x10 10x10

10x10

10x12.5

10x10 10x10 10x10 10x10 10x10

10x10 10x10 10x10 10x10 10x10

10x10 10x10 10x10 10x10 10x10 10x10

10x10 10x10 10x10 10x10 10x10 10x10

10x10 10x10 10x10 10x10 10x10 10x10

5x10

10x10 10x10 10x10 10x10 10x10 10x10

10x10 10x10 10x10 10x10 10x10 10x10

10x10 10x10 10x10 10x10 10x10

10x10 10x10 10x10 10x10 10x10

10x10 10x10 10x10 10x10 10x10 10x10

5x10 5x10 5x10 5x10 5x10 5x10 5x10 5x10 5x10 5x10 5x10

10x10

10x10

7.5x10

10x20

7.5x10

10x20

7.5x10

10x20

7.5x10

10x20

7.5x10

10x20

7.5x10

10x20

7.5x10

10x20

7.5x10

10x20

7.5x10

10x20

7.5x10

10x20

7.5x10

10x20

7.5x10

10x20

7.5x10

10x20

7.5x10

10x20

7.5x10

10x20

7.5x10

10x20

7.5x10

10x20

7.5x10

10x20

7.5x10

10x20

7.5x10

10x20

7.5x10

10x20

7.5x10

10x20

7.5x10

10x20

7.5x10

10x20

7.5x10

10x20

7.5x10

10x20

5x5

5x5

5x5

5x5

10x12.5

10x10

10x15

10x10

10x10

10x17.5

10x10

10x10
5x5 5x10

JOB NUMBER

DATE

DRAWN BY

REVISIONS

Exp. 10/31/23
No. C-23871

Kenneth K. Carrell

S

T

A

T

E

 

O

F

 
CA

L

I

F

O

R

N

I

A

L

I

C

E

N

S

E

D

 A
R

C

H

I

T

E

C

T

SCALEAssociates

v. 949.305.4752
Lake Forest, California
25422 Trabuco Road

ken@AREAssociates.com
92630-2796

Suite 105-A

A r c h i t e c t u r e   P l a n n i n g   D e s i g n ATWATER SELF STORAGE
1619 SYCAMORE AVENUE, ATWATER, CALIFORNIA

22020

22 NOV 21

KKC

23 JAN 30

AVERAGE UNIT SIZE
TOTAL

UNIT MIX - OVERALL

SQ. FT.
UNIT

SIZE
UNIT

107.21 SF
81,155 SF757

TOTAL
UNIT SFUNITS

NON-CONDITIONEDCONDITIONED
UNITS UNIT SFUNITS UNIT SF

850 SF3425 SF5x5
375 SF1037.5 SF5x7.5

7,500 SF15050 SF5x10
150 SF275 SF5x15

7,125 SF9575 SF7.5x10
31,500 SF315100 SF10x10
1,125 SF9125 SF10x12.5
300 SF2150 SF10x15
1,575 SF9175 SF10x17.5

15,400 SF77200 SF10x20
450 SF2225 SF10x22.5

4,000 SF16250 SF10x25
11,100 SF37300 SF10x30

300 SF12
0 SF0

450 SF9
0 SF0

225 SF3
900 SF9
625 SF5
300 SF2
1,575 SF9

15,400 SF77
450 SF2

4,000 SF16

550 SF22
375 SF10

7,050 SF141
150 SF2

6,900 SF92
30,600 SF306

500 SF4
0 SF0
0 SF0
0 SF0
0 SF0
0 SF0
0 SF0

194.61 SF
35,030 SF180

79.94 SF
46,125 SF577

11,100 SF37

1/16"=1'-0" GROUND LEVEL FLOOR PLANS 2
0' 8' 16' 32'

OFFICE

BUILDING A

BUILDING B

UP

UP

ELEV.E.M.R.

LOBBY

ELEV. E.M.R.

LOBBY

AutoCAD SHX Text
The drawings and specifications, and all ideas, designs, and

AutoCAD SHX Text
arrangements represented thereby, are and shall remain

AutoCAD SHX Text
the property of ARE Associates. No part of these documents

AutoCAD SHX Text
may be copied, reproduced or used in connection with

AutoCAD SHX Text
any work or project other than the specified project

AutoCAD SHX Text
for which they have been prepared and developed

AutoCAD SHX Text
for, without the written permission of ARE Associates.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Visual contact with these documents shall constitute

AutoCAD SHX Text
prima facie evidence of acceptance of these restrictions.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Copyright  C  2023, ARE Associates, all rights reserved.



7.5x10

10x10

5x105x5

5x10
10x10

10x12.5

5x7.5

5x5 5x10

10x10

10x10

10x10

10x105x10

10x105x10

10x10 10x10

10x105x10

10x105x10

7.5x105x7.5

5x5 5x10

10x10

10x12.5

10x10 10x10

7.5x10

10x10

5x10

5x10

10x10

10x10

10x10

10x10

10x10

7.5x10

5x10

10x10

7.5x10

10x10

5x10

5x10

10x10

10x10

10x10

10x10

10x10

7.5x10

5x10

10x10

7.5x10

10x10

5x10

5x10

10x10

10x10

10x10

10x10

10x10

7.5x10

5x10

10x10

7.5x10

10x10

5x10

5x10

10x10

10x10

10x10

10x10

10x10

7.5x10

5x10

10x10

7.5x10

10x10

5x10

5x10

10x10

10x10

10x10

10x10

10x10

7.5x10

5x10

10x10

7.5x10

10x10

5x10

5x10

10x10

10x10

10x10

10x10

10x10

7.5x10

5x10

10x10

7.5x10

10x10

5x10

5x10

10x10

10x10

10x10

10x10

10x10

7.5x10

5x10

10x10

7.5x10

10x10

5x10

5x10

10x10

10x10

10x10

10x10

10x10

7.5x10

5x10

10x10

7.5x10

10x10

5x10

5x10

10x10

10x10

10x10

10x10

10x10

7.5x10

5x10

10x10

7.5x10

10x10

5x10

5x10

10x10

10x10

10x10

10x10

10x10

7.5x10

5x10

10x10

7.5x10

10x10

5x10

5x10

10x10

10x10

10x10

10x10

10x10

7.5x10

5x10

10x10

7.5x10

10x10

5x10

5x10

10x10

10x10

10x10

10x10

7.5x10

5x10

10x10

10x10 10x10

10x10

7.5x10

10x10

5x10

5x10

10x10

10x10

10x10

10x10

7.5x10

5x10

10x10

10x10

7.5x10

10x10

5x10

5x10

10x10

10x10

10x10

10x10

7.5x10

5x10

10x10

10x10

7.5x10

10x10

5x10

5x10

10x10

10x10

10x10

10x10

7.5x10

5x10

10x10

10x10

7.5x10

10x10

5x10

5x10

10x10

10x10

10x10

10x10

7.5x10

5x10

10x10

10x10

7.5x10

10x10

5x10

5x10

10x10

10x10

10x10

10x10

7.5x10

5x10

10x10

10x10

7.5x10

10x10

5x10

5x10

10x10

10x10

10x10

10x10

7.5x10

5x10

10x10

10x10

7.5x10

10x10

5x10

5x10

10x10

10x10

10x10

10x10

7.5x10

5x10

10x10

10x10

7.5x10

10x10

5x10

5x10

10x10

10x10

10x10

10x10

7.5x10

5x10

10x10

10x10

7.5x10

10x10

5x10

5x10

10x10

10x10

10x10

10x10

7.5x10

5x10

10x10

10x10

7.5x10

10x10

5x10

5x10

10x10

10x10

10x10

10x10

7.5x10

5x10

10x10

10x10

7.5x10

10x10

5x10

5x10

10x10

10x10

10x10

10x10

7.5x10

5x10

10x10

10x10

10x10

10x10

10x12.5

10x10

10x10

10x12.5

10x10

10x10

5x5

5x10

5x7.5

5x5

5x10

5x10

5x10

5x10

5x7.5

5x5

5x5

5x10

5x7.5

5x5

5x10

5x10

5x10

5x10

5x7.5

5x5

5x5

5x10

5x7.5

5x5

5x10

5x10

5x10

5x10

5x7.5

5x5

10x10

5x10

5x10

JOB NUMBER

DATE

DRAWN BY

REVISIONS

Exp. 10/31/23
No. C-23871

Kenneth K. Carrell

S

T

A

T

E

 

O

F

 
CA

L

I

F

O

R

N

I

A

L

I

C

E

N

S

E

D

 A
R

C

H

I

T

E

C

T

SCALEAssociates

v. 949.305.4752
Lake Forest, California
25422 Trabuco Road

ken@AREAssociates.com
92630-2796

Suite 105-A

A r c h i t e c t u r e   P l a n n i n g   D e s i g n ATWATER SELF STORAGE
1619 SYCAMORE AVENUE, ATWATER, CALIFORNIA

22020

22 NOV 21

KKC

23 JAN 30

AVERAGE UNIT SIZE
TOTAL

UNIT MIX - OVERALL

SQ. FT.
UNIT

SIZE
UNIT

107.21 SF
81,155 SF757

TOTAL
UNIT SFUNITS

NON-CONDITIONEDCONDITIONED
UNITS UNIT SFUNITS UNIT SF

850 SF3425 SF5x5
375 SF1037.5 SF5x7.5

7,500 SF15050 SF5x10
150 SF275 SF5x15

7,125 SF9575 SF7.5x10
31,500 SF315100 SF10x10
1,125 SF9125 SF10x12.5
300 SF2150 SF10x15
1,575 SF9175 SF10x17.5

15,400 SF77200 SF10x20
450 SF2225 SF10x22.5

4,000 SF16250 SF10x25
11,100 SF37300 SF10x30

300 SF12
0 SF0

450 SF9
0 SF0

225 SF3
900 SF9
625 SF5
300 SF2
1,575 SF9

15,400 SF77
450 SF2

4,000 SF16

550 SF22
375 SF10

7,050 SF141
150 SF2

6,900 SF92
30,600 SF306

500 SF4
0 SF0
0 SF0
0 SF0
0 SF0
0 SF0
0 SF0

194.61 SF
35,030 SF180

79.94 SF
46,125 SF577

11,100 SF37

1/16"=1'-0" SECOND LEVEL FLOOR PLANS 3
0' 8' 16' 32'

BUILDING A

BUILDING B

AutoCAD SHX Text
The drawings and specifications, and all ideas, designs, and

AutoCAD SHX Text
arrangements represented thereby, are and shall remain

AutoCAD SHX Text
the property of ARE Associates. No part of these documents

AutoCAD SHX Text
may be copied, reproduced or used in connection with

AutoCAD SHX Text
any work or project other than the specified project

AutoCAD SHX Text
for which they have been prepared and developed

AutoCAD SHX Text
for, without the written permission of ARE Associates.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Visual contact with these documents shall constitute

AutoCAD SHX Text
prima facie evidence of acceptance of these restrictions.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Copyright  C  2023, ARE Associates, all rights reserved.



JOB NUMBER

DATE

DRAWN BY

REVISIONS

Exp. 10/31/23
No. C-23871

Kenneth K. Carrell

S

T

A

T

E

 

O

F

 
CA

L

I

F

O

R

N

I

A

L

I

C

E

N

S

E

D

 A
R

C

H

I

T

E

C

T

SCALEAssociates

v. 949.305.4752
Lake Forest, California
25422 Trabuco Road

ken@AREAssociates.com
92630-2796

Suite 105-A

A r c h i t e c t u r e   P l a n n i n g   D e s i g n ATWATER SELF STORAGE
1619 SYCAMORE AVENUE, ATWATER, CALIFORNIA

22020

22 NOV 21

KKC

23 JAN 30

1"=10'-0" EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS 4

SOUTH ELEVATION

WEST ELEVATION

NORTH ELEVATION

EAST ELEVATION

COLOR: ALUMINUM / CLEAR GLASS
STOREFRONT WINDOW SYSTEM

COLOR: ASPEN
EXTERIOR CEMENT PLASTER

COLOR: ROMAN BLUE
STANDING SEAM METAL ROOF

COLOR: ROMAN BLUE
METAL TRELLIS

COLOR: GRAY
SPLIT FACE MASONRY BLOCK

COLOR: ROMAN BLUE
PARAPET CAPPEDESTRIAN GATE & TUBULAR STEEL FENCE

COLOR: BLACK

SPLIT FACE MASONRY COLUMN
COLOR: GRAY

TUBULAR STEEL SLIDING ENTRY GATE
COLOR: BLACK

13
'-4

"

15
'-4

"

20
'-3

"±

22
'-8

"

26
'-8

"±

12
'-0

"

7'-
0"

7'-
0" 12

'-0
"

22
'-8

"

26
'-8

"±

COLOR: ALUMINUM / CLEAR GLASS
STOREFRONT WINDOW SYSTEM

COLOR: ASPEN
EXTERIOR CEMENT PLASTER

COLOR: ROMAN BLUE
STANDING SEAM METAL ROOF

PARAPET CAP
COLOR: ROMAN BLUE

PRECISION FACE MASONRY BLOCK
COLOR: GRAY

TUBULAR STEEL FENCE
COLOR: BLACK

PARAPET CAP
COLOR: ROMAN BLUE

PRECISION FACE MASONRY BLOCK
COLOR: GRAY

TUBULAR STEEL FENCE
COLOR: BLACK

7'-
0"

13
'-4

"

7'-
0" 12

'-0
"

PARAPET CAP
COLOR: ROMAN BLUE

PRECISION FACE MASONRY BLOCK
COLOR: GRAY

TUBULAR STEEL FENCE
COLOR: BLACK

13
'-4

"

11
'-4

"

7'-
0"

PARAPET CAP
COLOR: ROMAN BLUE

SPLIT FACE MASONRY BLOCK
COLOR: GRAY

EXTERIOR CEMMENT PLASTER
COLOR: ASPEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
The drawings and specifications, and all ideas, designs, and

AutoCAD SHX Text
arrangements represented thereby, are and shall remain

AutoCAD SHX Text
the property of ARE Associates. No part of these documents

AutoCAD SHX Text
may be copied, reproduced or used in connection with

AutoCAD SHX Text
any work or project other than the specified project

AutoCAD SHX Text
for which they have been prepared and developed

AutoCAD SHX Text
for, without the written permission of ARE Associates.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Visual contact with these documents shall constitute

AutoCAD SHX Text
prima facie evidence of acceptance of these restrictions.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Copyright  C  2023, ARE Associates, all rights reserved.


	PC Agenda Packet 08.21.24.pdf
	PC Agenda 08.21.24.pdf
	PC Minutes 07.17.24.pdf
	ACTION MINUTES

	Fall Festival and Car Show Signed
	RSO 0216-22 Staff Report Packet
	RSO 0216-22 Staff Report.pdf
	PLANNING COMMISSION
	AGENDA REPORT 
	TO:    Chair and Commissioners

	RSO 0216-22 Resolution.pdf
	PLANNING COMMISSION

	VTSM.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1


	Silver Creek Crossing Master Plan.pdf


	ATWATER VTSM - Silver Creek Crossings IS-MND 1.5.24
	DTSC Comment Memo 7-10-24
	PC Agenda Packet 08.21.24
	RSO 0250-24 Staff Report Packet
	RSO 0250-24 Staff Report.pdf
	 /
	PLANNING COMMISSION
	AGENDA REPORT 
	TO:    Chair and Commissioners

	RSO 0250-24 Resolution.pdf
	PLANNING COMMISSION



	PC Agenda Packet 08.21.24
	RSO 0250-24 Staff Report Packet
	RSO 0250-24 UDA Signed


	PC Agenda Packet 08.21.24
	RSO 0250-24 Staff Report Packet
	RSO 0250-24 Operational Statement
	RSO 0250-24 Site Plan

	RSO 0252-24 Staff Report Packet
	RSO 0252-24 Staff Report.pdf
	 /
	PLANNING COMMISSION
	AGENDA REPORT 
	TO:    Chair and Commissioners

	RSO 0252-24 Resolution.pdf
	PLANNING COMMISSION

	PC 252-24 Operational Statement
	PC 252-24 Signed Application.pdf


	PC Agenda Packet 08.21.24
	RSO 0252-24 Staff Report Packet
	PC 252-24 Site Plan.pdf
	Food truck Picture 2
	Food truck Picture 1

	RSO 0253-24 Staff Report Packet
	RSO 0253-24 Staff Report.pdf
	PLANNING COMMISSION
	AGENDA REPORT 
	TO:    Chair and Commissioners

	RSO 0253-24 Resolution.pdf
	PLANNING COMMISSION


	RSO 0254-24 Staff Report Packet
	RSO 0254-24 Staff Report.pdf


	PC Agenda Packet 08.21.24
	RSO 0254-24 Staff Report Packet
	RSO 0542-24 Resolution.pdf
	RSO PC 0204-22 Signed Resolution.pdf
	RSO 0254-24 UDA.pdf
	Site Plan_Floor Plan-23 Jan 31.pdf
	23 Jan 30-01
	Sheets and Views
	B


	23 Jan 30-02
	Sheets and Views
	02


	23 Jan 30-03
	Sheets and Views
	03


	23 Jan 30-04
	Sheets and Views
	04





	DTSC Comment Letter -Silver Creek Vesting Tentative Subdivision Map.pdf
	RE: MITIGATED NEGATIVE DECLARATION FOR THE SILVER CREEK VESTING TENTATIVE SUBDIVISION MAP PROJECT DATED JUNE 3, 2024 STATE CLEARINGHOUSE NUMBER 2024060021 on CEQA Net




